
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr. E. Walters (0116 3052583) 

Email: Euan.Walters@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. T. Gillard CC 

Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 
 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item   Report by   
 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 
2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 
7.  

  
Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Primary Care Strategy 2019-2034 and the 
development of Primary Care Networks in 
Leicestershire.  
 

East Leicestershire 
and Rutland 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 
 

(Pages 11 - 102) 

9.  
  

Healthwatch Long Term Plan Engagement 
Report.  
 

Healthwatch 
 

(Pages 103 - 
158) 

10.  
  

Hinckley Community Health Services Review.  
 

West 
Leicestershire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 
 

(Pages 159 - 
164) 

11.  
  

Director of Public Health Annual Report.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 165 - 
200) 

12.  
  

Air Quality and Health.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

 

13.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 15 
January 2020 at 2:00pm. 
 
 

 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at County 
Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 11 September 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. I. E. G. Bentley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 
 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

In attendance 
 
Mr. L. Breckon CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing. 
Micheal Smith, Manager, Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire. 
Mark Wightman, Director of Strategy and Communications, University Hospitals Leicester 
(minute 23 refers). 
Kate Allardyce, NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (minute 24 
refers). 
 

15. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2019 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

16. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

17. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

18. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

19. Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 
 
 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

20. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule 16. 
 

21. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

22. Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Annual Report.  
 
The Committee considered the Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Annual Report 
2018-19. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Committee welcomed Micheal Smith, Manager, Healthwatch Leicester and 
Leicestershire to present this item. 
 
Members thanked Healthwatch for a clearly presented report and particularly welcomed 
the case studies which it contained. However, members stated that it would be preferable 
if a greater number of people could have been surveyed and engaged with by 
Healthwatch. In response it was acknowledged by Healthwatch that it needed to extend 
its engagement and to that end Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire was re-
establishing engagement structures which had been lost over the previous years. 
Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire had undertaken a summer engagement 
programme which included attending festivals in order to contact more people and had 
also attempted to engage with Parish Councils. The library drop-in scheme which up until 
this point had only featured city libraries would be expanded to include libraries in the 
county. There was no national guidance on the methodology that Healthwatch should use 
when surveying the public and the optimum number of people engaged with would 
depend on the type of methodology used. Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire used 
a variety of different surveying techniques, sometimes quantitative and sometimes 
qualitative, depending on the question being asked and the information they wished to 
receive from the public.  

 
Micheal Smith provided reassurance that the availability of appointments at GP Practices 
was a high priority for Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire to undertake research 
into and would be considered as part of future research into Primary Care Networks.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Annual Report 2018/19 be noted. 
 

23. Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire report on Hospital Discharge.  
 
The Committee considered a report of Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire which 
presented the results of a piece of research into the patient experience of being 
discharged from hospital. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Micheal Smith, Manager, Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire presented this item 
and Mark Wightman, Director of Strategy and Communications, University Hospitals 
Leicester (UHL) was present to answer questions. 

6



 
 

 

 

 
In response to the report, Mark Wightman advised that Healthwatch and UHL worked 
closely together and that UHL found Healthwatch’s feedback useful.  In this case, it was 
being acted on by the Head of Nursing. UHL felt that the report provided a fair reflection 
of the discharge lounge but it was clarified that only between five and ten percent of the 
180-300 patients who were discharged every day used the discharge lounge.  These 
were patients who were waiting for collection by relatives, medication to take home, 
transfer to a nursing or residential home or were waiting for transport.  If Healthwatch 
carried out further research in this area it would be useful to include the views of patients 
who were discharged straight from their ward as well.  UHL recognised the need for 
improvements to speed and efficiency of the discharge process and this was a key strand 
of its Quality Strategy, particularly as there was a need to create more capacity in 
Leicester’s hospitals and releasing beds was the most cost-effective way of achieving 
this. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The research which fed into the report took place in the spring of 2019 and involved 

speaking to patients that were waiting in the discharge lounges at Leicester Royal 
Infirmary and Glenfield Hospital. It was originally intended that those same patients 
would be spoken to again two weeks after discharge however most of the patients 
spoken to did not take up this opportunity. Healthwatch recognised that it did not 
have the capacity to undertake an in-depth service review; the report was intended 
to provide a snapshot of the discharge system. Discharge was a priority for 
Healthwatch and they intended to conduct further research into the issue in 
approximately one year’s time. 
 

(ii) Whilst the focus was on the views of patients rather than practitioners, Healthwatch 
did converse with those delivering services to gain their point of view. 
 

(iii) The key findings from the research were that patients felt they were spending too 
long in the discharge lounge and were unhappy when the timetable for their 
discharge changed at the last minute. Patients wanted to be part of their own 
discharge planning. It was important to give the patients accurate expectations of 
how soon it would be before they would be leaving hospital and doctors needed to 
point out to patients that whilst they may be medically ready to be discharged they 
may still need to wait, for example for medicines to be issued.  

 
(iv) To ensure the Healthwatch research was being acted upon, Healthwatch sent 

representatives to the Discharge Working Group, part of the Better Care Together 
workstream, and the Chair of Healthwatch Harsha Kotecha attended meetings of 
the UHL Governing Board as an observer.  

 
(v) In the past when a patient was seen as part of a ward round and a decision was 

made that a patient could be discharged, the job of writing a prescription for that 
patient to take medication home with them was given to a junior doctor. However, 
ward rounds could take some time to complete and the writing of the prescription 
could therefore be delayed. To tackle this problem UHL were allocating pharmacists 
to ward rounds so that the prescriptions could be written and processed straight 
away. 

 
(vi) Where the UHL management team were of the view that changes needed to be 

implemented to systems and processes there always needed to be a dialogue 

7



 
 

 

 

between administrators and clinical staff as clinical staff would be aware of issues 
that administrators may not. 

 
(vii) It was acknowledged by UHL that having a car parking system where users paid on 

exit for the precise time their vehicle had been parked rather than having to pay on 
entry and estimate the time they would be parked for, would be of benefit to 
patients. However, changing the ticket machines so that they allowed users to pay 
on exit would be costly and UHL had to prioritise how it allocated funding. 

 
(viii) Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire would welcome having members of the 

public with experience of the health service being referred to them by elected 
members. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire report on Hospital Discharge be 

noted. 
 
(b) That officers be requested to provide a report on recruitment and retention of staff at 

university Hospitals Leicester for a future meeting of the Committee. 
 

24. Health Performance Update.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive of the County Council 
and NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit, which provided an 
update of performance to the end of August 2019. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda 
Item 10’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed Kate Allardyce, NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning 
Support Unit, to the meeting for this item. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The data for different metrics was published at different times and intervals. Some 

data took longer than others to be released nationally. Since the report had been 
written more recent data relating to A&E admission, transfer, and discharge within 
four hours had been published but there was no significant improvement in 
performance for this metric 
 

(ii) In response to a question from a member it was explained that information was 
available regarding how other NHS Trusts were performing against the cancer 
targets and this would be included in future performance reports. Clinical 
Commissioning Groups were placed in peer groups to enable benchmarking of data 
and WLCCG and ELRCCG were both in the same peer group. Providers were also 
placed in peer groups. The different figures in relation to cancer referrals from the 
two CCGs related to the performance of out of county providers. Members felt it 
would be useful to explore further which providers were the worst performing. 

 
(iii) A member noted that the cancer metrics were measured from the date of GP 

referral and raised concern that some patients might have seen a nurse first and 
therefore could have been waiting longer than the data indicated. Consequently the 
member questioned whether the national target for cancer referrals should reflect 
this issue. Officers undertook to feed this back to the CCGs.  

8



 
 

 

 

 
(iv) It was explained that a tertiary referral was a referral made by one Hospital 

Consultant to another. Members requested further information as to how and why 
late tertiary referrals were affecting the cancer referral backlog and it was agreed 
that this information would be provided to members after the meeting. There was 
work that needed to be undertaken to improve cancer screening coverage, including 
making sure that patients attended appointments, but this was the responsibility of 
NHS England. 
 

(v) Some metrics referred to in the appendices had a value next to them and this 
referred to a score given by assessors at NHS England in relation to performance 
against the metric.    
 

(vi) Members raised concerns regarding Delayed Transfers of Care performance and 
suggested that this issue should be kept under review by the Committee. 

 
(vii) A member noted that there was no data for breastfeeding initiation, questioned 

whether there was an appropriate collection method for this data and raised 
concerns that the success of any measures implemented to increase breastfeeding 
initiation could not be measured without the appropriate data. The Director of Public 
Health agreed to check whether this situation could be resolved. 

 
(viii) The NHS Health Check was a health check-up for adults in England aged 40-74. 

Three standard invites were sent to patients to encourage them to undertake the 
Health Check. 

 
(ix) The number of opiate users successfully completing drug treatment was decreasing 

because the patients being treated were increasingly complex with chaotic 
lifestyles. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the performance summary and issues identified be noted. 
 

25. Draft Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-2023.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Public Health which presented the 
draft Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-2023 for consultation. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The feedback received regarding the draft Strategy had been positive and 

supported the proposed approach. Although further details regarding how the 
priorities would be delivered had been requested by consultees, a detailed action 
plan would not be developed until the Strategy had been approved. 

 
(ii) The abuse of painkillers was an increasing problem; however, the Turning Point 

substance misuse service had not been designed to deal with people addicted to 
prescription drugs. Although Turning Point were currently trying to help these 
people it was important to have a balance between this and work with people 
addicted to other kinds of drugs. As part of Priority 1 of the Strategy, the Public 
Health Department was looking at educating people to prevent them becoming 

9



 
 

 

 

addicted to prescription drugs in the first place. Priority 3 of the Strategy would 
include setting up an individual treatment service for those addicted to prescription 
medicine. 

 
(iii) Although the title of Priority 4 referred to both alcohol and drug misuse there was no 

detail under that priority in the draft document relating to alcohol. However, as a 
result of feedback the draft had now been amended to include further detail on how 
alcohol problems would be tackled.   

 
(iv) In response to a suggestion from a member the Director of Public Health agreed to 

give further consideration to whether greater partnership working could take place 
and in particular the integration of substance misuse workers within Leicestershire 
Police in order to identify those using drugs or at risk early. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the draft Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-2023 be supported. 
 

26. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the next meeting of the Committee be held on 13 November 2019 at 2:00pm. 
 
 
 

      2.00  - 3.45 pm CHAIRMAN 
      11 September 2019 

 

10



 

 
 

 
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  

13TH NOVEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CCG 
 

PRIMARY CARE STRATEGY 2019-2034 AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
PRIMARY CARE NETWORKS IN LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

(LLR) wide 2019-2024 Primary Care Strategy for information and to update the 
Committee on the progress of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) in Leicestershire. 

  
Background 

 
2. There have been two specific priority areas for primary care in 2019. NHS England 

(NHSE) requested a detailed Primary Care Strategy Strategic plan, with clear 
implementation framework to be achieved within 5 years. Key to this is the 
development of PCNs and programme of engagement with patients and 
stakeholders. 
 

3. This strategy is directly linked to the NHS long term plan, which has a focus on 
primary care delivery linked to the following areas; 

 

 PCNs 
Development of strong and integrated networks of providers to deliver localised 
health care for a given population; 

 

 Integrated Primary and Out of Hospital Care 
MDT working to deliver a joined up approach, keeping people cared for in the 
community for longer; 

 

 Planned Care and Diagnostics 
Localised Practice and PCN based delivery supporting the 30% reduction in 
outpatient attendances and reducing the need for hospital visits; 

 

 Integrated Urgent Care 
Coordinated local delivery of extended access to reduce demand on General 
Practice and ED; 

 

 Population Health 
Through risk stratification and local ability to deliver services for individual population 
needs, the PCNs working with multiple providers will have the ability to support 
patients in a more responsive way; 

 

11 Agenda Item 8



 
 

4. The aim is that delivering these key priority areas will support and mitigate the key 
risks that are currently seen within primary care. 

 

 Demand on services through growth and demographic change; 

 Workforce shortages due to retirement, recruitment and reduction of sessions due 
to workload and pension disincentives; 

 Ability to recruit doctors and nurses as well as the 5 new staffing groups; 

 Funding into primary care, although rising through the PCN DES, remains at just 
over 10% of healthcare spend; 

 Inequality in staffing across the system creating reliance for patients on other 
services to access health care. 

 
 

Primary Care Networks- Key to the Delivery of Primary Care. 
 

The Formation of PCNs 
 
5. Primary Care Networks (PCNs) are a key part of the NHS Long Term Plan. They 

build on current primary care services and enable greater provision of proactive, 
personalised, coordinated and more integrated health and social care. Clinicians 
describe this as a change from reactively providing appointments to proactively 
delivering care for the people and communities they serve. The networks will have 
expanded neighbourhood teams which will comprise a range of staff such as GPs, 
pharmacists, district nurses, community geriatricians, dementia workers and Allied 
Health Professionals such as physiotherapists, joined by social care and the 
voluntary sector. 

 
6. The development of PCNs will mean that patients and the public will be able to 

access:  
 

 Resilient high-quality care from local clinicians and health and care practitioners, 
with more services provided out of hospital and closer to home 

 More comprehensive and integrated set of services, that anticipate rising 
demand and support higher levels of self-care 

 Appropriate referrals and more ‘one-stop shop’ services where all of their needs 
can be met at the same time 

 Different care models for different population groups (such as frail older persons, 
adults with complex needs, children) that are person-centred rather than disease 
centred 
 

7. In LLR our practices have formed into 25 PCNs (Appendix 1 provides full detail) 
ranging in size from 30,000 to 107,000 all with Accountable Clinical Directors in place 
to lead their development. Once the contract commences on the 1st July 2019, the 
networks will provide the structure for services to be developed locally, in response to 
the needs of the patients they serve.  

 
The Role of PCNs  
 
8. LLR PCNs will form the fundamental building blocks of our ICS, both at a 

Neighbourhood (PCN) and Place (Local Authority) level. They will be both a vehicle 

12



 
 

for localised commissioning and service delivery in the community, but also the 
means to giving General Practice an even stronger voice within the wider ICS.  

 
9. PCNs provide the structure on which Primary Care and all other key ICS 

stakeholders can begin to focus on defined patient populations, working together 
within agreed frameworks to define and achieve local outcome ambitions.  

 
10. PCNs will be strengthened by the development of the key enablers around them 

(estates, IM&T and workforce, finance) and the scale of transformation is reliant on 
the maturity of the relationships between General Practice working at scale and their 
local provider partners. 

 
Delivery of the Primary Care ambitions within the NHS Long Term Plan 
 
11. PCNs will ultimately be much wider in their membership than primary care. As PCN 

teams expand, their multi-agency and multi-specialty make-up will be the catalyst 
behind real integrated working at a Neighbourhood level.  

 
12. Underpinned by the GP 5 year contract reform (Investment and Evolution: A five year 

framework for GP contract reform to implement The NHS Long Term Plan), PCNs will 
be encouraged to deliver workforce modernisation, joined up integrated care and by 
working together, take accountability for the delivery of better outcomes for their 
patients.  

 
13. By transforming primary care at the heart of local care systems, we will set the 

foundations for the delivery of each element of The Long Term Plan.  
 
14. The following six chapters (7 to 12) will describe LLR’s plan for this journey focussing 

on the role of both practices and PCNs and describing the positive impact we 
envisage for patients and the system as a whole.  

 
The Role of the CCG in supporting PCN Development 
 
15. The CCG has a key facilitation role in supporting the emerging PCNs. To date, this 

has been focussed on the formation of the PCNs, their primary care membership and 
alignment to key stakeholder services.  

 
16. In the next year the CCGs will support PCNs to mature into strong provider 

organisations to deliver not just the core elements of the new PCN contract 
specification, but to co-design in a new architecture of care alliances services and 
outcomes for the local population groups that support and enable local delivery 
according to need. Our vision is to provide the right level of support for PCNs 
enabling them to develop organically and providing the right environment in which 
local relationships can form and be strengthened by local accountability. Key to this 
will be the professional development offer for our 25 Accountable Clinical Directors 
(ACDs) which will encourage leadership building care alliances through a strong 
provider network. 

 
17. A detailed programme of support and investment has been put into place to support 

the PCNs.  Key to this is the development of leadership and Organisational 
Development, as they will form the cornerstone of future local based services. 

 

13



 
 

18. NHSE will be putting forward £4m over the next 5 years in LLR to support this 
development and the role of the CCG will be to ensure that this will be used to 
improve General Practice resilience, services and clinical outcomes. Fundamental to 
this success will be the 5 key areas of; 

 

 
19. At present in LLR they are starting their journey, but the signs are encouraging that 

they will create strong resilient groupings that will improve patients experience and 
overall quality of care. 

 

 
Conclusions 

 
20. The development of PCNs is a key part of the Primary Care strategy.  In LLR there is 

a real desire to support new ways of working and drive forward change in delivery of 
health care to improve quality and outcomes and support new clinical staff to choose 
LLR.  The next 6 months is key to their development as from April 2020 there will be 
an expectation of new and improved services being delivered. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

No 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Tim Sacks: Chief Operating Officer ELR CCG 
Telephone: 0116 295 6225  
Email: tim.sacks@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: LLR Primary Care Strategy 2019-2024 
 
Appendix B: LLR PCN maps 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

14



] 

 

 
 
 
 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 
 
 
 

 
A partnership between: 

 Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 

 West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

15



 

 

Version Control 

Version 
Number 

Date Author Details of Update 

1 24 May 2019 Tim Sacks  

2 28 May 2019 Tim Sacks 
Working group 
input on design and 
layout 

3 31 May 2019 Tim Sacks 
Submissions 
inserted  

4 7 June 2019 Tim Sacks/ Paula Vaughan 
NEW DRAFT sent 
for comment. 

5 13 June 2019  Tim Sacks/ Paula Vaughan 
NEW DRAFT post 
GBs 

6 14 June 2019 Tim Sacks/ Paula Vaughan Final Draft 

7 20 June 2019 Tim Sacks/ Paula Vaughan 
Final Draft post 
PCB 

 
Approval 

Date Name Position 

18 June 2019 Primary Care Board Chair- Dr Ursula Montgomery 

20 June 2019 System Leadership Team Chair- Dr Peter Miller 

20 June 2019 
Commissioning Collaborative 
Board 

Chair- Prof Mayur Lakhani 

   

   

   

   

16



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 3 of 52 

Table of Contents 

1     Executive Summary ..................................................................................................... 6 

1.1 The Evolution of General Practice ......................................................................... 6 

1.2 Building on success .............................................................................................. 6 

1.3   Next Steps in Developing this Primary Care Strategy ............................................. 6 
2 Vision ............................................................................................................................ 7 

2.1 LLR Vision, Goals and Principles .......................................................................... 7 
2.2 The Future of General Practice ............................................................................. 7 

2.3 High Level Strategic Aims for Primary Care .......................................................... 9 

3 Introduction ................................................................................................................ 10 

3.1 Introduction to Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland ........................................... 10 

4     The case for change ................................................................................................... 13 

4.1 Key System Challenges ...................................................................................... 13 

4.2 The Local Landscape—Demographics ................................................................ 13 

4.3 Population Growth............................................................................................... 14 

4.4 Challenges for General Practice .......................................................................... 14 

5 General Practice- The Cornerstone of the NHS ....................................................... 17 

5.1 Context ............................................................................................................... 17 

5.2 A Model for General Practice .............................................................................. 17 

5.3 Delivery of the Five Year Forward View .............................................................. 18 

5.4 Wider Primary Care Landscape .......................................................................... 22 

5.5 Quality and Outcomes ......................................................................................... 22 

5.6   Our Future Ambitions Summarised ...................................................................... 23 

6 Fulfilling the NHS Long Term Plan ............................................................................ 24 

6.1 The Formation of PCNs ...................................................................................... 24 

6.2 The Role of PCNs ............................................................................................... 24 

6.3 Delivery of the Primary Care ambitions within the NHS Long Term Plan ............. 25 

6.4 The Role of the CCG in supporting PCN Development ....................................... 25 

7 Integrated Primary and ‘Out-of-Hospital’ Care ......................................................... 26 

7.1 Developments in Integrated Care ........................................................................... 26 

7.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) ...................... 26 

7.3 The Role and Impact of Primary Care In Delivery of Integrated Community Care .. 27 

7.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised ........................................................................ 28 

8 Planned Care & Diagnostics ...................................................................................... 29 

8.1 Progress in Developing a Community Planned Care Offer ..................................... 29 

8.2 Immediate Goals (for 19/20) and Longer Term Objectives (23/24) ......................... 29 

8.3 The Role and Impact of PCNs in Delivery of Planned Care .................................... 29 

8.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised ........................................................................ 30 

9 Integrated Urgent Care .............................................................................................. 31 

9.1 Developments in Integrated Urgent Care ............................................................... 31 

9.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) ...................... 31 

9.3   The Role of Primary Care in Delivery of Urgent Care and the Impact ................... 32 

9.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised ........................................................................ 32 

10 The Personalised Care Agenda ................................................................................. 33 

17



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 4 of 52 

10.1 Developments in Personalised Care .................................................................... 33 

10.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) .................... 33 

10.3 The Role of Primary Care in Personalised Care and the Impact this Will Have .... 34 

10.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised ...................................................................... 35 

11 Digitally Enabled Primary Care ................................................................................. 36 

11.1 Digital Developments ........................................................................................... 36 

11.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) .................... 36 

11.3 The role of Primary Care in Digital innovations and the impact this will have ........ 37 

11.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised ...................................................................... 38 

12 Population Health in an Integrated Care System ..................................................... 39 

12.1 Developments in Population Health .................................................................... 39 

12.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) ................... 39 

12.3 The role of primary care in delivery and the impact this will have ........................ 40 

12.4 Our future ambitions summarised ....................................................................... 40 
13 Patient Voice, Communications & Engagement ...................................................... 41 

13.1 How we communicate ......................................................................................... 41 

13.2 The changes we need to make ........................................................................... 41 
13.3 Communicating as an ICS ................................................................................... 41 

13.4 Our next steps ..................................................................................................... 42 

14 Leadership, Governance and Programme Risks ..................................................... 43 

14.1 The Role of the Primary Care Board (within existing governance structures) ...... 43 

14.2 The Primary Care Board within an Integrated system ......................................... 43 

14.3 Programme Risks................................................................................................ 44 

15 Measurement .............................................................................................................. 45 

15.1 Changing how we measure success and outcomes. ........................................... 45 

15.2 Measuring Impact ............................................................................................... 45 

15.3 Clinical Outcomes ............................................................................................... 45 

16 Finance ....................................................................................................................... 47 

16.1 Primary Care Finance ......................................................................................... 47 

16.2 Financial Baseline for General Practice ............................................................... 47 

16.3 Primary Care Network Investment ....................................................................... 48 

16.4 NHSE Five Year Forward View Investment ......................................................... 48 

16.5 Five Year Investment Plan for Primary Care ....................................................... 49 

17 Conclusion ................................................................................................................. 50 

18 Appendices ................................................................................................................. 51 

18.1 Appendix 1 - Blueprint for General Practice: Delivering the General Practice Five 

Year Forward View, February 2017 ..................................................................... 51 

18.2 Appendix 2 - General Practice Forward View: LLR – General Practice Workforce 

Plan, January 2018 ............................................................................................. 51 

18.3 Appendix 3 - LLR Primary Care Networks (20 June 2019) .................................. 51 

 

18



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 5 of 52 

List of Tables and Figures 

Figure 1: LLR’s Vision for Better Health Outcomes .............................................................. 7 
Figure 2: Map of LLR including Upper Tier Local Authority and CCG Boundaries .............. 11 
Figure 3: Map of GP Surgeries in LLR ................................................................................ 12 
Figure 4: Primary Care at the Heart of Integrated community services ............................... 27 
Figure 5: Population Health Management Approach in LLR ............................................... 39 
Figure 6: Proposed LLR Primary Care Governance Structure ............................................ 44 

 

Table 1: HEE Workforce forecasting model ........................................................................ 19 
Table 2: Workforce Assumptions in LLR ............................................................................. 19 
Table 3: LLR GP Workforce Trajectory ............................................................................... 20 
Table 4: CCG Consolidated 2019/20 Primary Care Budgets............................................... 47 
Table 5: PCN Budgets 2019-2024 ...................................................................................... 48 
Table 6: GP Forward View Allocations 2019-2021 .............................................................. 48 
Table 7: Co-Commissioning Growth 2019-2024 ................................................................. 49 

 

Graph 1: WTE Staff employed within each CCG per 1000 population ................................ 15 

 

List of Abbreviations  

BCT Better Care Together  

City CCG Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group  

DES Directly Enhanced Service 

ELR CCG Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 

GP5YFV General Practice Five Year Forward View  

HEE Health Education England  

ICS Integrated Care System  

IM&T Information Management and Technology 

INT Integrated Neighbourhood Team 

IUC Integrated Urgent Care 

LDR Local Digital Roadmap  

LLR Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

LTC Long Term Condition  

NHS National Health Service  

PCCC Primary Care Commissioning Committee  

PCN Primary Care Network  

RSS Referral Support Service  

SCR Summary Care Record 

STP Sustainability and Transformation Partnership  

WL CCG West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

  

19

file://///elrccg1.lhcdom1.lrh-tr.nhs.uk/shared/9.%20PRIMARY%20CARE%20AND%20MEDICINES%20MANAGEMENT/PCS%202019-2024/PCS%20Versions/PCS%20V7-19-6-19%20tracked%20changes.docx%23_Toc11919494
file://///elrccg1.lhcdom1.lrh-tr.nhs.uk/shared/9.%20PRIMARY%20CARE%20AND%20MEDICINES%20MANAGEMENT/PCS%202019-2024/PCS%20Versions/PCS%20V7-19-6-19%20tracked%20changes.docx%23_Toc11919496
file://///elrccg1.lhcdom1.lrh-tr.nhs.uk/shared/9.%20PRIMARY%20CARE%20AND%20MEDICINES%20MANAGEMENT/PCS%202019-2024/PCS%20Versions/PCS%20V7-19-6-19%20tracked%20changes.docx%23_Toc11919497
file://///elrccg1.lhcdom1.lrh-tr.nhs.uk/shared/9.%20PRIMARY%20CARE%20AND%20MEDICINES%20MANAGEMENT/PCS%202019-2024/PCS%20Versions/PCS%20V7-19-6-19%20tracked%20changes.docx%23_Toc11919498
file://///elrccg1.lhcdom1.lrh-tr.nhs.uk/shared/9.%20PRIMARY%20CARE%20AND%20MEDICINES%20MANAGEMENT/PCS%202019-2024/PCS%20Versions/PCS%20V7-19-6-19%20tracked%20changes.docx%23_Toc11919486
file://///elrccg1.lhcdom1.lrh-tr.nhs.uk/shared/9.%20PRIMARY%20CARE%20AND%20MEDICINES%20MANAGEMENT/PCS%202019-2024/PCS%20Versions/PCS%20V7-19-6-19%20tracked%20changes.docx%23_Toc11919487


Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 6 of 52 

1 Executive Summary 

In this chapter 

 General Practice is the foundation of strong health and social care  

 In LLR General Practice is evolving successfully to meet patient needs 

 The development of PCNs is a real opportunity for improved sustainability 

 Working with GPs, stakeholders and patients we will further develop this plan   

 
1.1 The Evolution of General Practice  

 
The Architecture of the NHS is changing. There is a tangible move away from the 
transactional necessity of the internal market that creates organisational silos, towards 
vertical integration that facilitates care alliances to focus on prevention as well as 
mental and physical wellbeing.  Primary Care and the development of Networks 
designing and delivering services for their population is at the heart of this 
transformation.  
 
To achieve this aim, General Practice in its current form will need to evolve to meet the 
challenges of changing health needs and the development of new models of delivering 
care. A wider reaching strategy is now required to stretch beyond the boundaries of 
individual practices and better address the current challenges. 
 

“If General Practice fails, the whole NHS fails”...(Simon Stevens, 2016) 

 
1.2 Building on success 

 
The drive towards delivering new models of Primary care in Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland (LLR) began prior to the publication of the General Practice Five Year 
Forward View (GP5YFV), but the focus and finance this policy introduced galvanised 
our system to produce our Blueprint for General Practice in 2017.  This strategy clearly 
states that strong General Practice and Primary Care services are essential if we are 
to have a high quality and responsive NHS, fit for the future. 
 
The resulting acceleration in development and delivery of new models of care, 
improved access and workforce strategy has meant that the Long Term plan and new 
GP contract are natural steps in the LLR journey towards Primary Care Networks and 
neighbourhood working supporting improved patient outcomes and an increasingly 
resilient General Practice. 
 

1.3   Next Steps in Developing this Primary Care Strategy 
 

A clear programme of incremental changes in General Practice service delivery and 
organisational form will take time that involves clinicians, stakeholders and patients in 
the design of new models of primary care.  This process is complex to implement, 
especially in light of the developing Integrated Care System (ICS); and for this reason 
our Primary Care strategy will give a direction and framework from which to build.  In 
LLR we will engage, involve and work together to ensure that the future direction is 
both deliverable and sustainable.  

20



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 7 of 52 

2 Vision 

In this chapter 

 Set out the Vision for the future of General Practice Services in the context of a 

changing NHS 

 How we will build on the success of Primary care in LLR 

 The ambitions for service improvement and patient outcomes 

 
2.1   LLR Vision, Goals and Principles 

 
The aim of the LLR wide Better Care Together (BCT) partnership is to improve the 
provision of health care in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland by bringing together 
NHS organisations and other partners, including local authorities, the voluntary and 
community sector and patients to deliver a better service, more efficiently. This whole 
system approach towards integration of service delivery and shared outcomes for the 
population of LLR has its foundations in resilient and effective General Practice. 
 
Figure 1: LLR’s Vision for Better Health Outcomes 

 
 
 
2.2 The Future of General Practice 

 
In LLR we will work together to develop and co-design a resilient and sustainable 
model in which general practice can thrive. For many people a visit to their GP is the 
most common form of contact with the NHS, with 90% of all health care episodes in 
England starting and finishing within a primary care setting. The new model of 
General Practice services, in conjunction with integrated community and social care 
teams supports patients to remain cared-for out of a hospital setting for longer than 

21



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 8 of 52 

ever before. The utilisation of a broader range of health and social care professionals 
has enabled patients to be streamed according to need, which means that GPs can 
manage and provide continuity to those most complex patients and co- ordinate the 
care for the rest of their patient population. 

 
This Primary Care Strategy is an integral component of the LLR Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP). The delivery of this strategy embraces the 
requirements of the General Practice 5 year Forward View and Long Term Plan. 
 

“General practice will be at the core of a revitalised, well-resourced primary and 
community care sector, which delivers care closer to home, improves health 
outcomes and supports patients to self-care and lead healthier, more independent 
lives”.  
Fit for the Future- A vision for general practice- RCGP 2019 

 
Our vision for General Practice is that it will continue to be the foundation of the 
health system, maintaining its position as the bedrock of the NHS, retaining its 
identity and registered list. It will build on these strengths and past successes by 
working in larger groups to achieve sustainability, as part of wider primary and 
community teams and in partnership with local authorities, voluntary and community 
groups across a range of sites, delivering care with improved quality, outcomes and 
access. 
 
Recognising the importance of continuity of care and building long term relationships 
with patients, we will support our practices and PCNs to find the best model for 
individual neighbourhoods and provider development. 
 
Primary care is an integral part of the current drive to develop a modern integrated 
out of hospital sector, which goes beyond service integration and develops 
neighbourhood and place-based models of care that consider the needs of whole 
populations.  General Practice will be at the centre of coordinating this care through 
proactive management of population health, linking and driving service improvement 
and Patient outcomes.   

 
This strategy sets out our high level commissioning intentions and approach to 
delivering change over a 5 year period. We want to build on past successes and 
provide consistently outstanding GP services for our patients. There is a real 
opportunity to do this now, as part of our whole system transformation. 

 

What we will do next 

 Work with Practices and PCNs to ensure they are robust and sustainable, to 
deliver new models of care at the heart of an ICS 

 Enable PCNs to deliver the care their population needs to improve outcomes 

 Work closely with patients and stakeholders to co-design support new 
models of care  

 
 
 

 
  

22



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 9 of 52 

2.3 High Level Strategic Aims for Primary Care  
 

By 2023/24 our vision for General Practice will be:  
 

 Empowering patients and the public:   We will enable patients and carers to 
play a more active role in their own health and care, involving local 
communities at Neighbourhood and PCN footprints, in shaping services, giving 
people greater involvement in GP services.  
 

 Empowering clinicians:   We will ensure high quality support for innovation 
and improvement, developing PCNs to allow more rapid spread of innovation, 
supporting general practice in developing new models of provision, and 
releasing time for patient care and service improvement.  
 

 Defining, measuring and publishing quality:  We will improve information 
about quality of services both to strengthen accountability to the public, clarity 
on what the public can expect, and to support clinical teams in continuous 
quality improvement. 
 

 Joint commissioning:  we will work as a system to develop a joint, 
collaborative approach to commissioning general practice and PCN level 
services, with a stronger focus on local clinical leadership and ownership and 
allowing more optimal decisions about the balance of investment across 
primary, community and hospital service 
 

 Supporting investment and redesigning incentives:  we will support a shift 
of resources towards general practice and PCNs and ‘wraparound’ community 
services, developing the new national GP and PCN contract to support the 
delivery of the Long Term Plan.  
 

 Managing the provider landscape:  We will ensure that all general practices 
and PCNs meet essential requirements, responding effectively to improving the 
quality of care. We will work closely with Acute and Community service 
providers, enabling feedback mechanisms to and from Primary Care to further 
improve services.  
 

 Workforce, premises and IT:  We will work with national and local partners to 
develop the new and broader general practice workforce, develop 
improvements in primary care premises and sustain improvements in 
information technology services and the digital offer for patients. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

23



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 10 of 52 

3 Introduction 

In this chapter: 

 An introduction to Joint working in LLR 

 The formation of our ICS 

 Our Stakeholders, Practices and PCNs 

 
3.1   Introduction to Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland 

 
In LLR we formed our Better Care Together Partnership in 2014 Linking, health, social; 
care and the voluntary sector with the aim of integrating care.  

 
Local health and social care structures offer ideal opportunities for delivering 
outstanding integrated care. Across LLR we have two main providers one for acute 
care and one for community, mental health and learning disability services. In addition 
we have three local authorities providing children and adult social care services. 
Together we provide care for over a million people with an NHS workforce of 22,000 
and a social care workforce of 32,000.  
 
In LLR we have developed a new model of care that is focused on a stronger system 
of primary and community care connected with specialist care. This is based on an 
established culture of GP practices working together. 

 

“We are developing the NHS so we have the resources and facilities to deliver 
better, high quality, community-based services.”                                        
Professor Azhar Farooqi, Chairman, Leicester City CCG   

 
3.2 Our Better Care Together Partners 

 

 Leicester City CCG (LCCCG) responsible for commissioning health services in 
Leicester City to a population of 415,213 with 58 GP practices. 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (ELRCCG) responsible for commissioning 
health services in East Leicestershire and Rutland to a population of 321,188 with 30 
GP practices. 

 West Leicestershire CCG (WLCCG) responsible for commissioning health services 
in West Leicestershire for a population of 397,441 with 48 GP practices. 

 University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) responsible for delivering the majority of 
acute services for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland patients. 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) responsible for delivering all-age 
community services and mental health care and learning disability services in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EMAS) who provide emergency 
transport. 

 Leicestershire County Council an upper tier authority responsible for 
commissioning and providing social and population and public health services to 
residents of Leicestershire. 

 Leicester City Council an upper tier Unitary authority responsible for commissioning 
and providing social and population and public health services to residents of 
Leicester City. 

24



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 11 of 52 

 Rutland County Council an upper tier Unitary Authority responsible for 
commissioning and providing social and population and public health services to 
residents of Rutland. 

 Derbyshire Health United (DHU) provide a range of urgent care and general 
practice services across the system. 

 
3.3 Our System Geography  

 

The LLR ICS is designed to operate at 3 levels which enables the right level of delivery 
for each aspect of service: 
 

 Primary care networks will deliver integrated services to people in 
‘neighbourhoods’, as the foundation of an effective health system 

 In ‘places’ (Local Authority boundaries), primary care will interact with hospitals, 
community providers and local authorities, working together to meet the 
population’s needs  

 As a system, which covers the entire geography of the ICS and all three local 
authorities  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Within this geography are 136 practices (Figure 3) that have formed into 25 PCNs (Appendix 
1) within LLR. These PCNs offer 100% coverage of LLR practices and are situated within 
local authority boundaries.  

Figure 2: Map of LLR including Upper Tier Local Authority and CCG Boundaries 

25



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 12 of 52 

Figure 3: Map of GP Surgeries in LLR 

 
 

26



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 13 of 52 

4 The case for change 

In this chapter: 

 Outline the challenges that face the NHS 

 The difference in demographics across LLR and the impact for health service 
delivery 

 Workforce inequity and need for local solutions 

 Variation within primary care and the need to support improvement in quality 
and outcomes 

 
4.1 Key System Challenges   

 

 
 
4.2 The Local Landscape—Demographics 

 
It is important to recognise that the starting points and the needs of the population that 
each CCG serves will require differing approaches which recognises the local needs 
and demands. Across the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland STP area we have a 
total population of 1,114,316 with a forecast increase over the next five years of 3.6% 
for children and young people, 1.7% for adults and 11.1% for older people.   

 
Leicester City (LCCCG) has significantly greater levels of deprivation, scoring 18/209 
most deprived CCG in England and the added pressure of working with diverse 
populations with high numbers of people from minority ethnic communities who face 
both language and cultural barriers in accessing care. There are greater inequalities in 
accessing care and clinical outcomes than many parts of the two counties in LLR. 
 
In both East Leicestershire and Rutland (ELR CCG) and West Leicestershire (WL 
CCG), the number of patients over the age of 65 is 21% and 19% respectively against 
a national average of 17% where demand for services significantly increases coupled 
with the challenge of rurality, creating demand for home visiting. 
 

Increased 
demand 

The NHS must 
treat more 

patients with 
complex 

conditions. By 
2023 the 

population of 
LLR is estimated 

to increase by 
5.2% to 

1,124,300 
people. With 

over 75s set to 
increase by 

25.7%. 

How we 
provide 

care 

More patients 
have multiple 

long-term 
illnesses. Care 
now needs to  

involve a 
multitude of 

health and care 
agencies 

Workforce 

Shortages of 
doctors, nurses 
and other health 

professionals 
can lead to 
inequity and 
differential 

quality of care 
and can increase 

the cost of 
services as NHS 

organisations  
pay for 

expensive 
agency staff 

Finance 

Demand is 
increasing 

quicker than 
available 

resources. As  
result our local 

health and social 
are services are 
under increasing 

financial 
pressure 

Estate 

Some NHS 
facilities are old 
and have high 
running costs, 

while some 
services are split 
across multiple 

sites 
undermining  
care quality, 
leading to 

duplication and 
increased cost 

27



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 14 of 52 

Analysis of our health data identified the following areas that we need to address; 
 
• Reducing the variation in life expectancy—in Leicester the average life 

expectancy is 77.3 years for males and 81.9 years for females and in Rutland it is 81 
years for men and 84.7 for women. More variation can be found across the STP 
footprint, for example in Leicester City the gap between the best and worst life 
expectancy is 8 years.  

• Reducing the variation in health outcomes—there is a considerable difference in 
health outcomes across LLR. For example 43.8% of diabetes patients in Leicester 
city meet all three of the NICE recommended treatment targets compared to 41.9% 
of patients in East Leicestershire and Rutland.  

• Reducing premature mortality—premature mortality across LLR is caused by 
cardiovascular disease, respiratory diseases, cancer and liver disease. More than 
50% of the burden of strokes; 65% of CHD; 70% of COPD and 80% of lung cancer 
are due to behavioural risk and we will tackle this through early detection 
programmes and preventative public health strategies and programmes.  

• Improving the early detection of cancers and cancer performance— one year 
survival rates from all cancers varies across the STP footprint. In Leicester city the 
rate is 65.9% compared to East Leicestershire and Rutland which is 70.2%. 

• Improving mental health outcomes—There is a difference in mental health need 
and prevalence. East Leicestershire & Rutland and West Leicestershire CCG areas 
have high levels of dementia, where Leicester City have comparatively  high levels of 
psychosis. All have high levels of depression compared with prevalence 
expectations.  

 
4.3  Population Growth 

 
There are well developed housing development plans across each of the 7 district 
councils and three Local Authorities up until 2035, set out in Leicester and 
Leicestershire’s Strategic Growth Plan. New housing growth rises to over 112,000 
within 30 years. This will have a significant impact on the demand for health and care 
services, as well as the location and configuration of community based services and 
facilities. 
 

4.4 Challenges for General Practice  
 
4.41 Demand 
Primary medical care is under significant pressure from patient demand: 

 1993–2013 saw the average GP consultation lengthen by 50% (from 8 to 12 

minutes)  

 2005–2015 saw a 40% increase in GP consultation rates 

 The average patient now sees their GP eight times a year (100% up on 10 years 

ago)   

 Average annual consultations among the over 75s have increased by over 50% 

from 7.9 in 2000 to 12.4 in 2015 

 In 2015 people with LTCs (29% of the population) accounted for over 50% of all 

GP appointments. 

4.4.2 Workforce- National Context 
The current national workforce challenges within the NHS and social care are well 
known. It is anticipated that over two million new workers will need to be recruited and 
trained into the health and social care sector as the sector grows and current staff 
retire.   

28



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 15 of 52 

This is the equivalent to over half of the existing workforce and presents some key 
challenges for training and staff retention. (UKES – Sector insights: skills and 
performance challenges in the health and social care sector. May 2015) 

 
In a climate of years of relative under-investment in primary medical care,  there are 
significant workforce issues with a 15% drop nationally in the numbers coming into GP 
training, over 50% of GPs under 50 years of age considering leaving the profession in 
the next five years, and the move away from partnerships to salaried or locum 
positions. The recruitment and retention issues affecting GPs are mirrored in the 
practice nursing workforce, 64% of practice nurses are over 50 with only 35% under 
40. Between 2001 and 2011 the number of community nurses fell by 38%, whilst the 
nursing workforce expanded by 4% in the acute sector and there is a growing reliance 
on agency staff. 
 

“The transformation of the NHS must be underpinned by a credible and 
coherent strategy for improving health and care. Emphasis should be placed 
on reforming the NHS from within, drawing on the intrinsic motivation of staff 
delivering care” 
(Ham, C: 2014- Reforming the NHS from within Beyond hierarchy, inspection 
and markets-Kings Fund) 

 
4.4.3 Workforce- Local context 
The national picture is mirrored locally with recruitment, retention and workload cited 
as the key issues affecting the local sustainability of General Practice. As such our 
plans need both to support our practices in the day to day delivery of core services, 
and to bring about transformational change. As a system we acknowledge that each of 
our three CCGs is at different stages which pose challenges to achieve a broadly 
consistent approach. There are however real differences in workforce numbers and 
age profiles, especially between Leicester City and the two Counties. 
 
 Graph 1: WTE Staff employed within each CCG per 1000 population 

 
 

29



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 16 of 52 

This workforce data is in the context of the national target for WTE GPs set by NHSE 
in September 2017 of 639, which equates to 0.58wte PER 1000 patients.  
 
In addition, the age profiles of clinical staff in LLR illustrate an ageing workforce. This 
is no different from the national profile, but of most concern is that the registered 
nursing workforce have greater than 35% over the age of 55 and for GPs there is a 
higher proportion of partners in the older age brackets.   

 
4.4.4 Resilience 
Our plan needs to support our practices in the day to day delivery of core services, and 
to bring about transformational change.  Across LLR there are 136 GP practices, 
ranging from single handed practitioners to registered lists of over 38,000 patients. 
Varying delivery methods and premises exist alongside historical funding differences 
and a range of care models using GPs and other health care professionals. Outcomes 
for patients differ based on age, sex, deprivation, ethnicity and rurality and there are 
inequalities across the system.  This leads to a level of vulnerability that needs to be 
managed early. 

 
4.4.5 Quality and Outcomes in General Practice 
It is well known that there are variations in many aspects of healthcare and clinical 
work. There is a general acknowledgement that good practice is not adopted 
everywhere. There will always be some variation in General Practice due to the 
complexity of variables that produce it (for example, characteristics of the individual 
patient, complexity of disease or unpredictability of symptoms). Such variation is 
reasonable and, even expected. However, the unwarranted variation in healthcare is 
the area that requires addressing. 

 
CCGs, since their inception, have had a duty to continually improve the quality of 
primary medical care services. This has been achieved through active engagement 
with our member practices and the undertaking of regular quality visits.  With the 
development of PCNs and new models of care, the CCGs will need to adapt and work 
collaboratively with providers to ensure the improved outcomes of our patients are 
met. 
 

4.5 Planning for the Future 
 
In LLR we recognise that there are real differences in the geography, workforce, estate 
and clinical outcomes that create inequality.  Through this planning process and future 
engagement with patients, practices and stakeholders, we will build on the success of 
General Practice and deliver improvement to all service users, whilst reducing inequality 
of access and outcome.  
 

What we will do next 

 Through greater understanding of the risks to General Practice and Primary 
Care services-work to co-design a fit for purpose model of care to support 
patients, practices and the system 

 Address the workforce inequalities with a renewed strategy to create 
opportunities within the system 

 Develop a strategy for the recruitment and retention of the Primary Care 
MDT, including practice nurses, pharmacist and clinical associates  

 Work with patient groups to support a partnership approach to how care is 
delivered and accessed. 

30



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 17 of 52 

5 General Practice- The Cornerstone of the NHS 

In this Chapter 

 A focus on the new models of integrated working in Primary Care 

 The delivery of the key elements of the GP5YFV, especially workforce planning 

 Need for new modern estate for PCNs to thrive 

 The drive for constant Quality improvement 

 The benefits of PCNs on system delivery and General Practice resilience 

 
5.1 Context  

 
Primary medical care is the foundation of a high performing health care system and as 
such is critical to the successful implementation of the move towards an ICS. Ensuring 
the development and resilience of Primary Care will assist in bringing about the 
system-wide transformation required to focus on prevention and population health 
management. In LLR we have placed General Practice at the heart of a coordinated 
model of care, supported by integrated locality teams with the focus on a patients’ 
journey always being “home first” rather than hospital. This approach supports 
improved patient outcomes and allows a localism, which recognises the fact that there 
are now 25 new PCNs with distinct communities, with differing geographical, political, 
social and economic environments, and differing health and care needs. 
 

“The NHS is more than 70 years old – we all want it to be around in another 70 
years and beyond. That will only happen with a strong, robust and sustainable 
general practice at its heart, delivering care free at the point of need, to future 
generations of patients.” 
Professor Helen Stokes-Lampard- Chair RCGP 

 
5.2 A Model for General Practice 

 
Our model is based on the GP as expert clinical generalist working in the community. 
The GP has a pivotal role in tackling co- morbidity and health inequalities but 
increasingly they will work with specialist co-located in primary and community 
settings, supported by community providers and social care to create integrated out of 
hospital care. 
 
To meet the reasonable needs of patients, now and in the future, the model of delivery 
has started to adapt. The evidence shows that patients with complex needs, whether 
this is a Long Term Condition (LTC), mental health or frailty, requires a co-ordinated 
package of care that will require care planning, regular pro-active interventions and 
support.  
 
This care is best provided by a multi-disciplinary team with the GP acting as the care 
co-ordinator for the most complex or vulnerable patients. This adaptation of how care 
is provided has been commissioned through transformation funding and existing 
incentives.  The learning from these schemes has been used across LLR to support 
commissioning for population health.  
 
 
 

31



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 18 of 52 

5.3 Delivery of the Five Year Forward View 
 
In the two years since LLR published the “Blueprint for General Practice” ,a response 
to the challenge set by the publication of the GP5YFV (Appendix 1),  we have worked 
together to develop and co-design a resilient and sustainable model in which general 
practice can thrive. The LLR plan for the continued delivery of the GP5YFV, which 
complements this strategy is detailed in our local Memorandum of Understanding 
delivery plan.  
 
The new model of General Practice services now being developed through PCNs, in 
conjunction with integrated community and social care teams supports patients to 
remain cared for out of a hospital setting for longer than ever before. The utilisation of 
a broader range of health and social care professionals has enabled patients to be 
streamed according to need, which means that GPs can manage those most complex 
patients and co- ordinate the care for the rest of their patient population. Fundamental 
in moving towards this new model of care are the developments in the following areas; 
 
5.3.1 Workforce and Training 
It is clear that these new models of working and potential workforce shortages will 
require a change in planning. This involves, not just supporting the existing primary 
care workforce to improve recruitment and retention but equally important to identify 
new capabilities, competencies, skills and behaviours required to deliver an enhanced 
primary care offer. 
 
In LLR we have identified and put into place a recruitment and retention plan and 
recognised the need for new staff groups. The Long Term plan recognises this need 
and by 2023/24 there will be more than £16m of new funding for additional roles.  
This funding will support LLR’s share of the 20,000 additional staff detailed in the new 
GP contract and equates to up to 11 new clinical team members per PCN (based on 
50,000 patients). 
 
The impact of these new roles has been fed into the LLR workforce modelling tool, the 
impact of which can see in the following section. 
 
5.3.1.1 Modelling Tool  
The LLR GP Workforce group have been working closely with the HEE team from 
Midlands and East in using local tools to model primary care workforce supply and 
demand over the coming 5 years. This model (Table 1) assists with forecasting the 
following: 
 

 The supply of General Practitioners (GPs) and practice nurses  

 The gap in supply of GPs and practice nursing staff under chosen demand and 

supply assumptions;  

 Recruitment levels of all clinical staff working in General Practice required to match 

future demand. 

 Developing the capacity and competency of GPN underpinned by the GPN 10 

point plan 

 
 

 
 

 

32



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 19 of 52 

Leavers and Joiners Numbers
Total over 5 

years
Evidence

Number of WTE GPs in LLR Based at March 

2019

554 Based on the workforce returns by 

practices and 9 sessions being used as a 

WTE

Current number of WTE GPs over the age of 

55 (March 2019)

87 -65 Evidence based on  proportion of GPs over 

the age of 55 who will retire within the next 5 

years.  Assumption based on 15% over 55 

retiring early each year (Figures include the 

number of GPs currenlty ages 50 or over)

Proportion GP workforce reducing sessions 

or leaving prior to retirement age

554 -83  GPs reducing clinical sessions or leaving 

prior to retirement age.Based on 3% 

reduction per annum

Newly qualified GPs in LLR over the next 5 

years

255 133 The number of trainees qualifying over the 

next 5 years.  An assumption has been 

made that 70% trainees remain in LLR 

working on average as 0.75WTE

Other recruits due to International 

Recruitment

30 30 Based on 2019/20 figures of 15 and the 

same in wave 2 (2020/21)

Other Health Professionals / Role Substitution 230 76 Figure based on the funded clinical posts 

through the new PCN DES of 10 / 50,000.

Using NHSE assumptions these staff would 

represent a ratio of 3:1 in fulfilling the GP 

target.

Baseline

Leavers

Joiners

Table 1: HEE Workforce forecasting model 

 
 
5.3.1.2 Baseline and Assumptions 
Workforce and recruitment is an ongoing process without set timescales, but for the 
purpose of this plan, the target numbers are set for March 2024 in line with this 5 year 
strategy.   
 
To cope effectively with the increasing demand in primary care, change will need to 
take place across the whole General Practice team. Some of the work previously 
undertaken by GPs will need to be done by others, for example, routine administrative 
tasks. Key to these assumptions is the impact of the new roles funded through the 
Primary Care Network DES. 
 
In the following scenario the information used is based on the best evidence available 
to us. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This scenario provides a clearer understanding of the demand and supply issues being 

Table 2: Workforce Assumptions in LLR 

33



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 20 of 52 

faced in LLR, based on the assumptions that can be made. Although this does not 
answer the problem of where all of the additional staff could come from, it is a very 
helpful guide in understanding what outcomes the LLR workforce initiatives can 
achieve if successful and more to the point, the opportunities to meet demands 
through the opportunities of the PCN DES.  It is clear that this is a very difficult 
challenge and will require a whole system approach to delivery.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key to the development of these staff as well as existing roles is a coordinated 
approach to training and development, actively utilising the HEEM funded training 
hubs, support undergraduate medical, nursing and pharmacy training and GP training 
at a PCN level to promote our practices as positive places to work to aid recruitment 
and retention. 

 
The delivery of a highly trained workforce to enable the new model of General Practice 
to be realised is only possible through system collaboration. LLR has a dynamic and 
responsive programme co-ordinated and held to account through the Local Workforce 
Action Board. 
 
In LLR we will redevelop our workforce plan (Appendix 2), to address both our 
commitment to develop and deliver system wide solutions and one which addresses 
the uniqueness of our general practice workforce. To underpin this we will put in place 
a Workforce Delivery Team to work with our partners, practices and providers to 
ensure the appropriate staff are employed to support the new models of care. 
 
Key risks to this programme are the success of the recruitment and retention plan for 
GPs and nurses, especially with the recognised “perverse” incentives of the new NHS 
pension scheme, the availability of the new clinicians to fill the roles and the PCNs 
willingness to fund the 30% of their salaries expected within the DES. 
 
 

Table 3: LLR GP Workforce Trajectory 

34



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 21 of 52 

5.3.2 Workload 
As identified earlier in our plan and well documented at a national level, general 
practice is under a great deal of pressure driven by a number of factors including 
increasing demand and growing expectations from the public and policy makers. 
Workload was identified by the 2015 BMA survey as the single biggest issue of 
concern to GPs and their staff. National figures estimate the increase in workload in 
general practice of around 2.5% a year since 2007/8. 
 
We have implemented a programme of support which will seek wherever possible to 
reduce the pressure in general practice by addressing bureaucracy (for example, 
prioritising commissioned interventions with the most benefit to patients) and 
potentially avoidable GP demand. Recognising, though, that demand is likely to 
continue to increase and the role of General Practice broaden, we will have an equal 
focus on supporting practices to evolve their operating model to more effectively 
respond to these demands.  
 
It is anticipated that the move towards working at PCN level and the increase in clinical 
staff funded through the DES will have a real impact on workload, there are however 
national initiatives through the GP5YFV and local systems which have been of tangible 
benefit to practices, examples of which are; 
 

 Productive General Practice. The programme is designed to provide fast 

practical support to practices to help reduce pressures and release efficiencies 

in general practice. The programme consists of 6 half day practice based 

sessions and 4 group based sessions supported by improvement experts.  

 Ten high impact actions—Building on work completed by the Primary Care 

Foundation and NHS Alliance, the ten high impact actions are a range of 

interventions that support practice.  This has been funded in part through 

GP5YFV investment to support care navigation and most practices in LLR have 

benefited from this programme 

 Transferring Care Safely, The un-managed and inappropriate ‘left shift’ of 

activity from secondary care to primary care puts significant unnecessary 

pressure on GP workload. A pan-LLR Transferring Care Safely Interface Group 

is well established to identify and influence how we can transfer care safely 

across the whole LLR system in the most effective ways, to improve the patient 

journey and ensure work is done in the right place at the right time. 

 
5.3.3 Estate 
Investment in primary care premises is crucial to the successful implementation of this 
plan. Investment is needed, both in terms of bringing existing primary medical facilities 
up to date, addressing the growth in the number of new homes and associated 
population, and in ensuring there are appropriate facilities to support transformation 
across the healthcare system.  
 
In 2019/20 an NHSE ETTF funded primary care estates strategy is underway at 
practice level collated into PCN footprint. This will provide a detailed baseline, housing 
growth forecast and PCN level needs assessment, which will enable a system wide 
long term estates implementation plan, which supports not just the needs for primary 
care, but planned care in the community. In order to make any future estate 
developments a reality this will make the case for continued investment in primary 
medical care estate.  

35



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 22 of 52 

5.4 Wider Primary Care Landscape 
 

Although CCGs currently do not have responsibility for Pharmacy, Optometry or 
Dental contracts, the services they provide offer a significant opportunity to draw 
together a more coordinated approach to the out of hospital offer to patients.  In 
particular there is need to draw the skills, expertise and capacity from within 
community pharmacy services to support patients within their neighbourhood and 
PCN.  This can deliver a genuine solution to support demand for minor ailments and 
enable patients to access services locally and for longer.  

 
5.5 Quality and Outcomes 

 
There has been significant national focus over the last twenty years on assuring 
quality within a General Practice setting.  This incrementally built from appraisal to 
CQC via QOF and the national patient survey.  
 

 
This created a regime of annual inspection, analysis and scrutiny of General Practice 
performance, which every primary care clinician aspires to achieve.  

 

“General practice is at the heart of the UK healthcare system. The scope, 
quality and innovation in UK primary care is recognised internationally. The 
challenge of improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the service we offer 
to our patients is continuous and ours to take up, to lead on and to achieve.” 
Quality improvement for General Practice RCGP- 2015 

 
5.5.1 Local Quality assurance  
In LLR we have worked in parallel with the national regime to support our primary care 
providers to understand where there is need for improvement and provided capacity 
and expertise where necessary.  This has come in the form of quality visits, advisory 
groups and at times parachuting into practice to support at times of crisis. 
 
A new LLR wide primary care quality group (focussing on appropriately trained staff, 
evidenced-based practice, and improved patient outcomes) is currently being formed 
to support all practices with information, support and clinical involvement to help 
improve outcomes, reduce variation and improve process.  The impact of this new way 

36



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 23 of 52 

of working should deliver; 
 

 Application of standardised interventions  

 Reduction in unwarranted variation 

 PCNs taking accountability for improving outcomes 

 New quality assurance dashboard for PCNs 
 

In the last few years there have been real advances in developing new ways of 
delivering healthcare in LLR that meets the needs of the twenty first century.  The move 
towards PCNs and formalised joint working will support the delivery of the NHS Long 
Term Plan and help to improve patient outcomes. 

 
5.6   Our Future Ambitions Summarised 
 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care are: 
 

 PCNs are the corner stone for integrated, patient centred care within the LLR ICS, 
driving the development and delivery of localised care by integrated teams at a 
neighbourhood and Place level. 

 General Practice with registered lists remains at the heart of the primary care model, 
offering a comprehensive service to patients based on differential need according to 
condition and complexity. 

 Practices, within PCNs will actively contribute to care being provided around 
geographically defined populations. This will support the adaptation of planned and 
unplanned services for patients and act as a catalyst to new models of collaboration. 

 A system-wide approach to education, training and research bringing together the 
current training hubs with Academic partners and HEE to deliver an integrated offer for 
LLR 

 Population health management approach, drives local service configuration and 
resource allocation. 

 Patients will be able to access urgent and on the day services seven days per week from 
the appropriate clinical team member within their locality. 

 Patients will be an active part of the ‘practice team’, taking greater responsibility for their 
own health and wellbeing, to reduce demand. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 24 of 52 

6 Fulfilling the NHS Long Term Plan 

In this chapter 

 The role and benefits of PCNs within an ICS  

 How the CCGs will support PCN establishment and maturity  

 How PCNs are a vehicle for system transformation and  delivery of the Long Term 

Plan 

 
6.1 The Formation of PCNs 

 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) are a key part of the NHS Long Term Plan. They build 
on current primary care services and enable greater provision of proactive, 
personalised, coordinated and more integrated health and social care. Clinicians 
describe this as a change from reactively providing appointments to proactively 
delivering care for the people and communities they serve. The networks will have 
expanded neighbourhood teams which will comprise a range of staff such as GPs, 
pharmacists, district nurses, community geriatricians, dementia workers and Allied 
Health Professionals such as physiotherapists, joined by social care and the voluntary 
sector. 
 
The development of PCNs will mean that patients and the public will be able to access:  
 

 Resilient high-quality care from local clinicians and health and care practitioners, 
with more services provided out of hospital and closer to home 

 More comprehensive and integrated set of services, that anticipate rising demand 
and support higher levels of self-care 

 Appropriate referrals and more ‘one-stop shop’ services where all of their needs 
can be met at the same time 

 Different care models for different population groups (such as frail older persons, 
adults with complex needs, children) that are person-centred rather than disease 
centred 
 

In LLR our practices have formed into 25 PCNs (Appendix 1 provides full detail) ranging 
in size from 30,000 to 107,000 all with Accountable Clinical Directors in place to lead 
their development. Once the contract commences on the 1st July 2019, the networks will 
provide the structure for services to be developed locally, in response to the needs of the 
patients they serve.  

 
6.2 The Role of PCNs  

 
LLR PCNs will form the fundamental building blocks of our ICS, both at a 
Neighbourhood (PCN) and Place (Local Authority) level. They will be both a vehicle for 
localised commissioning and service delivery in the community, but also the means to 
giving General Practice an even stronger voice within the wider ICS.  
 
PCNs provide the structure on which Primary Care and all other key ICS stakeholders 
can begin to focus on defined patient populations, working together within agreed 
frameworks to define and achieve local outcome ambitions.  
 
PCNs will be strengthened by the development of the key enablers around them 
(estates, IM&T and workforce, finance) and the scale of transformation is reliant on the 

38



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 25 of 52 

maturity of the relationships between General Practice working at scale and their local 
provider partners. 
 

6.3 Delivery of the Primary Care ambitions within the NHS Long Term Plan 
 
PCNs will ultimately be much wider in their membership than primary care. As PCN 
teams expand, their multi-agency and multi-specialty make-up will be the catalyst 
behind real integrated working at a Neighbourhood level.  
 
Underpinned by the GP 5 year contract reform (Investment and Evolution: A five year 
framework for GP contract reform to implement The NHS Long Term Plan), PCNs will 
be encouraged to deliver workforce modernisation, joined up integrated care and by 
working together, take accountability for the delivery of better outcomes for their 
patients.  
 
By transforming primary care at the heart of local care systems, we will set the 
foundations for the delivery of each element of The Long Term Plan.  
 
The following six chapters (7 to 12) will describe LLR’s plan for this journey focussing 
on the role of both practices and PCNs and describing the positive impact we envisage 
for patients and the system as a whole.  
 

6.4 The Role of the CCG in supporting PCN Development 
 
The CCG has a key facilitation role in supporting the emerging PCNs. To date, this has 
been focussed on the formation of the PCNs, their primary care membership and 
alignment to key stakeholder services.  
 
In the next year the CCGs will support PCNs to mature into strong provider 
organisations to deliver not just the core elements of the new PCN contract 
specification, but to co-design in a new architecture of care alliances services and 
outcomes for the local population groups that support and enable local delivery 
according to need. Our vision is to provide the right level of support for PCNs enabling 
them to develop organically and providing the right environment in which local 
relationships can form and be strengthened by local accountability. Key to this will be 
the professional development offer for our 25 Accountable Clinical Directors (ACDs) 
which will encourage leadership building care alliances through a strong provider 
network. 

 
 

What we will do next 

 Develop a clear timeline and set of actions for the further development of 
Primary Care and PCNs  

 Work proactively with patients, practices and stakeholders in designing the 
future intentions.  

 Ensure  governance structures are setup to support focussed delivery of The 
Long Term Plan  

 Provide clarity on the support for our emerging PCNs from our CCGs 

 Develop a commissioning framework that recognises the need for locally 
driven transformation of service delivery 
 

39



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 26 of 52 

7 Integrated Primary and ‘Out-of-Hospital’ Care 
 

In this chapter  

 A description of how primary and community care have integrated in LLR 

 A vision of the role of both primary care and PCNs within integrated community 
services  

 The role of an integrated out of hospital offer in transferring care safely  

 
7.1 Developments in Integrated Care 

 
The LLR Integrated Community Programme is leading on designing an integrated 
community offer of care that interfaces with the development of PCNs, and the wider 
prevention programme. Pathway design and delivery has a strong focus on frailty, 
multi-morbidity and people with long term conditions and we are developing and 
embedding a consistent approach across the system that will provide improved care to 
these patients.   
 
We have made some good progress towards developing an integrated out of hospital 
model, with some important changes planned for 2019/2020, specifically that involve a 
closer alignment with PCNs. 

 
The LLR model of care is structured around integrated services delivered at the level 
of ‘place’ (local authority) or neighbourhood (Primary Care Network). We have already 
developed an infrastructure of integrated locality teams, with 11 integrated primary, 
community and social care teams across LLR meeting regularly to review their 
population health needs and agree co-ordinated approaches to managing the care of 
the most complex patients, or those at highest risk of admission.   
 
In early 2019 three early implementer sites were identified to test further operational 
integration of teams through multi-disciplinary team (MDT) working, at the 
neighbourhood scale.  The purpose of these implementer sites is to embed new ways 
of working across community, primary care, and social services, and to assess how an 
integrated approach to health and care supports complex case management at 
neighbourhood/PCN level. 

 

Patients with Long Term Conditions, particularly elderly, comment that good access 
to a trusted GP or senior nurse whom they know and who knows their condition can 
make a big difference to their remaining fit and well. Continuity of care with quick 
access is cited by patients and carers alike as avoiding emergency admissions and 
helping them to stay independent in their own homes”. 

 

 
 
7.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) 

 
In 2019/2020 we will put in place a new model of integrated community services.  The 
diagram below (Figure 4) shows how community based integrated services will wrap 
around primary care across PCN footprints to support patients to stay at home for 
longer. 

40



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 27 of 52 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The architecture of the mature LLR out of hospital model is based on this wrap-around 
care concept, with PCNs at its foundations. The aim is to develop integrated 
neighbourhood teams (INTs) at the same time putting in place integrated crisis 
response and reablement services providing care for those who need short term 
intensive or integrated nursing.  This ‘Home First’ objective will be delivered jointly by 
health and social care teams in each of our local authority areas.   
 
The planned 19/20 changes are only the first step in our 5 year plan to develop out of 
hospital services.  We will invest to increase the capacity of the out of hospital model 
described, focussing on workforce and organisational development of integrated teams 
in each PCN.   
 
For example, our strategy is to develop local diagnostic hubs at the 
PCN/Neighbourhood footprint, which includes capacity in community hospitals, to build 
on the offer of the PCNs.  This will bring together GPs and Secondary Care clinicians 
alongside social care and the voluntary sector.  

 
7.3 The Role and Impact of Primary Care In Delivery of Integrated Community Care 

 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

MDTs across 
community services 
and social care, 
supporting patients 
as individuals  

Local prevention and 
integrated 
community services 
offer supporting 
practices 

Support from teams 
who know them and 
intensive wrap round 
offer when crises 
happen 

Community service 
changes in 19/20 will 
provide building 
blocks of integrated 
care at a 
neighbourhood level 

Figure 4: Primary Care at the Heart of Integrated community services 

41



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 28 of 52 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

Integrated 
Neighbourhood 
Teams will be 
supported by care 
co-ordinators and 
crisis response 
services 

Support for frailty, 
end of life and long 
term conditions will 
lead to better joined 
up care 

Patients with 
complex physical or 
mental health needs 
or multiple 
conditions will 
receive co-ordinated 
care  

Commissioning out 
of hospital care from 
integrated provider 
networks 

Lead responsibility 
for population health 
management, 
delivering joined up, 
proactive care for 
patients 

Delivery of more 
services across  
PCNs including 
outpatient and 
diagnostic 

 

At the  end of life 
better co-ordinated 
offer through a 
palliative care triage 
hub 

Devolved delivery 
and accountability 
for population health 
at both 
neighbourhood and 
place 

Can offer enhanced 
medical support for 
patients within a 
wider MDT 

 Elective services 
and diagnostics 
delivered in 
community settings 

 

 
Our practices and PCNs are at the heart of our integrated community services model. 
They provide a framework for localised commissioning around a resilient primary care 
service delivered at scale.  
 
As PCNs develop their structure and capability, the care alliances at a local level will 
enhance further the level of integration delivered within the community services 
setting.  
 

7.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised 

 

 

 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care within Integrated out of hospital care: 
 

 Better access to timely community based services that support people in their own 
homes by developing crisis response services.  

 Remove the traditional barrier between primary and community services by 
commissioning community services to deliver integrated team working at 
neighbourhood level. 

 Implementing integrated locality decision units, facilitating access to home based or 
bed base care, able to respond 24/7. 

 Support the development of integrated primary, community and social care teams, 
with staff members empowered as equals to develop local approaches to meeting the 
needs of their population. 

 Implementation of our enhanced care plan programme across Neighbourhood teams. 

42



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 29 of 52 

8 Planned Care & Diagnostics 

In this chapter  

 Strong foundations of LLR’s community elective programme 

 The role that PCNs can play in delivering elective shift into the community  

 The plans necessary to deliver planned care in a community setting 

 
8.1 Progress in Developing a Community Planned Care Offer 

 
The relationship between Primary Care and Planned Care is maturing, with PCNs 
creating a refreshed infrastructure on which significant elective care left-shift into the 
community can be driven. Local innovations creating improved planned care pathways 
for patients have paved the way for planed whole system transformation. This work 
builds on the success of the LLR Alliance, Federations and Primary Care homes. 
 

8.2 Immediate Goals (for 19/20) and Longer Term Objectives (23/24) 
 
The work of the Planned Care team in supporting a move to a greater community offer 
in 2019/20 is the development of comprehensive Referral Support Services (RSS) to 
support demand management across key specialties.  This is an example of 
transformational change within primary care, supporting clinicians to access better 
elective patient pathways.  
 
Future focus will be to model the demand and scale required to ensure increased 
elective and diagnostic services.  The focus will be on what needs to be delivered at a 
practice level and significantly bolster the offer at PCN level.  This will include a 
minimum offer of diagnostic and planned care services that support a model whereby 
each PCN can design services with provider partners that will avoid attendance at an 
acute hospital site.  
 
Aligned to the offer to PCNs is the remodelling of primary care pathways for patient 
with immediate needs. Examples of plans include the Physio First Contact Practitioner 
and back pain primary care service, both delivered at PCN/Neighbourhood level and 
aimed at improving the elective pathway and patient experience. Any drive towards 
moving activity out of traditional hospital settings will require investment and pathway 
redesign.  This will be facilitated by care alliances across providers with the budgets to 
support pathway delivery.  

 
8.3 The Role and Impact of PCNs in Delivery of Planned Care 

 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

Better access to 
Advice & Guidance 
to support patient 
management in the 
community  

PCNs will be the 
footprint for the left-shift 
of specialist service 
pathways  

Accessibility to 
specialist 
information and 
support face to face 
or online 

Effective pathways 
will deliver a robust 
planned care 
service with 
reduced variation  

Opportunity to 
develop practice 
workforce with more 
access to specialists  

Framework on which a 
community-based 
diagnostic offer can be 
designed and delivered  

Accessibility to 
online advice and 
support 

A system delivering  
“right place, first 
time” care 

43



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 30 of 52 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

Opportunity to 
enable specialist 
outpatient and 
diagnostics services 
to be PCN based 

At scale working 
enabling sharing of 
specialist skills to serve 
a wider Neighbourhood 
population  

 

A faster response to 
a specialist referral 
via the RSS models 
of elective care  

A clinically and 
financially effective 
elective care 
system  

 
The Planned Care offer will support the removal of current organisational boundaries 
by taking the patient journey from prevention through diagnosis, referral, treatment, 
discharge or ongoing management in the community. 
 

8.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised 
 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care in delivering Planned care: 
 

 Only patients who need specialist expertise are referred to acute hospital sites , 
maximising the opportunity to manage elective care in the community and reducing 
acute activity by a third. 

 A uniform PCN planned and diagnostic offer, supporting community pathways. 

 All patients will have access to timely therapeutic interventions within their PCN 
reducing need for specialist or invasive care. 

44



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 31 of 52 

9 Integrated Urgent Care 
 

In this chapter  

 A description of the Integrated Urgent Care system in place across LLR 

 The role of PCNs in delivering extended access  

 The role primary care has within the system to support the urgent care system  

 
9.1 Developments in Integrated Urgent Care 

 
LLR has been an Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard since 2015, which enabled 
the development of a sophisticated 24/7 integrated urgent care (IUC) model which 
aspires to deliver seamless care of patients who enter the urgent care system.  Key 
to the delivery of IUC is a 24/7 telephone based clinical assessment model which 
supports interoperability with the wider IUC system, electronic record sharing, 
appointment booking, referrals and prescriptions.   
 
Over the last few years within LLR an enhanced offer by and for primary care offer 
has been commissioned to support the urgent care system. All 3 CCGs have re-
specified and commissioned an extended primary care offer that best fits the needs 
of the population at a local level. This offers daytime, evening and weekend services 
that exceed the expectations of the GP5YFV across thirteen separate geographical 
locations.  This will be complimented by full extended hours coverage from within 
every PCN by July 2019. These services are further enhanced for patients by GP 
surgeries, Urgent care providers and 111 able to book directly into available 
appointments, reducing the demand on ED.  
 

“Discourses around ‘inappropriate’ patient demand neglect to recognise that 
decisions about where to seek urgent care are based on experiential 
knowledge. Simply speeding up access to primary care or increasing its 
volume is unlikely to alleviate rising ED use. Systems for accessing care need 
to be transparent, perceptibly fair and appropriate to the needs of diverse 
patient groups.”   
(MacKichan et al, BMJ, 2016) 

 
9.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) 
 

Our vision is for a highly responsive IUC service that delivers care as close to home as 
possible and at the point of need, reducing the need for admissions and visits to acute 
care sites for both physical and mental health crises. PCNs and General Practice has 
a pivotal role to play in this ambition.  
 
Out of hospital same day emergency care pathways (SDEC) will be used to ensure 
that patients are only referred or admitted to an acute hospital where this is the best 
place for their needs.  Alternatives pathways that are clinically appropriate in a local 
setting will be delivered from PCNs where appropriate.  

 
Further integration using the best available IM&T solutions will further enhance the 
offer for patients.  By April 2020 75% (100% by 2021) of all patients will have access to 
on line consultations through their GP practice or PCN and the ability for 111 and 
providers to book, where appropriate into available capacity cross the system.  This 

45



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 32 of 52 

will further improves access and reduce the demand on ED for primary care related 
conditions. 
 
Although LLR has already commissioned Extended Primary care access through 
external providers, meeting the expectations of the GP5YFV, by April 2021 the funding 
for these services will be transferred to the PCN DES.  To ensure full coverage of care 
for the patients of LLR and a consistent approach, we will work with PCNs to deliver an 
integrated solution. 

 
9.3   The Role of Primary Care in Delivery of Urgent Care and the Impact  
 

We believe that a fully integrated IUC system with consistency of access, allowing for 
local variation in the needs of patients across LLR, will make it easier for patients to 
navigate our system and use alternatives to acute services where appropriate.  

 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

An integral part of 
an IUC service with 
a distinct role for 
delivering consistent 
in hours access 

Incorporation of the 
new PCN roles into the 
MDT team, 
transforming access to 
primary care  

Ability to in hours 
access a local 
primary care system 
responsive to local 
patient need  

Opportunity to 
deliver significant 
capacity at a PCN 
level  

 

Opportunity to 
develop an MDT 
approach to 
delivering on-the-
day access to 
primary care  
 

The footprint on which 
key elements of the 
IUC system, such as 
some-day emergency 
services and urgent 
diagnostics, are 
commissioned  

Access to new 
online technologies 
enabling patients to 
access advice and 
assessment from 
home  

 

A strengthened 
and resilient urgent 
primary care offer 
will strengthen the 
wider IUC system  

Integration with the 
IUC system through 
online appointments 
and direct booking 
to and from 
providers 

Delivery of extended 
Access services from 
April 2021 

Consistent extended 
access services 
from convenient 
locations 

A more accessible 
consistent IUC 
offer, reducing 
pressure on acute 
services  

 
The strengthening of the local offer of both access to core and extended access 
services at a PCN or Neighbourhood level will further support the LLR IUC system to 
offer an even more responsive and personalised service during a crisis.  

 
9.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised 

 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care in delivering Urgent Care: 
 

 We will establish and strengthen SDEC pathways in the community supporting an out 
of hospital offer that supports primary care. 

 By 2023 integration between primary care and our CNH service will be fully 
developed. 

 We will continue to develop the local PCN/Neighbourhood urgent care offer.  

 A uniform level of access into primary care and urgent care services in LLR so 
patients can have available the right care when they need it.  

46



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 33 of 52 

10 The Personalised Care Agenda  

In this chapter 

 Understanding the need to treat patients as individuals and personalise care 

 The role of primary care in helping patients access an entire personalised care 
offer in the community  

 The role of PCNs in understanding their populations’ specific needs  

 
10.1 Developments in Personalised Care 

 
The LLR approach to self-care and personalised care is driven by building on the four 
existing pillars of social prescribing, care coordination, population health 
management and personal health budgets. This involves a place based (Local 
Authority) approach to developing this offer and access points. Peronsalised care 
changes the experience of receiving care for each patient. Their complete needs 
(mental, physical and well-being) are understood and met by a care system working 
together.  

 
All three upper tier authorities have developed an offer that harnesses the collective 
‘assets’ of local government and the voluntary sector to provide an interface which all 
patients can access locally.  This social prescribing system recognises that many 
organisations and individuals have a role in this; some in more generic roles and 
others more specialist.  A comprehensive system is being developed to connect and 
support cross-agency referrals based on an appropriate redirection principle.  There 
is also been substantial work in train across LLR GP practices with NHS England 
Active Signposting training. This training has and will support practice staff (including 
reception) to undertake a social prescribing role within the practice to signpost and 
refer patients into the existing social prescribing models or specific local 
interventions. 

 
Although differing models of care coordination are in operation across LLR, the 
models meet the principles of care coordination and illustrate that within Integrated 
neighbourhood teams (INTs) care coordinators are currently providing a similar but 
distinct role to the proposed new social prescribing link workers.  

 
Personal Health Budgets (PHB) and Integrated Personal Budgets are a mainstream 
funding mechanism across health and social care to give patients greater choice, 
flexibility and control over how their care and support is provided; and enable them to 
tailor it to meet their specific outcomes. Personal budgets use existing resource 
differently, reallocating and devolving commissioning budgets into individual 
integrated health and social care personal budgets. At present the local priority target 
groups have been agreed as people flagged for fragility, people at highest risk of 
emergency admission and people with the greatest health cost. 

 
10.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24)  

 
Our ambition is to deliver the universal implementation of the comprehensive model 
of personalised care, which fully embeds the six standard components 

 Shared decision making 

 Personalised care and support planning 

 Enabling choice 

47



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 34 of 52 

 Social prescribing  

 Community based support 

 Supported self-management 

For social prescribing, our strategy is to ensure that primary care networks, have a 
social prescribing link worker that dovetails effectively with the existing social 
prescribing ‘offer’ across LLR.  Our longer term our vision is for link workers to be 
embedded within the social prescribing systems and that the bulk of the 30% of GP 
appointments where patients attend for non-medical reasons, are directed to 
appropriate support, ideally before they reach the surgery.  We will strive to ensure 
that there is good coordinating between models of care and social prescribing, 
avoiding duplication and confusion to patients. 

 
For personal health budgets, work has begun across LLR on a proposed integrated 
approach between NHS and local authority partners. In 2019-20 the focus is on 
developing joint principles for consideration within individual organisations’ and 
integrated governance structures. Subsequently a shared strategy will be developed, 
followed by planning for cultural and technical change, identification of early wins and 
stakeholder engagement including service users and patients. Subject to the 
strategy’s approval, implementation will take place during the Primary Care Strategy 
period to 2023/24. The approach will facilitate the achievement of local CCG targets 
towards the national requirement of 200,000 PHBs by 2023-24, and progression of 
local authorities’ plans for direct payments. 

 
Through the prevention work stream of the STP we will work with primary care to co-
design self-management programmes for specific cohorts, including awareness 
campaigns for healthier living and self-care. Additionally, we will assess and co-
design mobile technology to support self-management for specific cohorts. 
 

‘People want to be treated with dignity and respect. They want their care and 
support to be coordinated so they only have to tell their story once. They want 
to be treated as individuals — not as a bag of body parts or problems. They 
want to talk about their priorities; not necessarily ours. They want to know 
about their options and what is known of the risks, benefits and consequences 
of all reasonable courses of action that are open to them. In short, they want to 
be supported to feel as in control as they would wish”  
Alf Collins, Clinical Director for Personalised Care, NHS England and 
Improvement  
 

 
10.3 The Role of Primary Care in Personalised Care and the Impact this Will Have 

 
Patients will be supported by a full range of personalised services and community 
assets.  In doing so, they will be supported to take control of their own health and 
care needs to keep them well for longer. 
 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

Implementation of 
new non-clinical 
services within 

To understand and 
work with the local 
community asset 

Supported locally to 
be accountable for 
their own health and 

A ICS with less 
reliance on acute 
services, based on 

48



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 35 of 52 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

practices to divert 
workload from 
clinicians  
 

capacity, providing a 
link between primary 
care and community 
support services  

self-care  prevention, self-care 
and proactive crisis 
intervention  
 

Enables GPs to 
spend more time 
with the most 
complex patients  
 

Ability to link 
practices to the 
wider place-based 
social prescribing 
offer 

Able to access the 
support they need to 
stay well and at 
home for longer   
 

A stronger 
prevention offer for 
all patients, 
supporting the wider 
ICS and its 
sustainability  

To support patients 
to understand which 
type of primary care 
service is right for 
them  

To develop PCN 
specific expertise in 
the thematic needs 
of local patients  
 

Will have access to 
personalised, wrap-
around care from an 
integration local care 
offer  
 

A more resilient and 
capable integrated 
care service 

 
10.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised  

 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care in delivering personalised care: 
 

 Agree joint principles across health and social care for health budgets. 

 Developing with PCNs, a process of alignment of link workers within the social 
prescribing system also contributing to the care navigation offer across the system.  

 Production and distribution of locality intelligence packs to support PCNs and patients 
to have the most appropriate services designed for their needs. 

 Deliver universal implementation of the Comprehensive Model of Personalised Care 
across LLR .  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 36 of 52 

11 Digitally Enabled Primary Care  

In this chapter: 

 The digital innovations embedded across LLR 

 Our immediate and longer term priorities for digital innovation  

 How we will support patients to best use these new service offers  

 
11.1 Digital Developments 
 

Within LLR, IM&T (Information Management and Technology) is a key enabler to 
facilitate the fundamental reshaping of primary care.  A number of system-wide initiatives 
are underway and early implementation has delivered successes for patients through our 
IM&T work programme as set out in our Local Digital Roadmap (LDR).  Examples of 
recent success in delivery are; 

 

 Summary Care Record V2.1 (SCR 2.1) with an integrated care plan template has 
been implemented across the whole of LLR primary care. SCR is enabling integrated 
working between Acute and out-of-hours services through access to clinical 
information. Further advances are developing in record sharing between adult social 
care and health services. This multi-agency access to clinical records will lay the 
foundations for our ICS.  

 

 A single clinical platform (for LLR this is SystmOne) will ensure seamless data flow 
across all key ICS partner organisations. To date we have 88.6% of our registered 
population’s records accessed using this system, which directly links to community 
care providers and extends to our Referral Support Service (RSS).  

 

 We are using digital solutions to drive our reduction in clinical variation programme. 
Over 100 pathways within our local referral system, PRISM, have delivered a 
reduction in variation of referrals to secondary care. The digital approach has also 
improved the patient pathway to ensure access to clinically appropriate elective care 
options.  

 
Despite the strong local history of delivering digital innovations to the advantage of both 
clinicians and patients, whole system inter-operability has yet to be fully delivered 

 
11.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) 
 

We will build on the foundations of our IM&T work programme, which will result in  
provision of integrated health and care data, providing insight for commissioning and 
local decision making, enabling PCNs to take accountability for their outcomes 
 
Our Digital Plan will focus on 5 key areas commencing from 2019/20, acknowledging 
that further plans will evolve over time and aligned to national guidance. In LLR we are 
fully committed to the roll out of online consultation systems. This will offer patients 
alternative ways to have a consultation with a GP or other practice-based health 
professional online. This innovative process will be complimented by the NHS App 
which will help patients to book online appointments, access their records and order 
prescriptions when necessary.  
 

 
 

50



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 37 of 52 

 
 
 

“For safe and efficient care of our patients it is crucial that all clinicians and others 
seeing patients in primary care have access to the full patient record so they can 
better make the right decision with the patient. Primary Care Networks will see 
clinical work taking place outside the registered practice and so we continue to work 
to consolidate primary care IT onto one system as that gives us the safest and best 
outcome when sharing the clinical record.”  
Dr Tony Bentley, LLR CCGs’ IT Clinical Lead 

 
 
11.3 The role of Primary Care in Digital innovations and the impact this will have  
 

The changing landscape and emergence of digital solutions will offer our population 
increasing options for accessing primary care services. Patients will have a greater 
ability to access to their own health record and digitally enact with their GP provider 
through e-consultation solutions and mobile apps. 

 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

Practices will have 
access to training 
and support for 
system optimisation 
to best benefit from 
innovations. 
 

Working at scale will 
be enabled by 
system 
interoperability 
supporting new 
methods of PCN 
delivery 

Patients and health 
professionals will 
have a greater ability 
to access health 
records and support 
digitally interactions 
between patients 
and GP provider 
through e-solutions 
and mobile apps.  

The evolving model 
of care is bringing 
local partners closer 
together to provide 
integrated patient 
care 

 
 

Record 
sharing 

A uniform clinical 
system platform 

to enable 
integrated care 
planning and 

record sharing 
across the ICS 
with particular 

focus on 
complex patients  

National 
Initiatives 

Implementation 
fo electronic 
dispensing 

across 100% of 
ICS, adoption of 

NHS App to 
support e 

consultation 
roll-out, 

additional 
integration of 

booked primary 
care and  the 
IUC system  

PCNs 

Use of digital 
solutions (e.g. 

Skype) to enable 
cross site, agile 

and MDT 
working across 

PCNs. 
Functional . Use 

of digital 
solutions to 

enable working 
cross-

organisation 
within PCNs 

(e.g. care 
homes) 

Digital self-
care 

Use of digital 
solutions to 

enable patients 
to self care 

through local 
App technology, 
e -consultations 

and national 
Apps. Use of 

remote 
monitoring 

technology t o 
provide more 
care closer to 

home 

Business 
intelligence 

Use of complex 
data to inform 
local decision 

making, enabling 
PCNs to take 

accountability for 
their outcomes  

51



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 38 of 52 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

Accurate coding 
delivers data on 
which local health 
management 
decisions and 
improvement 
initiatives can be 
based. 
 

Workload can be 
shared effectively 
across the network 
utilising the skills 
and expertise within 
the PCN for the 
treatment and care 
management of local 
patients. 

Patients will have 
ownership of their 
records, 
encouraging a 
greater reliance on 
self-care 
management.  
 

Integration of clinical 
systems and record 
sharing ensures that 
patient journey data 
is captured and 
shared 
electronically, 
enabling partnership 
working. 

With the emergence 
of e-consultation and 
digital apps our 
clinicians will have a 
greater ability to 
remotely support 
patients effectively. 
 

Accurate local 
clinical data will 
enable PCNs to 
understand and 
proactively plan to 
support patient need 
and to manage 
clinical variation. 

Online ability to 
interact with GP 
services and to 
access personal 
information will 
support access to a 
more responsive 
service. 
 

True integration 
drives efficiency 
within the Health 
and Social Care 
system, patient 
experience and 
patient outcomes. 

 
Integration of clinical systems and record sharing ensures that patient data is 
captured throughout their clinical journey and shared electronically with relevant 
professionals and patients promoting proactive care and self-care management.  

 
11.4 Our Future Ambitions Summarised 

 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care in digital Delivery: 
 

 Integrated and interoperable clinical systems across primary care and the wider system. 
 

 Digital interfaces will be embedded providing a range of solutions for self-care 
management, digital interaction with patients, health care professionals and services 
 

 To enable seamless online access to GP services including direct appointments, online 
booking and access to personal information  
 

 Accurate clinical data enabling population health management tools to correctly identify 
patient needs for PCN management.  
 

 
 

52



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 39 of 52 

12 Population Health in an Integrated Care System  

In this chapter: 

 LLR’s journey towards integrated care 

 Our ambitions for primary care within our ICS 

 How we will use information to make the best use of our ICS 

 
12.1 Developments in Population Health 

 
LLR have already taken major steps in moving our care system towards that of a 
successful Integrated Care System (ICS). For LLR this journey represents a 
continuation of the Better Care Together programme, bringing together our key social 
care and health partners to focus jointly on improving health and wellbeing 
 
Locally level there have been real strides in improving access, integrated care 
coordination for complex patients and delivery of medicines management strategies 
These locality teams are in their developmental phase, but are acknowledged to have 
already facilitated better local working relationships, the removal of organisational 
barriers for clinicians and the increasing ability for patients to be treated holistically and 
as individuals. These service improvements are supported by a renewed approach to 
clinical and non-clinical MDT working, underpinned by the use of risk stratification 
tools, including local clinical intelligence, JSNA and Right care information to support 
targeted, proactive planning and interventions.  
 

12.2 Immediate Goals (2019/20) and Longer Term Objectives (2023/24) 
 

At a Neighbourhood level population profiles will be developed for each PCN, 
incorporating risk stratification, social care and information on the wider determinants 
of health.  By 2024 we will have system, place and neighbourhood population health 
dashboards which will include data outputs created in collaboration with Leicester 
University. This strategic approach is summarised in the following diagram (Figure 5) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Figure 5: Population Health Management Approach in LLR (John Hopkins Model) 

53



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 40 of 52 

12.3 The role of primary care in delivery and the impact this will have 
 

“…a framework for population health centred on four pillars: the wider 
determinants of health; our health behaviours and lifestyles; the places and 
communities we live in; an integrated health and care system”  
(King’s Fund 2018).   

 
Our 25 PCNs are the building blocks on which we will further develop our ICS across 
LLR.  With support, the ACDs will lead the development of  cross-organisational 
relationships, breaking down local barriers and enabling health, social and support 
service professionals to work together to meet the needs of specific patient 
populations, using population health tools and data analysis 

 

ROLE in Delivery IMPACT 
 

Practices PCNs Patients System 

To become skilled in 
working at scale and 
within a wider multi-
organisational team  
 

A clearer role in 
care navigation 
and coordination 
within the ICS  
 

Experience 
individualised and 
proactive care 
planning improving 
everyday health and 
wellbeing  

An ICS with no 
organisation barriers 
delivering highest 
quality care  

Access to a wider 
perspective on 
population health 
management, 
workforce planning 
and providing 
proactive care 
  

To establish 
themselves in the 
wider ICS, 
maturing from 
primary care 
memberships to  
become multi-
organisational  

To experience an 
individualised, multi-
agency response to 
a crisis  

An affordable  and 
sustainable care 
system meeting the 
needs of all patients  

More support with 
other aspects of 
proactive patient 
management 
including mental 
health, social care 
and community 
services  

Develop systems 
and processes to 
enable informed, 
locally-based 
decision making 
and quality 
improvements 

Integrated and 
coordinated care, 
closer to home  

The ability to deliver 
system-wide change 
to the fundamentals 
of care delivery 
including workforce, 
IM&T and estates  

 
12.4 Our future ambitions summarised 

 

By 2023/24 our ambitions for Primary Care in delivering Population health: 
 

 Defining the role of primary care and PCNs within an ICS, setting out clear 
responsibilities and accountability frameworks  

 PCNs with detailed knowledge of the local population will design and deliver the 
necessary services to improve the outcomes of their patient population 

 Developing with PCNs responsive care pathways to deliver prevention  and 
management of complex conditions 

 Developing an holistic approach to care for those with multi-morbidity and their 
carers, including  a tailored approach to mental health and wellbeing 

 

54



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 41 of 52 

13 Patient Voice, Communications & Engagement  

In this chapter: 

 How we will engage with patients at a local / Neighbourhood level  

 How we will keep patients informed of the change we will make and how they 
can be involved  

 How we will adapt our communications strategy as we develop as an ICS of 
integrated partners  
 

 
13.1 How we communicate  

 
The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland plan for primary care has been informed by 
engagement with both clinicians and patients over the course of the last few years. 
This has included both soft intelligence gathering on the issues and challenges facing 
primary care locally, as well as more formal engagement to involve people in sharing 
their views on emerging plans for the future. 
 
In summary, this has so far included the following: 

 Specific engagement with practices across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

through protected learning time events, locality meetings and listening events 

 A range of dedicated stakeholder and public events, including Patient Participation 

Groups (PPGs) 

 Canvassing of practice staff on key issues through online surveys; 

 Day-to-day feedback from patients obtained during existing CCG work on their 

experiences of primary care, e.g., patient events and meetings with patient groups 

Overall, almost everyone tells us about the high regard in which primary care is held 
and the vital role it provides for patients and local communities. It is the part of the 
NHS that people have most contact with, but they also tell us that they require 
improved access closer to home.  
 

13.2 The changes we need to make 
 
Key themes and feedback emerging from the events and meetings held across the 
LLR system have influenced our priorities for the future and can clearly be seen within 
this plan. It is important to recognise that this is very much a work in progress with 
more specific engagement on the contents necessary.  
 

13.3 Communicating as an ICS 
 
Implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan offers an opportunity to deliver urgently 
needed service transformation within primary care. However, we recognise the need to 
engage and consult where necessary.  
 
The overall plan for engagement and communications linked to the STP across the 
health and social care system is overseen by a dedicated communications and 
engagement group, made up of the communications and engagement leads for all of 
the partner organisations. This aims to ensure that a joined up approach to 
engagement and consultation is taken across all areas of the STP. 
 

55



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 42 of 52 

13.4 Our next steps  
 
Over the coming months it is proposed that a series of both internal and external LLR-
wide engagement events will take place to help people understand and shape the 
proposed direction for primary care (both at a CCG level, and as highlighted in the 
STP). 
 

What we will do next: 
 

 Develop a detailed communication and engagement plan with patients, 
practices and stakeholders 

 Highlight what the CCGs working with PCNs are doing in primary care to make 
long-term sustainable improvements 

 Ask people to consider our plans for primary care, building upon the insight and 
feedback they have shared with us previously 

 Engage people in the visions for primary care to feed into developing our future 
strategy 

 Set-up a Citizen’s Panel to support our future STP work through Better Care 
Together  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 43 of 52 

14 Leadership, Governance and Programme Risks 

In this chapter: 

 How we have set up our primary care governance system and processes  

 The roles, functions and ambitions of our Primary Care Board  to support PCNs  

 
Building on the GP5YFV submission, this strategy is a collaborative plan that aims to 
provide a bold vision and clear roadmap for key reforms to our primary care system. 
We have an opportunity to redefine what we mean by primary care and to locate it in 
the context of an ICS. It highlights the important principles behind our plans; the 
benefits we hope the changes will bring to patients, the general public, health and care 
staff and the local economy as a whole. 
 
The formation of a joint and collaborative structure to support the system- wide 
development of primary care to deliver sustainable General Practice and therefore 
enable the STP to be delivered, builds on the work each CCG has undertaken over the 
last few years. 
 

14.1 The Role of the Primary Care Board (within existing governance structures) 
 
The Board has the following roles in directing the future of primary care within LLR, 
cognisant of the delegated functions of PCCCs; 

 

 Design a Primary Care/ PCN strategy to ensure primary care is a strong and capable 

ICS partner. 

 Support delivery of General Practice, PCN and Place level population health 

improvement and reduce inequalities, in line with strategic commissioning intentions 

 Align and form a joint LLR wide commissioning function for primary care service 

design and delivery. 

 Ensure primary care services contracting, quality and performance is aligned 

 Ensure commissioning and contracting sub groups are enabling a joined up 

approach and continuous improvement through the commissioning cycle process 

 Enable the enabling groups of Workforce, IM&T and Estates to drive forward the 

strategic direction in line with the GP5YFV and NHS Long Term Plan 

 Ensure outcome based, patient centred services are commissioned from Primary 

care 

14.2 The Primary Care Board within an Integrated system    
 

The Board has the following function in delivery of the future of primary care within the 
LLR ICS.  
 

• Directly link with Prevention/ Planned Care/ Community Services , Local Authority, 3rd 
Sector and Patient groups to ensure that General Practice services are supported by 
the system to deliver resilient General Practice and PCN delivery for the LLR 
population 

• Align the 3 CCG teams, process, policies and teams to enable delivery of primary 
care services at an LLR footprint. 

• Develop shared governance process, to drive the joint working and shared purpose 
for General Practice within the ICS 

57



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 44 of 52 

• Direct link and influence across all STP work streams to ensure primary care has the 
capacity and skills to deliver new pathways of care that cuts across primary, 
secondary and social care domains 

 
Figure 6 presents our proposed Primary Care governance structure, relating it directly to 
the other key work streams underpinning the development of our ICS.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
14.3 Programme Risks 

 
Reflecting the multiple pressures and challenges facing general practice, this is an 
ambitious plan. It needs to be in order to address the underlying pressures around 
workload, workforce and funding that have built up over recent years, as well as 
enabling the sector to respond to a broader future role at the heart of the ICS. 
 

Our Risks to Delivery Are: 
 

 Ability to secure engagement across and mobilise the support of 136 general 
practices run as independent contractors within 25 PCNs 

 Availability of workforce to support new ways of working and care models 

 Ability of commissioners to make the required investment in both core general 
practice services and wider integrated community teams set against other competing 
financial pressures 

 Acceptability of new skill mix models to patients used to a more traditional GP 
focused model of care 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 6: Proposed LLR Primary Care Governance Structure  

58



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 45 of 52 

15 Measurement 

In this chapter: 

 Our current mechanisms for measuring outcomes 

 How this needs to adapt to ensure the best outcomes for patients within an ICS 

 The role of PCNs in delivering quality and supporting a successful ICS 

 Care Board   
15.1 Changing how we measure success and outcomes. 
 

There are currently many ways that we are able to measure the performance of 
General Practice, these in particular include 

 Local data dashboards 

 Proactive care tools including Right Care and Risk Stratification 

 Patient satisfaction surveys 

 CQC 

 QOF 
 

However, the move towards joint working through an ICS and development of PCNs 
means that we will need to adapt our methods.  There are a number of specific areas 
that will require a clear methodology, these fall into the following categories; 

 Patient experience and patient voice through PPG groups 

 Practice and PCN views and maturity 

 Quality and outcomes at Practice and PCN footprint 
o Prevalence 
o Variation 
o Population health management risk scores 

 Impact of PCN and practice commissioned services on the system through the 
impact and investment data, including right care metrics 

 GP5YFV and PCN DES metrics for NHSE 
 

15.2 Measuring Impact 
 
The data needs to provide real meaning and ability to drive positive change.  Key to 
this will be working through the impact that the developing models in primary care will 
have on patients, practices, PCNs and the System, as well as from patients.  Of 
particular focus is impact on practice and PCN staff satisfaction and morale. General 
practice is an anomaly in the NHS, in that there are at present no routine staff surveys 
in place. We are keen to correct this. 
 
Also new in LLR is determining how effective practices and PCNs are in supporting the 
overall effectiveness of the wider health and care system and vice versa. There are 
several measures that could be used here, but we are particularly keen to focus on 
those that consider rates of hospital utilisation. In general, we would expect that 
increased investment in, and the improving capacity of, primary care will lead to a 
narrowing in the present variation. 
 

15.3 Clinical Outcomes  
 
As PCNs develop, we are keen that they obtain the expert advice of their local Director 
of Public Health to take advice on supporting clinical outcome indicators. We anticipate 
that by focusing on a small number of clinical outcome indicators, rooted in a thorough 

59



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 46 of 52 

needs assessment, localities will be able to focus their services and interventions on 
meeting specific local needs.  
 
As we work with existing and emerging PCNs to complete a maturity self-assessment 
and then subsequently agree a development plan one of the areas for discussion will 
be outcomes measurement. In any final agreement between a PCN and the CCGs, we 
would expect to see clear statement on the outcomes that have been selected as local 
priorities, together with target level of achievement and how they will be reviewed. 
 

What we will do next: 
 

 Train our PCN leaders in qualitative and quantitative data analysis and  
management  

 Deliver PCN level business intelligence systems  

 Design robust information offer to support clinical decision making and service 
design 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 47 of 52 

16 Finance 

In this chapter: 

 Details of the current funding into General Practice 

 New funding into PCNs 

 Opportunities and plans to invest in PCNs to support the LLR ICS 

 
16.1 Primary Care Finance  

 
Within LLR there is full delegated commissioning responsibility for General Practice 
and thus the opportunity to hold a greater share of the entire health budget for each 
population to commission and invest across the whole pathway and spectrum of health 
and social care. 
 
To ensure sustainable and resilient primary care, certainty on levels of funding for core 
as well as additional investment is important to enable practices and PCNs to plan 
services and deliver new models of care. This also supports the aspirations of the LLR 
STP, where General Practice is key to overall delivery alongside, new models of 
integrated community services and the seven day primary care access that supports 
the urgent and emergency care agenda. This transparency and long term planning will 
support a resilient General Practice. 
 

16.2 Financial Baseline for General Practice 
 
Funding into General Practice is attached to national formulas and local budgets. A 
significant proportion is nationally calculated based on historical weightings.  This 
capitated budget has created variation at practice level, although the recent changes in 
national contracting reduces this to reasonable levels. 
 
Locally investment comes in the form of community based services, clinically driven 
incentives and Better Care fund aligned priorities. The split of funding into General 
Practice can be seen in the following table; 

 
Table 4: CCG Consolidated 2019/20 Primary Care Budgets 

 

LLR Total

Annual Budget Annual Budget Annual Budget Annual Budget

£ £ £ £

SUMMARY

Core Contract 38,321,247 30,277,996 35,117,570 103,716,813

Dispensing/Prescribing Drs 250,000 1,572,349 1,393,122 3,215,471

Enhanced Services 1,044,512 892,010 871,952 2,808,475

Quality and Outcomes Framework 4,497,279 4,177,294 4,965,981 13,640,554

Premises 6,738,977 4,378,363 4,994,732 16,112,072

PCN 1,887,510 1,535,262 1,842,233 5,265,004

Other GP Services 1,442,075 931,285 1,126,993 3,500,353

Reserve/QIPP 406,400 -359,559 -1,620,583 -1,573,742

Total Co Commissioning 54,588,000 43,405,000 48,692,000 146,685,000

0.0

Community Based Services 2,087,798 2,097,491 2,876,071 7,061,360

Other Primary Care 2,166,083 -72,040 2,139,803 4,233,846

GP Incentives 750,000 1,510,264 1,700,000 3,960,264

GP Forward View 2,703,097 2,063,644 2,303,937 7,070,678

Total Other Primary Care 7,706,977 5,599,359 9,019,811 22,326,147

Total Out of Hours 5,579,792 4,168,995 4,255,086 14,003,873

Total Prescribing 51,803,685 48,674,058 55,696,680 156,174,423

TOTAL 119,678,454 101,847,412 117,663,577 339,189,443

Leicester City CCG East Leicestershire West Leicestershire 

61



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 48 of 52 

16.3 Primary Care Network Investment 
 
The level of funding available to PCNs over the next 5 years is unprecedented in levels 
of primary care designated investment.  With this funding comes a clear expectation 
on leadership, delivery of 7 new clinical specifications, Extended Access and new 
clinical roles.  If the success of PCNs delivers the subsequent reduction in acute and 
medicines spend, the reward will come in the form of the investment and impact fund 
intended for additional staff.  
 
 
Table 5: PCN Budgets 2019-20 to 2023-24 

 
 
16.4 NHSE Five Year Forward View Investment 

 
The investment into PCNs is new from 2019/20, but it is year 3 of the investment 
programme from NHSE to support General Practice. There have been significant 
advances in delivery of initiatives to support practice staff and improve the digital offer. 
The funding available (additional to the GP5YFV access funding) concludes the 
investment into these areas.  
 
Table 6: GP Forward View Allocations 2019-2021(Not including access payments) 

 

Primary Care Budgets -2019/20
LLR Total

Budget 

Type

Annual Budget 

(2019/20)

Annual Budget 

(2020/21

Annual Budget 

(2021/22)

Annual Budget 

(2022/23

Annual Budget 

(2023/24)

£ £ £ £ £

PCN

PCN Participation (£1.761pwp) CC 1,925,806 1,945,627 1,975,566 2,005,965 2,036,833

PCN Additional Roles (£1.44prp) CC 1,702,251 4,966,200 8,098,222 12,481,013 17,731,194

ACD leadership (£0.514prp) CC 587,467 797,390 809,822 822,448 835,271

EOH DES to PCN (£1.099prp) CC 1,049,481 1,706,694 1,733,304 1,760,328 1,787,773

5,265,004 9,415,911 12,616,913 17,069,754 22,391,072

Core PCN Funding (£1.50 prp) PC 1,720,015 1,748,662 1,775,926 1,803,615 1,831,735

Improved Access to Primary Care (£6 prp) PC 7,103,703 7,214,458 7,326,940

Investment and Impact Fund 1,457,218 2,959,876 4,509,036 6,105,783

TOTAL PRIMARY CARE NETWORK FUNDING 6,985,019 12,621,792 24,456,418 30,596,863 37,655,530

LLR Total

GP Forward View Allocations

19/20 20/21

allocation
ring-fenced 

allocation

£146,135 £154,800

£231,960 £232,200

£190,688 £190,971

£311,080 £303,450

£77,400

Total £879,863 £958,821

Practice Nursing

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

Practice Resilience

GP Retention 

Reception and Clerical

Online Consultation

62



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 49 of 52 

16.5 Five Year Investment Plan for Primary Care 
 
The allocations published by NHSE for Co-commissioning of General Practice services 
shows a year on year increase until 2023/24.  This will support the demographic 
growth and demand, but is only one element of the budget planning that will need to 
take place. 
 
Table 7: Co-Commissioning Growth 2019-2024 

 
 
Key to ensuring improved outcomes and reducing inequalities will be a development of 
an LLR wide investment plan for additional services commissioned at both practice 
and PCN level.  These will need to recognise the differences in need and demand 
within and between PCNs according to population. 
 
To focus only on direct primary care planned investment, misses an opportunity to 
support the shift of activity traditionally delivered in an acute setting into PCN 
footprints.  This “left shift” of work will support the system delivery expectations of for 
example reducing outpatient attendances by 40%, but with this work will need to follow 
the investment into staff, buildings and diagnostics to support delivery.   
 
Finally to ensure PCNs deliver their potential, funding will need to follow services and 
delivery of a sustainable integrated out-of-hospital service, which will see a new 
commissioned integrated community team model that enables patients to be cared for 
at home co-ordinated by their GP surgery across PCNs. 
 

What we will do next: 
 

 Develop a plan for aligning primary care investment, where practical and 
necessary 

 Support PCNs to ensure investments support maturity and delivery 

 Develop an investment plan for services to be delivered at a PCN level, 
whether traditional General Practice Services, Community or “left shift” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£k £k £k £k £k

Published Co-commissioning Allocations 146,685 153,219 160,303 168,279 177,194

Co-Commissioning Budget Planning 

2019/20 - 2023/24

63



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 50 of 52 

17 Conclusion  

In this chapter: 

 A summary of our strategic direction for primary  

 The importance of PCNs in a well functioning ICS  

 Engagement with patients, practices and stakeholders to further develop this 

plan 

 
This strategy exists to ensure a resilient and sustainable general practice system 
working in PCN footprints as the bedrock of a high functioning healthcare system.  
 
In this document, we have outlined the case for change and our intentions to support 
new models of care through practices and PCNs. This plan recognises the need for 
greater levels of funding in General Practice and through PCNs, it supports a model 
which not only enables us to deliver current services in a more responsive way, but 
also enables practices to have the flexibility of designing and delivering a model that 
benefits patients, healthcare professionals and the LLR system. 
 
Over the past years, a great deal of onus has been put on primary care at scale. This 
is because there are many benefits of sharing ideas, clinical skills and workforce that 
will enable patients to live healthier lives, and practices to thrive. This strategy 
supports the entire STP programme by putting GPs at the centre of patient care, 
based around population health delivered in Primary Care Networks. 
 
This document provides a high level plan for the development of General Practice and 
PCNs within an Integrated care system.  To ensure that real transformational change 
takes place, it is necessary to work in partnership with practices, PCNs, patients’ and 
stakeholders to co-design a sustainable solution. 

 

“Never has there been a more important time for GPs and their teams, to 
change the way they work. GPs can no longer see and manage all aspects of 
a patient’s care. We need nurses, pharmacists, paramedics, and therapists in 
teams within primary care setting, supported by experienced GPs. We need to 
work closer with our neighbouring GP and social care colleagues and use the 
immense potential of voluntary organisations and individuals, alongside 
the clinical expertise and resources that hospitals can offer.” 
 
Dr D.A Ker- GP and Clinical Vice Chair ELR CCG 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

64



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 51 of 52 

18 Appendices 

18.1 Appendix 1 - Blueprint for General Practice: Delivering the General Practice Five 
Year Forward View, February 2017  

 
https://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/publications/corporate-documents/strategies-and-
plans/94-gp5yfv-llr/file 
 
18.2 Appendix 2 - General Practice Forward View: LLR – General Practice Workforce 

Plan, January 2018  
 

https://www.leicestercityccg.nhs.uk/llr-gp-workforce-plan/ 
 

18.3 Appendix 3 - LLR Primary Care Networks (20 June 2019) 
 
 

  

65

https://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/publications/corporate-documents/strategies-and-plans/94-gp5yfv-llr/file
https://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/publications/corporate-documents/strategies-and-plans/94-gp5yfv-llr/file
https://www.leicestercityccg.nhs.uk/llr-gp-workforce-plan/


Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
2019/20-2023/24 Primary Care Strategy 

 

Page 52 of 52 

CCG Proposed PCN Member Practices  Population 

(List Size) 

ACD 

ELR SLAM Latham House, County, Jubilee, Stackyard(*), Long Clawson  

 

69 519 Dr Fahreen Dhanji  

ELR Oadby & Wigston Wigston Central, South Wigston, Bushloe, Oadby Central, Severn, 

Rosemead  

 

49 059 Dr Richard Palin 

ELR North Blaby  Glenfield, Kingsway, Enderby, Forest House, The Limes 

 

60 264 Dr Simon Vincent 

ELR South Blaby & 

Lutterworth  

Northfield, Wycliffe, Masharani, Countesthorpe, Hazelmere 47 248 Dr Rachel Omand 

ELR Harborough  Market Harborough, Husbands Bosworth  

 

28 445 Dr Hamant Mistry 

ELR South 

Leicestershire, 

Croft & Billesdon  

South Leicestershire, Croft & Billesdon  

 

42 271 Dr Anuj Chahal 

ELR Rutland  Uppingham, Oakham, Empingham, Market Overton  

 

39,920 Dr Hilary Fox  

WL Bosworth Newbold, Desford, Ratby, Groby, Heath Lane 

 

37,491 Dr James Ogle 

WL Hinckley Central Station View, Centre, Maples, Castle Mead 

 

38,732 Dr R Dockrell 

WL Fosseway Orchard, Old School, Burbage, Barwell & Holly Croft 

 

42,742 Dr V Bolarum & Dr A 

Khalid 

WL North West 

Leicestershire 

Ibstock & Barlestone Surgeries, Castle Medical Group, Measham 

Medical Unit, The Surgery – Ashby 

 

42,823 

Dr Kirk Moore 

Markfield Medical Centre, Long Lane Surgery, Broom Leys Surgery, 

Hugglescote Surgery 

 

37,319 

Castle Donnington, Whitwick Road Surgery, Dr Patel & Dr Tailor 

(Whitwick Health Centre), Manor House Surgery, Dr Virmani (& Dr 

Bedi) (Whitwick Health Centre) 

 

27,724 

WL Watermead Thurmaston, Greengate, Birstall, Silverdale, Mahavir 

 

31,816 Dr Anu Rao 

WL Soar Valley Quorn, Cottage, Banks, Highgate, Charnwood Surgery, Alpine, 

Barrow, Anstey 

 

49,863 Dr Nick Simpson 

WL CH3 – Carillon Bridge Street, Park View, Pinfold, Woodbrook, University 

 

55,445 Dr Leslie Borrill 

WL CH4 – Beacon  Charnwood, Dishley, Field Street, Forest House 

 

33,955 Dr Rebecca Dempsey 

City  Belgrave & 

Spinney  

East Park MC, The Charnwood Practice, Canon St, Spinney Hill MC, 

Broadhurst Surgery  

 

45,774 Dr Prakash Pancholi  

City  The Leicester 

Foxes 

Dr Kapur St Peter’s, Dr Kapur Narborough Rd, Dr Kapur Brandon ST, 
Surgery at Aylestone, Evington MC, Al-Waqas, Dr D’Souza St Peter’s, 
Dr D’Souza, Queens Rd 
 

33.498 Dr Vivek Sharma  

City  Leicester Central Community HC, Highfields Surgery, Highfields MC, Shefa MP, 
Sayeed MC, Heron Practice, Bowling Green St, Ar-Razi 
 

51,058 Dr Rajiv Wadhwa  

City  Salutem  Johnson MP, Downing Drive, Humberstone MP, St Elizabeth’s  
 

35,455 Dr Aileen Tincello  

City  Aegis Healthcare Willowbrook, The Willows, Clarendon Park MC, East Leicester MP, 
Heatherbrook Surgery, Pasley Road HC (Dr Khong) 
 

41,104 Dr Mo Roshan 

City  Millennium  Manor Park MP, Beaumont Lodge MP, Briton St Surgery, Westcotes 
Surgeries, Westcotes MC, Brandon St Surgery, Aylestone HC 
 

50,971 Dr Durairaj Jawahar 

City  City Care Alliance  Merridale MC, The Parks, Fosse Family Practice, Beaumont Leys HC, 
Asquith Surgery, Spirit Rushy Mead 
 

38,589 Dr Umesh Roy  

City  Leicester City & 

University  

Dr Montfort University, Victoria Park HC 45,234 Dr Aruna Garcea  

City  Leicester City 

South  

Saffron health, The Hedges MC, Pasley Road, Assist, Inclusion 
Healthcare, Walnut St MC 
 

35,417 Dr Amit Rastogi  

City  Leicester Health 

Focus 

Oakmeadow Surgery, Groby Ro MC, Fosse MC, Hockley Farm 39,194 Dr Hafiz Mukadam 

 

Appendix 3 - LLR Primary Care Networks (20 June 2019) 
 
 
 

66



A partnership of:  
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG | West Leicestershire CCG | Leicester City CCG 

Primary Care 
Networks (PCN) 

Leicester, 
Leicestershire and 

Rutland 

67



Local primary care networks 
• 25 primary care networks in Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland 
– East Leicestershire and Rutland: 7 PCNs 
– Leicester City: 10 PCNs 
– West Leicestershire: 8 PCNs 

• 100% coverage of the population 
 

16 

68



69



A partnership of:  
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG | West Leicestershire CCG | Leicester City CCG 

East 
Leicestershire and 

Rutland PCNs 

70



71



Melton, Syston & Vale  
(69,519 patients) 

Latham House Medical 
Practice  
Long Clawson Medical 
Practice  
The County Practice  

The Jubilee Medical 
Practice  
Stackyard & Woolsthorpe 
Surgery  

20 

72



Oadby & Wigston 
(49,059 patients) 

Bushloe Surgery  

Rosemead Drive 
Surgery  
Severn Surgery  

South Wigston 
Health Centre  
The Central Surgery 
(Oadby)  
Wigston Central 
Surgery  

21 

73



North Blaby 
(60,264 patients) 

Enderby Medical 
Centre  
Forest House Medical 
Centre 
Kingsway Surgery  

The Glenfield Surgery  

The Limes Medical 
Centre  

22 

74



South Blaby & 
Lutterworth 

(47,188 patients) 
Countesthorpe Health 
Centre  
Hazelmere Medical Centre  

Northfield Medical Centre  

The Masharani Practice  

The Wycliffe Medical 
Practice  

23 

75



Market Harborough & 
Bosworth 

(28,455 patients) 
Husbands Bosworth 
Medical Centre  
Market Harborough 
Medical Centre  

24 

76



Cross Counties 
(42,271 patients) 

Billesdon Surgery   

Kibworth Health Centre  

The Croft Medical Centre  

Two Shires Medical 
Practice  

25 

77



Rutland Healthcare 
(38,569 patients) 

Empingham Medical 
Centre  
Market Overton & 
Somerby Surgeries  
Oakham Medical 
Practice  
The Uppingham 
Surgery 

26 

78



A partnership of:  
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG | West Leicestershire CCG | Leicester City CCG 

Leicester City 
PCNs 79



80



Belgrave & Spinney 
(45,774 patients) 

Broadhurst Street Surgery  

Canon St Medical Centre  

East Park Medical Centre  

East Park Medical Centre 
(Doncaster Road branch)  
Spinney Hill Medical 
Centre  
Spinney Hill Medical 
Centre (Doncaster Road 
branch)  
The Charnwood Practice  

29 

81



Leicester Foxes 
(33,498 patients) 

Al-Waqas Medical Centre   

Evington Medical Centre  

Evington Medical Centre 
(Loughborough Road branch) 

Dr S D’Souza & Partner (Queens Road 
branch)  

Dr S D’Souza & Partner (St Peter’s 
Health Centre)  

Dr R Kapur (Belgrave Health Centre)  

Dr R Kapur & Partners (St Peter’s 
Health Centre)  

Narborough Road Surgery  

Dr R Sahdev (Surgery @ Aylestone)  

30 

82



Leicester Central 
(51,058 patients) 

Ar-Razi Medical Centre  

Bowling Green Street Surgery 

Heron GP Practice   

Highfields Medical Centre  

Highfields Medical Centre 
(Belgrave Health Centre 
branch)  
Highfields Surgery  

Sayeed Medical Centre  

Shefa Medical Practice  

The Community Health Centre 

31 

83



Salutem 
(35,455 patients) 

Downing Drive Surgery  

Humberstone Medical 
Centre  
Johnson Medical Practice  

Johnson Medical Practice 
(Hilltop Surgery branch)  
St Elizabeth’s Medical 
Centre  

32 

84



Aegis Healthcare 
(41,104 patients) 

Clarendon Park Surgery  

East Leicester Medical 
Practice  
Heatherbrook Surgery  

Pasley Road Health Centre 
(Dr Khong)  
The Willows Medical Centre  

Willowbrook Medical Centre  

Willowbrook Medical Centre 
(Springfield Road branch) 

33 

85



Millennium 
(50,971 patients) 

Aylestone Health Centre   

Beaumont Lodge Medical Practice  

Beaumont Lodge Medical Practice 
(branch)  

Brandon Street Surgery  

Briton Street Surgery  

Manor Park Medical Practice  

Manor Park Medical Practice (branch)  

Westcotes GP Surgery 1 (Dr S Shafi)  

Westcotes GP Surgery 2 (Dr S Shafi)  

Westcotes Health Centre (Dr K M Taylor 
& Partner)  

Westcotes Medical Practice  

34 

86



City Care Alliance 
(38,584 patients) 

Asquith Surgery   

Beaumont Leys Health 
Centre 
Fosse Family Practice  

Merridale Medical Centre  

Rushey Mead Health 
Centre  
The Parks Medical Centre  

87



Leicester City & 
University 

(45,234 patients) 
Victoria Park Health Centre  

Student Health Centre (De 
Montfort University) 

36 

88



Leicester City South 
(35,417 patients) 

Saffron Health   

Saffron Health (branch)  

Inclusion Healthcare  

Leicester City Assist Practice  

Pasley Road (Dr G Singh)  

The Hedges Medical Centre  

Walnut Street Surgery  

37 

89



Leicester Health Focus 
(38,189 patients) 

Fosse Medical Centre   

Groby Road Medical Centre  

Hockley Farm Medical 
Practice  
Oakmeadow Surgery 

38 

90



A partnership of:  
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG | West Leicestershire CCG | Leicester City CCG 

West 
Leicestershire 

PCNs 91



92



Bosworth 
(37,491 

patients) 
Desford Medical 
Centre 
Groby Surgery  

Heath Lane 
Surgery  
Newbold Verdon 
Medical Practice  
Ratby Surgery  

41 

93



Hinckley Central 
(638,732 patients) 

Castle Mead Medical 
Centre   
Maples Family Medical 
Practice  
Station View Health 
Centre  
The Centre Surgery  

42 

94



Fosseway 
(42,742 patients) 
Barwell & 
Hollycroft Medical 
Practice  
Burbage Surgery  

Orchard Medical 
Practice  
The Old School 
Surgery  

43 

95



North West 
Leicestershire: Hub 1 

(42,823 patients) 
Castle Medical Group  

Ibstock & Barlestone 
Surgeries  
Measham Medical Unit  

The Surgery - Ashby  

44 

96



North West 
Leicestershire: Hub 2 

(37,319 patients) 
Broom Leys Surgery   

Hugglescote Surgery  

Long Lane Surgery  

Markfield Medical Centre 

45 

97



North West 
Leicestershire: Hub 3 

(27,724 patients) 
Castle Donnington Surgery  

Manor House Surgery  

Whitwick Health Centre: Dr 
Patel & Dr Tailor 
Whitwick Health Centre: Dr 
Virmani (& Dr Bedi)  
Whitwick Road Surgery 

46 

98



Watermead 
(32,217 patients) 
Birstall Medical 
Centre  
Greengate 
Medical Centre  
Mahavir Medical 
Centre  
Silverdale Medical 
Centre  
Thurmaston 
Health Centre  

47 

99



Soar Valley 
(49,863 patients) 

Alpine House 
Surgery 
Anstey Surgery  

Barrow Health 
Centre  
Charnwood Surgery  

Cottage Surgery 

Highgate Surgery  

Quorn Medical 
Centre  
The Banks Surgery  

48 

100



Carillon 
(55,445 patients) 

Bridge Street 
Medical Practice 
Loughborough 
University Medical 
Centre  
Park View Surgery  

Pinfold Medical 
Practice  
Woodbrook Medical 
Centre  

49 

101



Beacon 
(33,955 patients) 

Charnwood Medical 
Group 
Dishley Grange 
Medical Practice  
Field Street Surgery  

Forest House 
Surgery 

50 

102



 
 

 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
11TH NOVEMBER 2019 

 
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
HEALTHWATCH LLR LONG TERM PLAN ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

 
Purpose of report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to share the findings of a cross county engagement 
programme, which was commissioned through Healthwatch England by NHS England.  
Through a series of targeted workshops, open public workshops and surveys (online and 
offline) the experience and opinions of the general public and patients with specific long-
term conditions was captured, in the context of the NHS Long Term Plan.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. The County Council, following the Health and Social Care Act 2012, is required to 

directly commission a local Healthwatch. The local Healthwatch in turn has a set of 
statutory activities to undertake, such as gathering local views and making these known 
to providers and commissioners, monitoring and scrutinising the quality of provision of 
local services and a seat on the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 

Background 
 

3. The purpose of Healthwatch Leicestershire (HWL) is to promote improvements in local 
health and social care services – improving outcomes for local people in Leicestershire. 
HWL believes that the best way to do this is by designing local services around the 
needs and experiences of local people.  
 

4. NHS England commissioned Healthwatch England, through local Healthwatch, to 
undertake a significant programme of public engagement. This was, primarily, to support 
the refresh of the local NHS Sustainable and Transformation Plans following the 
publication of the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 
5. Working with the Communication lead of the Better Care Together programme a number 

of target local communities were identified. 
 

6. Healthwatch Leicestershire acted as the co-ordinating Healthwatch for a series of face to 
face workshops and an online survey, as well as the analysis and final publication of the 
report.  

 
7. The final report findings have been shared with the BCT senior leadership team and 

used to inform the updated STP due to be published.  
 

103 Agenda Item 9



 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 

8. It is recommended that Healthwatch Leicestershire’s report be noted. 
 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Micheal Smith - Manager 
0116 2518313 
Micheal.Smith@healthwatchll.com  
 
List of Appendices 
 
Healthwatch LLR Long Term Plan Engagement Report 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

9. HWL is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) applies to all functions of 
public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality Act 2010. Schedule 19 list does 
not include Healthwatch England or Local Healthwatch organisations, however as bodies 
carrying out a public function using public funding we are subject to the PSED general 
duty. 

 
10. ECS/ Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and 

social care outcomes experienced in some communities.  We believe also that health 
and social care should be based on a human rights platform.  We will utilise the Equality 
Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in service commissioning 
and delivery.  

 
 
 

 
 

104



 

 

NHS Long Term Plan  

What matters to 

you? 

Patient and Public Engagement by Healthwatch 

Leicester, Healthwatch Leicestershire and 

Healthwatch Rutland 

 

 

105



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

2 

 

PAGE LEFT BLANK 

  

106



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

3 

 

Contents 

Executive summary ............................................................................................ 4 

1. How did we do it? ........................................................................................... 6 

2. What is important to you? ................................................................................. 8 

3. Living with a long-term condition ....................................................................... 21 

 3.1Experiences of getting help and support .................................................... 21 

 3.2 Transport and time spent travelling to access support and care ....................... 33 

 3.3 Your expectations at each stage of your care ............................................. 34 

 3.4 Supporting you to have more control over your own care ............................... 37 

4.Focus groups, interviews and patients’ stories ......................................................... 42 

5. Conclusion .................................................................................................. 46 

Appendix 1 – Demographic breakdown of General survey responses .................................. 50 

Appendix 2 - Demographic breakdown of Respondents of Conditions survey ........................ 52 

 

  

107



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

4 

Executive summary 

I. Background 

The National Health Service (NHS) Long Term Plan (2019) consolidates a shift towards 

personalised and integrated health and social care, illness prevention and reduced acute hospital 

admissions with care closer to home for people when possible. NHS England has commissioned 

Healthwatch nationwide to conduct public engagement to determine what people want from 

their NHS services.  This report will inform local policy makers about what is important to 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland people and their hopes for future health and care services. 

II. Method 

A mixed methods approach was taken using surveys, focus groups, semi structured interviews 

and patients’ narratives. People who have often previously been under-represented in public 

engagement were specifically sought.  

III. What matters most to people in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland?  

All participants 

• People felt that choosing the right treatment should be a joint decision between the 

patient and relevant health care professional. 

• People want to stay in their own home for as long as it is safe to do so. 

• People want to talk to the doctor or other health care professional from wherever they 

are. 

• Timely access to services is important and most patients are prepared to travel for this, 

if it was not too far or too time consuming.  

• When someone is reaching out for help and support through their GP, they want to feel 

listened to. 

People with long-term conditions 

• People living with long term conditions want to be able to look after themselves when 

possible but know that support exists for them when they need it. 

• Patients who have been diagnosed with cancer and their carers reported a much better 

experiences of the NHS than those who have a mental health diagnosis. 

• Different long-term conditions create varied challenges and experiences.  

• Communications with and information given to patients and carers throughout the illness 

needs improvement. 

108



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

5 

• Primary Care services would be improved if the professionals could better inform 

patients of local support services and had a better understanding of and training about 

how patients and the whole family experience living with long term conditions. 

People with dementia and their carers 

• If a patient has family or friends, they are better able to access services. 

• People with dementia are more likely to be digitally excluded. 

• People with dementia miss the ability to drive. 

 

Young people with learning disabilities and autism 

• Clinicians need a better understanding of learning disabilities and autism and the impact 

the disability has on the whole family. 

• Professionals should ensure that the right support is offered when needed. 

 

• People with learning difficulties are also likely to be digitally excluded. 

• Getting a diagnosis can be the biggest challenge. 

  

109



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

6 

1. How did we do it? 

1.1 Introduction 

In this section we set out how Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire and Healthwatch 

Rutland worked together, as part of the Healthwatch England project, to engage with the local 

public to understand what matters most to them when accessing health and care services.  

1.2 Context 

Over recent years, policy makers have been attempting to remove the historical boundaries 

between primary care, secondary care and social care.  The NHS Long Term Plan, published in 

January 2019, consolidates this move to ‘integrated care’.  With an ageing population in England 

and increasing demands on the NHS, the intention is to focus on keeping people healthy, 

independent and able to self-manage long-term (chronic) conditions without multiple acute 

hospital emergency admissions, for as long as possible.  

 

NHS England commissioned the Healthwatch England network to carry out nationwide public 

engagement to determine what people want from their NHS services now, and in the future and 

what their experiences have been to date. Healthwatch Leicester and Healthwatch 

Leicestershire with Healthwatch Rutland were asked to work together to cover the Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) area. 

LLR forms the geographical footprint of the local Better Care Together1 initiative. There are 

three local authorities: Leicester City, Leicestershire and Rutland. Over one million people live 

in Leicester city, market towns such as Loughborough, Melton Mowbray or Oakham, large and 

small villages, hamlets or in isolated rural spots. The population of Leicester City is statistically 

younger with a wide ethnic and cultural diversity, whereas Rutland has a higher proportion of 

older age groups but is less ethnically and culturally diverse.  The disease burden and health and 

social care needs are therefore significantly different across the footprint. 

 

Healthwatch Leicester & Healthwatch Leicestershire and Healthwatch Rutland, with added 

advice from the Better Care Together team, engaged with the public during Spring 2019 and are 

now pleased to present the results in this report which, we hope, will help inform local health 

and care policy.   

 

 

  

 
1 Also known as the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 

110



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

7 

1.3 Method 

We used a mixed method approach and widely distributed (online and hard copy) both the 

Healthwatch England general survey and the long-term conditions survey. To gain deeper and 

richer interpretations of people’s experiences and expectations, we also talked with patients 

and their carers in 10+ focus groups and semi-structured interviews and used patients’ ‘stories’ 

about their experiences.  Survey data was quantitatively analysed and the focus groups, 

interviews and ‘stories’ were subjected to a thematic analysis. 

 

1.4 Who did we talk to? 

 The surveys were completed and submitted by 597 members of the public.  

 Leicester City Leicestershire Rutland 

General Survey* 150 184 105 

Condition Survey* 21 89 48 

*full demographic breakdown in appendices 1 and 2 

We were aware that there are groups of people who are consistently under-represented in such 

an engagement, so we specifically sought to include: 

• Patients with dementia and their carers.  

• Young people (up to age 25 years) with learning disabilities and/or autism and/or 

additional needs. 

• Black and Minority Ethnic groups (BAME). 

• Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Questioning (or Queer) groups (LGBTQ+) 

 

1.5 Promoting the Engagement 

We used existing networks to reach out to community groups and explain the work we were 

doing. The surveys were promoted and made available to be completed online or through face to 

face engagement and also distributed around public spaces (surgeries, libraries, council buildings 

etc) in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.   

Focus groups and some semi-structured interviews were held across the region to guide a more 

in-depth discussion about what is important to different groups of people. These were also used 

as an opportunity to distribute and promote the surveys. 

Drop in clinics and workshops were held in targeted areas of Leicester and Leicestershire to 

engage with people from different ethnic groups.  

111



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

8 

2. What is important to you? 

This section presents the general survey results in which people were asked what is most 

important for them to receive from their local NHS services. Despite the demographic mix in the 

LLR population, arguably the most striking result is that, with a few exceptions, the public 

largely want and attribute importance to the same things.  The different questions and 

responses are now set out under two broad categories: 1. Living a healthy life and 2. 

Interactions with the NHS. A summary of the results is given at the end.  

2.1 Help to live a healthy life 

With an increasing population, an ageing demography and people living longer with more chronic 

illnesses, attempts are being made to reduce the demands on NHS services by encouraging 

people to live longer and more healthily. 

i. What is most important to you to manage and live a healthy lifestyle? 

 
The respondents were asked to rate the following statements and place in order of importance: 

 

• Easy access to information I need to help me make decisions about my health and care.  

• Access to help and treatment I need when I want it. 

• Professionals that listen to me when I speak to them about my concerns. 

• For every interaction with health and care services to count, my time is valued.  

 

The majority of the respondents indicated that the most important to them is: Access to help 

and treatment I need when I need it. 

 

As throughout the general survey, the replies to all the factors were heavily weighted towards 

‘important’ or ‘very important’ by all the different demographic groups, but there were subtle 

intergroup differences as the following table demonstrates:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

112



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

9 

 

Chart 1 -% response of carers and non-carers – ‘easy access to information I need’ 

 

 

Thus, a higher percentage of carers in comparison to non-carers thought that easy access to 

information is ‘very important’ and, conversely, more non-carers rated it as ‘important’. This 

pattern of difference between ‘very important’ and ‘important’ plays out across other groups. 

For example: 

  

• Age: All age groups, except 25-34, rated ‘access to help and treatment when needed’ as 

the most important. Whereas, those between 25-34 considered ‘easy access to 

information’ was the most important. 

• Ethnicity: Most ethnicities rated ‘access to help and treatment when needed’ as most 

important but the Bangladeshi and Black British ethnic groups rated ‘easy access to 

information’ as most important.  

• Religion: Most religions considered ‘access to the help and treatment when needed’ to be 

most important except for Buddhists and Jewish, who thought ‘professionals that listen’, 

and Sikhs, who thought ‘the knowledge to help them do what they can to prevent ill 

health’ as most important. 

• Sexuality: The LGBTQ group were unique in having intragroup differences in their ratings 

as the following Table 1 demonstrates: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Very Important Important Not important Not important
at all

Neutral

Not a Carer Carer

113



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

10 

 Table 1. Sexuality group responses – Most important to getting help to live a healthy life 

Row Labels Asexual 

(1) 

Bisexual 

(4) 

Gay or 

lesbian 

(5) 

Heterosexual 

(342) 

I'd prefer 

not to 

say (44) 

Other 

(20) 

Pansexual 

(1) 

Access to the help and treatment I 

need when I want it 

0% 0% 20% 46% 44% 53% 0% 

Easy access to the information I 

needs to help me make decisions 

about my health and care 

0% 0% 20% 13% 17% 16% 0% 

For every interaction with health and 

care services to count; my time is 

valued 

0% 25% 0% 4% 5% 0% 0% 

Professionals that listen to me when I 

speak to them about my concerns 

0% 75% 40% 24% 15% 26% 100% 

The knowledge to help me do what I 

can to prevent ill health 

100% 0% 20% 13% 20% 5% 0% 

(blank) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Grand Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 

Statistical significance cannot be assumed due to the small number of respondents in the LGBTQ 

group, but Table 1 indicates that: 

 

• Bisexual, Gay/Lesbian and Pansexual participants rated ‘having professionals that listen’ 

to them as most important. 

• Heterosexual respondents rated ‘access to help and treatment when needed’ as most 

important.  

• The one asexual respondent rated ‘having the knowledge to prevent ill health’ as most 

important. 

 
ii. Managing and choosing the support you need 

 
The respondents were asked to rate the following statements and place in order of importance: 

 

• If I have a long-term condition, I decide how the NHS spends money on me.  

• Choosing the right treatment is a joint decision between me and the relevant health and 

care professional.  

• I make the decision about where I will go to receive health and care support.  

• I should be offered care and support in other areas if my local area can’t see me in a 

timely way. 

• I make the decision about when I will receive health and care support.  

• My opinion on what is best for me, counts.  

• Communications are timely.  

114



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

11 

• I have time to consider my options and make the choices that are right for me.  

These questions resulted in little difference in the ratings of importance across the groups. With 

the exception of the variable of ‘sexuality’, the sentence rated the ‘most important’ was: 

Choosing the right treatment is a joint decision between me and the relevant health or care 

professional. 

 
The responses with the added variable of ‘sexuality’ are shown below but, again, should be 

considered as indications rather than statistically significant due to small numbers in some 

groups.  

 

Table 2. Sexuality group responses – most important to manage and choose the support you need 

Row  
Labels 

Choosing 
the right 
treatment 
is a joint 
decision 
between 
me and the 
relevant 
health care 
professional 

Communications 
are timely 

I have 
time to 
consider 
my 
options 
and 
make 
the 
choices 
that are 
right for 
me 

I make 
the 
decision 
about 
when I 
will 
receive 
health 
and 
care 
support 

I make 
the 
decision 
about 
where I 
will go 
to 
receive 
health 
and care 
support 

I should 
be 
offered 
care 
and 
support 
in other 
areas if 
my 
local 
are 
can’t 
see me 
in a 
timely 
way 

If I have a 
long-term 
condition, 
I decide 
how the 
NHS 
spends 
money on 
me 

My 
opinion 
on 
what is 
best for 
me 
counts 

Asexual 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 

Bisexual 75% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 25% 0% 

Gay or 
Lesbian 

20% 0% 20% 0% 20% 40% 0% 0% 

Heterosexual 52% 5% 11% 4% 7% 12% 4% 4% 

Prefer not to 
say 

51% 3% 8% 3% 13% 8% 5% 10% 

Other 28% 0% 6% 6% 28% 11% 17% 6% 

Pansexual 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 

(blank) 37% 0% 0% 11% 0% 42% 11% 0% 

Grand Total 50% 4% 10% 4% 8% 13% 5% 4% 

 

As Table 2 demonstrates, whilst ‘choosing the right treatment is a joint decision’ was most 

important to bisexual and heterosexual respondents, the asexual respondent considered that 

‘making the decision about where to receive services’ was the most important. The Gay/Lesbian 

and Pansexual respondents rated ‘being offered care and support in other areas’ as most 

important.  

 

 

 

115



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

12 

iii. If there was one more thing that would help you manage and choose how the 

NHS supports you, what would it be? 

The survey respondents were asked to reply to this question in their own words.  215 responses 

to this question were received and thematically analysed as follows: 

• Having better access to information. (29 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

• Better GP access. (27 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• More local and easily accessible services. (26 comments) 

 

 

 

 

• Better patient choice and control. (21 comments) 

 

 

 

 

• Being listened to. (16 comments) 

 

 

“More information about care/treatment so that I can make an informed choice.” 

“An open forum at a surgery where pre-selected questions could have an answer 

and advice from patients who have experienced the problems and could voice their 

ideas and solutions as well as clinical advice.” 

 “The GP being open in evenings and weekends so I can go without taking time off 

work. People don't really know what is best for them but I want to discuss my 

thoughts about my personal health experiences with a professional who listens and 

then explains why.” 

“More GPs to alleviate the pressure on surgeries enabling them to support me more 

efficiently.” 

“Having more facilities to be provided locally.  We have a hospital in Melton which is 

hardly used.  A lot of consultations and treatment should be provided here, and we 

would not be required to travel to other towns.” 

“More hospital services at Rutland Memorial Hospital.” 

“I would like to be more involved in decisions about my health.” 

“I should be at the centre of my care and given the right information about my illness 

so I can make the right decision about my illness.  Having a named GP is important.” 

“Be listened to when attempting to explain a problem” 

“Important, they should listen to the disabled child or adult” 

116



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

13 

iv. Keeping your independence and stay healthy as you get older 

The respondents were asked to rate the following statements and place in order of importance: 

• I want to be able to stay in my own home for as long as it is safe to do so.   

• I want my community to be able to support me to live my life the way I want.  

• I want my family and friends to have the knowledge to help and support me when 

needed.  

• I want there to be convenient ways for me to travel to health and care services when I 

need to.  

• I want my family and me to feel supported at the end of life.  

 
Again, most responses were either ‘very important’ or ‘important’.  For almost all response 

groups the most important factor for keeping their independence and stay healthier as they got 

older was:  To be able to stay in own home for as long as it’s safe to do so. The results are 

demonstrated in Table 3 below: 

 

Table 3. Percentages of responses rating Very Important/Important or Neutral for maintaining 

independence 

 Very Important Important Neutral 

Stay in own home 78% 18% 3% 

Community able to 
support 

48% 34% 15% 

Family and Friends have 
the knowledge 

62% 26% 10% 

Convenient ways to 
travel 

66% 28% 5% 

Support at end of life 76% 19% 4% 

 

When demographic variables were added there were the following differences: 

 

• The under 18 age group and ‘any other white background’ groups rated ‘convenient ways 

to travel to health and care services’ as most important. 

• The 18-24 age group rated ‘staying at home’ and ‘family and friends having the 

knowledge to give them support’ with equal importance. 

• African ethnicity group rated ‘family and friends’ having the knowledge to give them 

support’ as most important. 

 
The higher percentage response for ‘neutral’ and lower percentage responses for ‘very 

important’ and ‘important’ suggests that people consider ‘community support’ as less important 

117



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

14 

than the other options.  But there was a different response to the importance of community 

support when ethnicity or sexuality were added as variables as Tables 4 and 5 below 

demonstrate: 

 
Table 4. Ethnic group responses on ‘Community to be able to support me to live my life the way I want’. 

 
Very important Important Neutral Not important 

African 50% 50% 0% 0% 

Any other mixed 
background 

25% 50% 25% 0% 

Any other white 
background 

46% 31% 15% 8% 

Asian British 48% 29% 19% 5% 

Bangladeshi 50% 50% 0% 0% 

Black British 100% 0% 0% 0% 

Caribbean 50% 42% 8% 0% 

Indian 36% 46% 7% 11% 

Other 20% 50% 30% 0% 

White British 51% 31% 16% 2% 

(blank) 38% 43% 10% 10% 

Grand Total 48% 34% 15% 3% 

 

Black British ethnic group unanimously valued community support but a higher number of the 

Indian ethnic group than any other ethnic group considered it unimportant.   

  
Table 5. Responses with sexuality as variable to ‘Community to be able to support me to live my life the 
way I want’.  

Very important Important Neutral Not important 

Asexual  100% 0% 0% 0% 

Bisexual  75% 25% 0% 0% 

Gay or lesbian  20% 40% 40% 0% 

Heterosexual  49% 34% 14% 3% 

I'd prefer not to say  56% 34% 10% 0% 

Other  37% 16% 37% 11% 

Pansexual  100% 0% 0% 0% 

(blank)  41% 41% 9% 9% 

Grand Total  48% 34% 15% 3% 

 

The intragroup differences with sexuality as a variable demonstrate that the Gay and Lesbian 

respondents place less value on community support. The one pansexual and one asexual people 

attributed the greatest importance to community support. Due to small numbers, statistical 

significance cannot be assumed and the results should be considered as an indication only. 

 

 

118



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

15 

v. If there was one more thing that would help you retain your independence and 

live healthily for as long as possible, what would it be? 

 

200 comments were received to this free text question and were thematically analysed with the 

following dominant themes emerging:  

 

• More local services and support. (28 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

•    Better (online) access to services. (24 comments) 

  

 

 

 

 

 

• Social and Community support. (18 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“To have support and resources available locally to ensure I live an 

independent life for as long as possible.  At the moment it is a 'lottery'.” 

“Having a variety of support at home or nearby to be able to live 

independently for as long as possible.” 

 

“Being able to check online for anything the health and care services 

need to tell me as well as being able to contact them efficiently online 

when I need them.” 

 

“Access to appropriate technology.” 

 

“I don’t think there are enough groups to help myself [sic] and others in 

my community to improve our independence and health.” 

“I have had a look at the NHS Long Term Plan and cannot see anything 

about investment into social care.  I think that it will be impossible to 

significantly improve the health of the populous [sic] unless this is 

recognised and addressed.” 

119



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

16 

2.2  Interacting with the NHS 

Part 2 of the general survey specifically asks people about what is important for them when they 

are using NHS health and care services. 

 

i. Rate how important the following statements are when it comes to interacting 

with the local NHS 

 

The respondents were asked to rate the following statements and place in order of importance: 

 

• I have absolute confidence that my personal data is managed well and kept secure. 

• I can access services using my phone or computer.  

• I manage my own personal records so I can receive continuity of care. 

• I can talk to my doctor or other health care professional wherever I am.   

• I can make appointments online and my options are not limited.  

• Any results are communicated to me quickly making best use of technology.  

• I am able to talk to other people who are experiencing similar challenges to me to 

help me feel better.  

 

The majority of people rated this set of statements as ‘very important’ or ‘important’. Fewer 

people rated ‘being able to talk to other people who are experiencing similar challenges to me’ 

and ‘I manage my own personal records’ as ‘very important’ or ‘important’.  The most 

important, as shown in the table below, was: ‘having results communicated quickly’. 

 

Table 6. Percentages of responses rating Very Important/Important/Neutral or Not important 

 Very Important Important Neutral Not important 

Confidence that 
personal data is 
managed well 

60% 27% 13% 1% 

Access services 
using phone of 
computer 

47% 37% 13% 3% 

Talk to Dr or 
health 
professional 
wherever I am 

52% 34% 12% 2% 

Make 
appointment 
online 

48% 29% 18% 3% 

Results 
communicated 
quickly 

64% 26% 8% 1% 

Able to talk to 
others 

30% 39% 23% 8% 

Manage my own 
records 

37% 37% 23% 3% 

 

120



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

17 

Adding demographic variables produced slightly different results: 

• Age: The under 18s thought ‘any results are communicated to me quickly making best use 

of technology’ to be most important. 18-24 years thought ‘I can access services using my 

phone or computer’ is most important.  25-34 years thought ‘I can make appointments 

online and my options are not limited’ is most important.  

• Religion: Most religious groups rated ‘I can talk to my doctor or other health care 

professional wherever I am’ as most important, except Muslims and Sikhs who thought ‘I 

can make appointments online and my options are not limited’ is most important. 

• Ethnicity: Asian British, Indian and ‘any other mixed background’ ethnic group rated ‘I 

can make appointments online and my options are not limited’ as most important. 

African and ‘Others’ ethnic group rated ‘I have absolute confidence that my personal 

data is managed well and kept secure’ as most important as Table 7 below shows:  

 

Table 7. Ethnicity – Most important for interacting with the local NHS. 

Row Labels Any results 
are 
communicat
ed to me 
quickly 
making best 
use of 
technology 

I am able to 
talk to other 
people who 
are 
experiencing 
similar 
challenges to 
me to help 
me feel 
better 

I can 
access 
services 
using my 
phone or 
computer 

I can make 
appointments 
online and my 
options are 
not limited 

I can talk to 
my doctor 
or other 
health care 
professional 
wherever I 
am 

I have 
absolute 
confidence 
that my 
personal 
data is 
managed 
well and 
kept secure 

I manage 
my own 
personal 
records so 
that I can 
receive 
continuity 
in care 

African 13% 0% 0% 13% 0% 75% 0% 

Any other 
mixed 
background 

0% 0% 25% 50% 0% 25% 0% 

Any other 
white 
background 

15% 0% 15% 8% 54% 8% 0% 

Asian British 5% 5% 0% 38% 33% 10% 10% 

Bangladeshi 0% 50% 0% 0% 0% 50% 0% 

Black British 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 

Caribbean 17% 0% 8% 8% 33% 25% 8% 

Indian 14% 0% 7% 32% 18% 25% 4% 

Other 10% 0% 10% 10% 30% 30% 10% 

White 
British 

18% 4% 9% 12% 37% 13% 6% 

(blank) 11% 6% 11% 17% 33% 22% 0% 

Grand Total 16% 4% 9% 15% 35% 16% 5% 

 

121



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

18 

ii. If there was one more thing that you think needs to change to help you to 

successfully manage your health and care, what would it be? 

169 free text comments were received for this question.  

• Better GP access – Less time-restricted access to a GP and fewer delays for 

appointments. (31 comments) 

 

 

 

 

• Access and handling of patient records. (24 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Choice and Control – how people feel most comfortable in their interactions. (14 

comments) 

 

 

iii. Any further comment? 

At the end of the survey respondents were invited to leave any further comments. We received 

134 responses.  Whilst there were 8 comments on the survey structure itself the following 

themes about health and care services also emerged:  

 

 

“A GP surgery that doesn't discriminate against those who work full time so that I 

can get an appointment either early morning or late afternoon and without having 

to book 3 weeks in advance.” 

“Appointments that are longer than 10 minutes, so I feel listened to and 

understood, not rushed and fobbed off.” 

 

“For pity's sake let us know what tests show. I have to have regular blood tests, but I 

go to the hospital and they haven't received the results.  I go to the doctors and they 

say yes, they have the results but won't fill in the details in my book for 

methotrexate treatment.  Then I go to the hospital and get told off because I'm not 

getting my book filled in.  Could test results be put on the website where we go to 

order repeat prescriptions?” 

“All NHS services to be able to access records from systems recording patients' 

experience - paramedics use links to Leicester Royal Infirmary but not Leicester City 

General.” 

“Option to speak face to face with relevant person – not on computer, and only by 

phone is my choice.” 

“Being able to speak to real people when not sure.” 

122



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

19 

• GP appointments – frustration with getting appointments and waiting times. (19 

comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

• More community support. (11 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Better communication – with patients and across health and care services. (9 

comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Make it possible to get an appointment without having to phone at 8am every morning 

for days on end until one is available and please, please, please, get medics to LISTEN to 

us - we know how we are feeling; we know when we are having problems.” 

“To be able to access a GP for non-urgent medical conditions in less than 3-4 weeks. 

With the growth of the population in Rutland the medical provision is sadly lacking.” 

 

 “I want a greater emphasis on non-medical ways of staying healthy. I am motivated to 

stay active and stay engaged with the world as I age, but I see so many people who are 

not and just go to the doctor or pharmacy for a pill to treat their aches, pains, feeling 

miserable. Healthcare professionals should be more informed and robust about 

signposting people to available local activities and organisations before any medication 

is prescribed to make the patient responsible for their own health and well-being.” 

“Support from the community is very important to my mental health. I liked answering 

this survey because it's important to get people's opinions.” 

 

 “Communication is really the key with health care. The largest number of complaints 

are often to do with poor information or communication. The use of medical jargon is 

still being used which can be frightening and confusing. An extra minute with a Doctor or 

health care worker to check the understanding of what has been said can really make a 

difference. Putting patients in contact with support groups can also be very helpful.” 

“Living in one CCG area, getting primary care in another and secondary care in a third 

makes it important that provision of care and availability of records are not artificially 

constrained by CCG boundaries.” 

 

123



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

20 

2.3  Summary of general survey findings 

The general survey results show that what is important to the public is: 

• Access to help and treatment when needed  

• Having some choice and control in interactions with health and care professionals 

• Being able to stay at home for as long as it is safe to do so 

• To have better access to GP appointments 

• For the NHS to bring care closer to home with enhanced use of local hospitals and other 

facilities 

• To have big improvements in communications – between patients and professionals, 

between professionals, between GPs, departments, hospitals and trusts. 

Somethings less highly valued by most: 

• Community support to retain health and independence 

• The ability to manage own personal records 

  

124



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

21 

3. Living with a long-term condition 

The NHS Long Term Plan specifically focusses on several named long-term conditions that will 

influence ongoing policy for health and care services nationally and locally. This is with the aim 

of helping people to keep well, independent and at home for as long as possible. For the long-

term condition survey we specifically targeted community groups for people living with these 

named conditions. Here, we define ‘those living with’ as patients, their significant others and/or 

their carers. Also, it is important to note that the survey included all long-term conditions. 

Therefore we sought responses from patients, their families or carers with: 

• Autism 

• Cancer 

• Dementia 

• Learning disabilities 

• Heart and lung disease 

• Mental health 

• Any other long-term conditions – e.g. arthritis, diabetes. 

The results are set out in 4 sections: 1. The experiences of getting care and support; 2. 

Transport and travel to access health and care services: 3. What people’s expectations are at 

each stage of the illness trajectory; 4. What support people need to stay well and out of 

hospital. The section is concluded with a summary of the main findings. 

3.1 Experiences of getting help and support 

This part of the survey asks people about their experiences of getting support – from the first 

contact with the health and care services, through assessment, diagnosis, treatment and for 

ongoing care. 

i. When you first tried to access help, did the support you received meet your 

needs? 

The services did not always meet the needs of people with long-term conditions when they first 

tried to access help. This was more often the case for people with a mental health condition or 

autism. Although a small sample, Leicestershire has the highest percentage of respondents (55%) 

saying their needs are not being met compared with 26% of Rutland patients and 45% of 

Leicester patients.  

 

 

 

 

125



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

22 

Chart 2 

 

When considering the percentages of all responses, 44% said their needs are not being met and 

23% of those have mental health conditions. 

 

ii. Tell us whether the support met your needs and how it could have been 

improved. 

 

Free text responses were invited and emerging dominant themes were:  

• Improved communication when support was first sought. (35 comments) 

 

 

• Better professional knowledge of all long-term conditions and awareness of carers’ 

and patients’ rights to support in primary care settings. (14 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Autism Cancer Dementia Heart and
lung diseases

Learning
disability

Long-term
condition e.g.

diabetes,
arthritis

Mental health

When you first tried to access help, did the support you received 
meet your needs?

No Somewhat Yes

 

 “My GP was very dismissive. They refused to refer on even though the Educational 

Psychiatrist had written asking for further investigation”. (Leicestershire - Autism) 

 

“You can’t self-refer to any services; even something like CBT. Also, most depressives feel 

worse at night, advice is ‘go to your A & E’ - as if that’s likely. It would be wonderful if 

there was a meeting place for people with mental health issues, a community setting with a 

garden, coffee shop maybe, with staff to talk with, group support sessions. A safe place 

where you can go, and just be, and be accepted […] and supported. Standard advice is ‘reach 

out to friends and family’ but that seldom works, people are scared and respond with 

platitudes like ‘get a hobby”.   (Leicestershire - Mental Health) 

“We struggled to get anyone to listen and when we finally had a referral we had to go to 

Leicester”. (Rutland – Autism) 

 

126



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

23 

• Better professional knowledge of support available. (8 comments) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

iii. How would you describe your overall experience of getting help?  

There were variations in the overall experience of getting help between those that had been 

diagnosed in the past 3 years and those that had been diagnosed longer than 3 years ago. The 

following Table 8 demonstrates that, except for the ‘negative’ experience, there has been a 

slight decrease in ‘very positive’ and ‘positive’ and an increase in ‘very negative’. This suggests 

that those people more recently diagnosed with a long-term condition are less satisfied with 

their overall experience of getting help than those who were diagnosed more than 3 years ago.   

Table 8. Overall experience of getting help 

 

When analysing the responses by condition type, there is a noticeable difference.  People with 

cancer reported more positive experiences of getting help and people with mental health 

conditions reported more negative experiences as the following table demonstrates: 

 

 

 

 

 Did condition start in last 3 years? 

Overall experience of getting help No Yes 

Very positive 15% 14% 

Positive 21% 20% 

Average 28% 27% 

Negative 22% 16% 

Very negative 13% 22% 

Don’t know 1% 0% 

Grand Total 100% 100% 

 

“Increase therapy for patients who have had a stroke for example. A carer told us, ‘there is 

no additional support for speech and therapy which would be really useful’. There is a 

general feeling that once you have had the initial treatment there is no follow-up care or 

care in the community” (Carers Focus Group – Loughborough). 

“I feel that my partner has been abandoned by the NHS. He had Alzheimer’s Disease for 7 

years and I didn’t know anything or that I could claim for help. He should have had this six 

years ago and no one told me anything. I took him to the GP two years ago, asking for more 

help and the doctor just turned to him and said, “you’re alright aren’t you?”  So, I didn’t 

get any support and we’ve not been back”. (Carers support group – Melton Mowbray) 

127



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

24 

 

Table 9. The overall experience of getting help with the added variable of ‘condition’  

 

iv. How would you describe the experience of seeking support for more than one 
condition at a time? 

 

Of all the people with more than one condition, 29% said that it made it harder to get help and 

12% of these were those with mental health conditions. Those with cancer as their declared 

primary diagnosis and another condition experienced the least difficulties as Chart 3 shows: 

 Chart 3

 

These results prompted a more in-depth examination of the experiences of mental health 

patients. The results in chart 4 show that 40% of those people with mental health conditions 

found it more difficult to get health and support if they had another condition.

  

 

 

 

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14%

Autism

Cancer

Dementia

Heart and lung diseases

Learning disability

Long-term condition e.g. diabetes, arthritis

Mental health

People who think having more than one condition made it harder to 
get help (29% total)

Overall experience of 
getting help by condition 

Don't know Very 
negative 

Negative Average Positive Very 
positive 

Autism 100% 4% 13% 2% 0% 4% 

Cancer 0% 12% 6% 7% 13% 35% 

Dementia 0% 8% 6% 17% 6% 13% 

Heart and lung diseases 0% 4% 13% 2% 13% 13% 

Learning disability 0% 8% 0% 7% 13% 4% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis 0% 4% 19% 29% 35% 13% 

Mental health 0% 60% 42% 36% 19% 17% 

Grand Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

128



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

25 

 Chart 4 

 

 

v. How would you describe the time you had to wait to receive your 

                      initial assessment or diagnosis? 

The ratings for experiences of the time waiting for an assessment and diagnosis were more 

negative than positive and more noticeably negative amongst those in Leicestershire compared 

with the other two areas as shown in Table 10. 

Table 10. Comparing the experiences of time delays across geographical areas 

Experience of the time between 

assessment and diagnosis by area 

Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Don't know 5% 2% 9% 

Very slow 24% 41% 20% 

Slow 33% 19% 15% 

Ok 33% 23% 37% 

Fast 0% 9% 11% 

Very fast 5% 6% 9% 

Grand Total 100% 100% 100% 

 

The results in the following Table 11 correlate with those in Table 9 and confirm that, when 

rating their overall experience of getting support, those with cancer had the least time delay 

and this was replicated across all three areas. Those with mental health conditions had to wait 

longer for an initial assessment and/or diagnosis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Don't know, 33%

It made it easier, 
20%

It made it harder, 
40%

No difference, 24%Difficulty in getting 
help for more than one 

condition amongst those with
mental health problems

129



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

26 

Table 11.  Comparing the experience of time delays by the different conditions  

Experience of time 
between assessment and 
diagnosis by condition 

Don't 
know 

Very slow Slow Ok Fast Very fast 

Autism 43% 8% 0% 5% 0% 0% 

Cancer 0% 6% 6% 16% 23% 60% 

Dementia 0% 10% 3% 23% 0% 0% 

Heart and lung diseases 0% 8% 6% 11% 15% 0% 

Learning disability 14% 6% 0% 9% 15% 0% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis 

0% 16% 39% 23% 15% 20% 

Mental health 43% 46% 45% 14% 31% 20% 

Grand Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

*% of row total 

Respondents were then invited to write in more detail about the length of time they had waited 

to receive an initial diagnosis or assessment: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

vi. How would you describe the time you had to wait between your initial 

assessment/ diagnosis and receiving treatment? 

The survey then moved from the first experiences of seeking help to the time after assessment 

and diagnosis and the wait for treatment. The variation in experiences across different 

conditions was repeated; those people with mental health conditions had a noticeably more 

negative experience than those with cancer.  

 

 

“Appointments continually changed. Different places, different people.” (Rutland – 

Mental health) 

“It was around 2 weeks.” (Rutland – Cancer) 

“Still not sorted now. Struggled since 2009.” (Leicestershire – Mental Health) 

“After many, many, months of fighting for a diagnosis I was told that I had Young Onset 

Alzheimer’s, that it progressed quickly, and my life expectancy was 5 – 8 years. I was 

then asked if I had any questions. That was the end of the support I received.” 

(Dementia focus group – Rutland) 

 

130



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

27 

vii. After being diagnosed or assessed, were you offered access to further health 

and care support? 

All conditions showed a higher percentage of respondents who were offered access to further 

health care and support except people with dementia.  

Chart 5

 

viii. If you accessed support, what aspects worked well? 

63 people gave a free text reply to this question.  Most stated that condition-specific services 

based either in the hospital or in the community worked well.  Over 50% of the comments 

commended their specialist nurse or treatment. 

 

 

 

 

 

ix. If you accessed support, what aspect could be improved? 

50 free text replies were received for this question.  The most common response was that 

nothing could have been improved (8 comments). 

With no other dominant theme emerging, 4 people would have liked quicker access to support 

and 4 would have liked quicker access to treatment. 

 

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Autism Cancer Dementia Heart and
lung diseases

Learning
disability

Long-term
condition e.g.

diabetes,
arthritis

Mental health

After diagnosis, were you offered further help and care?

No Yes

“Excellent support from the medical health professional.  Computer program enabled me 

to engage with support materials and these were assessed on a regular basis by the Medical 

health professional with feedback and encouragement.” (Leicestershire – Dementia) 

“O.T. assessment & equipment supplied for the house and installation of home alarm.” 

(Rutland – Dementia  

 

131



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

28 

x. Were you referred to a specialist? 

All conditions reported a higher percentage of people saying they were referred to a specialist 

however there was still a relatively high percentage of people with autism or dementia who said 

they were not referred to a specialist.

Chart 7

 

 

As Table 12 below shows, the time taken to see a specialist correlates with earlier results.  

Those with mental health conditions waited the longest and those with cancer waited the least. 

Table 12. Time taken to see a specialist sorted by condition 

Time to see a specialist Don't know Very fast Fast OK Slow Very slow 

Autism 11% 
0% 

0% 0% 7% 6% 

Cancer 11% 
63% 

21% 11% 33% 0% 

Dementia 0% 
0% 

14% 11% 13% 3% 

Heart and lung diseases 0% 
13% 

7% 11% 0%  

Learning disability 22% 
0% 

14% 11% 0% 3% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis 

11% 
13% 

29% 39% 13% 23% 

Mental health 44% 
13% 

14% 18% 33% 57% 

Grand Total 100% 
100% 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

*% of row total 

 

 

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Autism Cancer Dementia Heart and
lung diseases

Learning
disability

Long-term
condition e.g.

diabetes,
arthritis

Mental health

Were you referred to a specialist? By condition type

No Yes

132



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

29 

The respondents were then invited to say more about the length of time they waited to see a 

specialist. The contrast between the mental health and cancer patients is further reflected: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

xi. If you needed it, how easy did you find it to access ongoing support after you 

were diagnosed or assessed?  

With ever increasing significance for the results, more people with mental health conditions 

found it ‘very difficult’ or ‘difficult’ to access ongoing support.  Cancer patients reported the 

greatest ease. The full results for all conditions are shown in Table 13. 

Table 13. How easy was it to access support? 

How easy was it to access 
further support 

Don't know Very difficult Difficult OK Easy Very easy 

Autism 0% 13% 13% 13% 0% 13% 

Cancer 0% 14% 24% 19% 14% 29% 

Dementia 0% 27% 13% 27% 13% 0% 

Heart and lung diseases 8% 8% 31% 15% 23% 0% 

Learning disability 0% 20% 10% 30% 10% 10% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis 

3% 20% 17% 31% 14% 11% 

Mental health 4% 33% 37% 8% 8% 6% 

Grand Total 3% 23% 25% 19% 12% 10% 

*% of row total 

When adding the variable of age, the results indicated that the younger the respondent, the 

worse their experience or, perhaps, the higher their expectations.  Conversely, elderly patients 

are more satisfied with their experience or they might have lower expectations than younger 

patients. This is demonstrated in the following Chart 7. 

 “Same day as admission.” (Leicester – Cancer) 

“I saw my surgeon within a week of diagnosis.” (Leicestershire – 

Cancer) 

“6 weeks.” (Rutland – Mental Health) 

“Usually 15 months.” (Leicester – Mental Health) 

 

 

133



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

30 

Chart 7.

 

 

xii. Did the support option you were offered meet your expectations?  

The suspicions about younger and older people having differing expectations in section (3.1.xi 

after Table 13) seem confirmed by Chart 7 above and Chart 8 below:  

Chart 8 

 

 

Again, more people with mental health conditions and those with autism said their expectations 

were not met.  The highest reports of expectations having been met were from those with heart 

and lung conditions as Chart 9 reveals. 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

How easy was it to access further support? By Age

Very difficult Very easy Linear (Very difficult) Linear (Very easy)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Were your expectations met?

No Yes Linear (No) Linear (Yes)

134



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

31 

Chart 9

 

81 (57 not met/ 24 met) respondents then described in their own words how their expectations 

of support had not been met or could be improved.   

By analysing the comments left, the main reasons given for expectations not being met or how 

expectations could have been improved are -  

• Expectations would have been met if support was greater or more consistent 

(13 comments) 

 

 

 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Autism Cancer Dementia Heart and
lung diseases

Learning
disability

Long-term
condition e.g.

diabetes,
arthritis

Mental health

Were your expectations met?

No Somewhat Yes

“GP has never offered me follow up appointments to see how I am and if my medication 

is helping me and certainly has never suggested I have blood tests to check that the 

medication is not affecting me physically - they just keep on prescribing the tablets!” 

(Rutland - Mental Health) 

 

“I was discharged after the SCAD and heart attack with absolutely no advice.  I'm 6 

months on and have still not seen the specialist, got to wait until end of July. They 

referred me for cardiac rehab but that still has not happened and they won’t even put 

me on the three month waiting list so it's going to be over a year since the heart attack 

before I get to rehab, so at the minute, I am vegetating at home as I have been given 

absolutely no support whatsoever.  Not even a leaflet about SCAD, which I managed to 

source myself from SCADUK.” (Leicestershire-Heart and lung disease) 

 

135



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

32 

• Expectations would have been met had communications been better. (10 comments) 

 

 

 

 

• Expectation would have improved if there hadn’t needed to chase up on 

support/service - (6 comments) 

 

xiii. During your whole experience of getting support did you receive timely and 

consistent communication from all the services that you came into contact 

with?  

Cancer is the only condition where more patients had a positive experience of consistent 

communication. There was no geographic or demographic bias within the cancer cohort. 

Chart 10 

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

Autism Cancer Dementia Heart and
lung diseases

Learning
disability

Long-term
condition e.g.

diabetes,
arthritis

Mental health

Was communication consistent?

No Somewhat Yes

 

"We had to catch up with a lot of information ourselves - no updates or information on 

what is being done.” (Leicestershire - Mental Health) 

“Non-expert GP made a decision without listening to our family lived experience or 

evidence from other professionals.” (Leicestershire - Autism) 

 

 

 

 

 

“98% of the time there has been no problem but, on a few occasions, and they really are 

only a few, I have had to chase people up to get information that they should have 

provided to me in the first place.” (Leicester – Type 1 Diabetes) 

“I had to chase counselling by telephone and was often transferred to the wrong place or 

person, very frustrating and hard when you have had to pluck up the courage to bare your 

heart & soul to explain what it is you are after, not everyone I spoke to was trained in 

mental health and you could hear the awkwardness down the phone.” (Mental Health – 

Leicestershire) 

 

 

 

136



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

33 

3.2  Transport and time spent travelling to access support and care 

The focus of this section is on transport and travelling to access health and care services.  55% of 

respondents travelled in their own care and 24% in another person’s car when accessing support 

and care. Individual conditions were examined. That is, 79% of the people surveyed were 

dependent on private cars rather than public transport or other means. A higher percentage of 

people with learning disabilities travelled in another person’s car. For all other conditions, a 

higher percentage of people travelled in their own cars.  

i. How much time would you be willing to travel for to receive a quick and 

accurate diagnosis?  

30 minutes – 1 hour was the most common response for each mode of transport. With the 

exception of bicycle travel, there was a general unwillingness to travel for more than 2 hours. 

This was the same for all condition types, demographics and areas. 

Table 14. Willingness to spend time travelling 

How much time would you be 
willing to travel 

Less than 30 
minutes 

30 minutes to 1 
hour 

1 - 2 hours Over 2 
hours 

Another person's car 27% 46% 19% 8% 

Bicycle 
0% 0% 0% 100% 

Bus 
17% 44% 28% 6% 

Own car 
13% 49% 21% 17% 

Taxi 33% 67% 0% 0% 

Train 
50% 50% 0% 0% 

Grand Total 18% 47% 20% 13% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

34 

ii. How much time would you be willing to travel to receive specialist treatment 

or support? 

Table 15. Willingness to travel for specialist support by condition 

Travel for specialist 
support 

Less than 30 
minutes 

30 minutes to 1 
hour 

1-2 hours More than 2 hours 

Autism 
13% 50% 25% 13% 

Cancer  
10% 43% 29% 19% 

Dementia  
0% 60% 27% 13% 

Heart and lung diseases 
15% 23% 38% 23% 

Learning disability 
0% 80% 10% 10% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis  

12% 44% 38% 6% 

Mental health  
23% 45% 23% 9% 

Grand Total  
14% 47% 28% 12% 

 

Irrespective of condition, the majority of people are willing to travel up to one hour to see a 

specialist and people with heart and lung disease are slightly more willing to travel for longer. 

This indicates that people are prepared or expect to travel further and for a longer time to see a 

specialist.  It is important to note that, as Rutland has no acute hospitals within its boundaries, 

patients must travel out of county to Leicester, Peterborough, Grantham, Nottingham or 

Kettering. It is unsurprising, then, that travel and transport figured highly in the Rutland public’s 

concerns when asked about transport to health and care services. Without access to a private 

car and with limited public transport, getting to any of the acute hospitals can take many hours. 

Even if patients do have access to private transport, at peak travel and parking times a 

relatively short journey across country lanes and congested city roads can take longer than the 

30-60 minutes the survey respondents were willing to accept. 

 

3.3  Your expectations at each stage of your care  

Section 3.1 asked those living with long term conditions about specific experiences.  This section 

concentrates on the expectations people had, how they were met and their hopes and 

expectations for the future as they pass along the illness trajectory.  There is a particular focus 

on determining whether people value speedier appointments without the continuity of a familiar 

health and care professional or whether they prefer to see professionals they know but have to 

wait longer to do so. 

  

 

 

138



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

35 

i.  What is most important to you when first seeking help? 

Table 16. Who people prefer to see 

Who would you want to see when 
first accessing help 

Don’t mind Seeing a health 
professional you normally 
see but you may have to 
wait 

Seeing any medically 
appropriate health 
professional who is free 
immediately 

Autism 50% 13% 38% 

Cancer 15% 5% 80% 

Dementia 13% 44% 44% 

Heart and lung diseases 8% 33% 58% 

Learning disability 30% 30% 40% 

Long-term condition e.g. diabetes, 
arthritis 

24% 21% 55% 

Mental health 13% 37% 50% 

Grand Total 19% 28% 54% 

 

54% of people would rather see any professional who is available immediately rather than wait 

to see someone they normally see at this stage. However, more people with autism said they 

don’t mind and people with dementia had no preference. 

ii. What is most important to you when you first receive a diagnosis and 

explanation of treatment or support options? 

Once a diagnosis has been made, people’s opinions about the value of speedier appointments at 

the expense of seeing a familiar health and care professional have minimal changes except for 

those with learning disabilities as the following Table 17 shows: 

Table 17. Who people prefer to see when they first receive a diagnosis and future options 

When you’ve been diagnosed Don’t 
mind 

Seeing a health professional 
you normally see but you 

may have to wait 

Seeing any medically appropriate 
health professional who is free 

immediately 

Autism 42.86% 28.57% 28.57% 

Cancer 5.00% 45.00% 50.00% 

Dementia 18.75% 43.75% 37.50% 

Heart and lung diseases 0.00% 50.00% 50.00% 

Learning disability 20.00% 60.00% 20.00% 

Long-term condition e.g. diabetes, 
arthritis 

17.65% 32.35% 50.00% 

Mental health 14.58% 45.83% 39.58% 

Grand Total 14.97% 42.86% 42.18% 

 

139



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

36 

Again, a higher percentage of people with autism said they ‘don’t mind’. There was a marked 

increase in the percentage of people with learning disabilities saying they would prefer to see 

the health professional they normally see even if they have to wait. People with undefined long-

term conditions still prefer to see any health professional more quickly.  For the rest of the 

conditions, there were small percentage difference between the two options of seeing a known 

profession and waiting or seeing an unknown professional more quickly.   

iii. What is most important to you during your initial treatment or support? 

Table 18. Who people prefer to see during initial treatment/support 

During initial treatment Don’t 
mind 

Seeing a health professional 
you normally see but you 

may have to wait 

Seeing any medically appropriate 
health professional who is free 

immediately 

Autism 57.14% 28.57% 14.29% 

Cancer 5.00% 35.00% 60.00% 

Dementia 12.50% 43.75% 43.75% 

Heart and lung diseases 8.33% 33.33% 58.33% 

Learning disability 20.00% 70.00% 10.00% 

Long-term condition e.g. diabetes, 
arthritis 

21.88% 15.63% 62.50% 

Mental health 12.77% 59.57% 27.66% 

Grand Total 15.97% 41.67% 42.36% 

 

A comparison of Tables 16 (first seeking support) and 17 (first diagnosis) with Table 18 (first 

treatment) demonstrates that people’s expectations change as they progress along the illness 

trajectory from diagnosis to treatment.  At the first treatment stage, those with cancer, 

dementia, heart and lung illnesses and undefined conditions now showed a greater preference 

for speed rather than seeing someone they know.  Those with learning difficulties and mental 

health conditions now show a greater preference for familiarity than speed.  Those with autism 

show a greater tendency not to mind. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

140



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

37 

iv. What is most important to you during your long-term support? 

When asked about expectations of long-term support, the responses show more shifts in 

expectations.  

Table 19. Who people prefer to see during long term support 

Ongoing support Don’t mind 
Seeing a health professional 

you normally see but you may 
have to wait 

Seeing any medically appropriate 
health professional who is free 

immediately 

Autism 50% 50% 0% 

Cancer 5% 50% 45% 

Dementia 6% 75% 19% 

Heart and lung diseases 9% 55% 36% 

Learning disability 10% 60% 30% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis 

21% 48% 30% 

Mental health 11% 72% 17% 

Grand Total 14% 61% 26% 

 

Comparing Tables 17 (first diagnosis), 18 (first treatment) and 19 (long-term support) shows that 

the total of ‘don’t minds’ remains very similar. However, there is, from first diagnosis to long-

term support, an increase in people preferring to see the professional they normally see and be 

prepared to wait (up from 42.86% to 61%).  This was most marked in people with dementia (up 

from 43.75% to 75%) and people with mental health conditions (up from 45.83% to 72%). People 

with all conditions, except those with learning disabilities demonstrated a lower preference over 

the illness trajectory for seeing any professional sooner.  Those with dementia, learning 

disabilities and mental health conditions all showed a reduced percentage in ‘don’t mind’ from 

‘first treatment’ to ‘long term support’.  This suggests that people living with long term 

conditions build up effective (and, possibly, affective) relationships with ‘their’ professionals 

over the illness trajectory.  Continuity of care is obviously valued by patients and their families 

or carers. 

3.4  Supporting you to have more control over your own care 

Central aims of the NHS Long Term Plan are ‘personalised care’ (care for the whole person 

according to individual needs and preferences and not just a specific illness) and helping those 

with long term conditions to stay well for as long as possible, manage their conditions 

themselves and avoid acute hospital emergency admissions.  This following section therefore 

focusses on the support people want from the NHS to achieve these aims. 

141



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

38 

i. What level of support do you want the NHS to provide to help you stay 

healthy?  

63% of respondents said they wanted ‘some support’ and 26% wanted 'a lot of support'.  There 

was no variation across different demographics or areas.  Table 20 shows the results in full: 

Table 20. The level of support people want to stay healthy 

Level of Support A lot of support Some support Don't know I don't need support 

Autism 33% 56% 0% 11% 

Cancer 19% 67% 5% 10% 

Dementia 20% 67% 7% 7% 

Heart and lung diseases 15% 62% 8% 15% 

Learning disability 40% 50% 0% 10% 

Long-term condition e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis 

21% 79% 0% 0% 

Mental health 32% 54% 6% 8% 

Grand Total 26% 63% 4% 7% 

 

100% of the people with unspecified conditions wanted ‘some support’ or ‘a lot of support’. The 

second highest need for support was expressed by those living with dementia.  77% of patients 

with heart and lung conditions expressed the lowest need for ‘a lot of support’ or ‘some support’ 

and were the biggest group to say they did not need support.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

142



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

39 

ii. What could the NHS do to help you stay healthy or manage any condition you 

have? 

97 people responded to this free text question and the following themes emerged from 

their replies:  

• Better access to services – less delays or waiting times. (14 comments) 

 

• Supporting local activities - better access to non-medical help and support. (13 

comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Better training for staff – better understanding of the patients and their condition. 

(11 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Make it possible to get an appointment and even more so, to be able to see the same 

doctor each time.  We have over a dozen doctors at our practice and you are lucky to 

be able to get an appointment with anyone, yet alone someone you have seen before.  

Same at the hospitals, you see someone different every time.  There is absolutely no 

continuity of care so how on earth can the doctors understand what is happening?” 

(Leicestershire – Heart and Lung) 

“Work with me to help me integrate the medical care I need into my ‘normal’ life.  I 

have a life limiting condition but I want to live the life I have, not spend all my time 

waiting for medical care of one sort or another.” (Rutland – Cancer) 

“To give support positively for a good change such as lifestyle and wellbeing.” 

(Leicestershire – Autism) 

“Signposting to local facilities to support or encourage me to remain healthy and 

increase my wellbeing. In order to signpost, the NHS needs to be aware of all the local 

activities and this is something that Public Health could amass and provide.” 

(Leicestershire – Dementia) 

 

“Provide more training and information for lesser known conditions, especially those 

that are 'invisible illnesses' and provide more support to the patient going through the 

experience, it seems those with invisible illnesses don't get the time and effort.” 

(Leicestershire - Long Term Conditions E.g. Arthritis, Diabetes) 

 

143



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

40 

iii. If you have any further comments, please write them below 

The survey finished by inviting free text comments.  64 comments covering a wide range of 

themes were received. Some of these emerging themes include:  

• More local support. (5 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Better access to services.  (5 comments) 

 

 

 

• Positive experience – patients sharing their personal positive experience.  

(5 comments) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Living on the border of 3 counties I didn’t know where to go for help. Carers’ groups 

do not exist in villages, so you have to travel. You have to be able to drive, 

sometimes, 40 miles just for 1-hour carers’ session. Dementia is tiring but living in 

rural areas means you are isolated and ill-informed; all adding to the stress.” 

(Leicestershire – Dementia) 

“Far too few children’s mental health and psych [sic] services. It’s appalling in our 

area.” (Leicestershire – Autism) 

 

“We feel a lot of time is wasted attending appointments and then finding we have to 

repeat them because the person has left or is on long-term sick.  We have assessment 

after assessment and little practical action.  If we had a personal budget for 

physio/SALT we could have effective block bookings rather than consistently starting 

and stopping and being reassessed.” (Rutland – Learning Disabilities) 

 

“The care I have received and continue to receive is exceptional.  My consultant works 

with me to provide me with the best quality of life I can have. I am very lucky, but I 

am very aware that other people have found it to be frightening and overwhelming to 

have a rare cancer without sufficient support.  There is nothing more unnerving than 

to have to call out a paramedic or get admitted to A&E to have the medical 

professional treating you admit they have never heard of the condition you have!” 

(Leicestershire – Cancer) 

 

144



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

41 

3.5  Summary of the long-term conditions survey findings 

• People who have mental health conditions receive a slow and unsatisfactory service 

throughout their illness trajectory.  They are most likely to want to see the same health 

and care professionals even if they have to wait longer. 

• People with cancer receive the quickest and most satisfactory service. 

• People want health and care professionals to have more knowledge about their illnesses, 

local support services and a greater understanding of the impact of their illnesses on 

their families. 

• People in Leicestershire have to wait longer to get a diagnosis than those in Rutland and 

Leicester city. 

• All the respondents, except those with cancer, want communications to be improved. 

• Patients with long term conditions build relationships with health and care professionals 

and value continuity of care. 

• Most people with long-term conditions want some or a lot of support; especially those 

with dementia and unspecified long-term conditions; but people with dementia are least 

likely to be offered ongoing care and support. Those with heart and lung conditions 

require the least support. 

• People are prepared to travel up to one hour to access health and care services but will 

make somewhat longer journeys to see a specialist. 

• Younger people find it harder to access health and care services and their expectations of 

doing so are not being met. 

• Those who have been diagnosed with a long-term condition in the last three years 

consider they have had a less satisfactory service than those who were diagnosed more 

than 3 years ago. 

  

145



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

42 

4.Focus groups, interviews and patients’ stories   

In this section, attention switches from the two surveys with standardised questions and choice 

options to the thematic analysis of data collected from focus groups, semi-structured interviews 

and patients’ stories.  These were intended to complement the surveys by providing rich detail 

about people’s experiences and expectations of the NHS.  The participants came from the 

following groups: 

• Carers 

• Young people (up to age 25 years) with learning disabilities and/or autism and/or 

additional needs 

• Those living with dementia 

• Hospital outpatients  

 

4.1 Carers and caring 

Carers told us that being a carer can be described as ‘a labour of love’ which involves minimal 

financial reward and long hours. Specifically, many carers in the dementia interviews and in one 

patient’s story alerted us to the extra burden placed on them by the responsibility for ordering, 

storing and administering medications to patients.  The carer role is often accompanied by a 

sense of personal loss: loss of career and salary expectations; loss of previous relationships with 

significant others – often due to the mental and/or physical ravages of illness; loss of a former 

identity; and loss of a social life.  There is a sense of injustice in that: there are few concessions 

for carers; their own health is often considered by NHS professionals to be secondary to that of 

the patients; the carers’ allowance is tax deductible; and carers think that hospitals, sometimes 

dangerously, discharge patients before they are ready to go home because they know that the 

carers are there to ‘pick up the pieces’. In addition, carers felt that professionals, sometimes 

erroneously, might dismiss their own very valid opinions and give primacy to the patients’ 

opinions about their care and support needs. Carers did, however, praise their inclusion in 

hospital patients’ drink rounds and hospitals’ ‘carers’ pamphlets. 

4.2 Transport 

Hospitals are also criticised for inadequate attention to carers’ needs in car parks and, in 

particular, the University Hospitals of Leicester inconsistent policy of charging carers with ‘blue 

badges’ for car parking at the Royal Infirmary but not at Glenfield Hospital or the General 

Hospital. 

Transport problems were particularly felt in Rutland and in the County by dementia patients and 

their carers, many of whom are elderly.  All the dementia patients spoke sadly of their inability 

146



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

43 

to continue driving.  They were heavily dependent on their carers or social networks to drive 

them to appointments and social activities. 

One group of carers usefully suggested that a ‘park and ride’ scheme for the Leicester hospitals 

would solve a lot of travel problems. 

4.3  Social and community support   

Rutland has 3 groups for young people with disabilities: Youth Chaos (ages 11-25 years, for 

special educational needs and disabilities); Disabled Youth Forum (run by Rutland County Council 

for young people, aged 14-25 years, with a variety of disabilities to facilitate their feedback to 

local services and facilities); Out of Hours Club (a voluntary organisation arranging social events 

and outings for those 18 years and over). 

Dementia patients and their carers in Rutland spoke highly about their specific social groups: the 

Memory Café organised by Age UK; Rutland Reminders (a singing group); Active Rutland 

(swimming and walking); Rutland Community Ventures (arts activities).  

The Carers Centre Leicestershire and Rutland (CLASP) caters for all carers in LLR and holds 

several workshops a week which are usually held in Leicester. There are also several Carers 

Support Groups in Leicester and Leicestershire. In Rutland, there are several organisations 

including Rutland Rotoract Family Support Drop-in sessions and Age UK Rutland Carers Support 

Groups. 

In common with the survey responses, many of the participants thought they had been ill 

informed by NHS professionals about the groups, support services and benefits available to them 

and often ‘just happened to find them’. 

 

 

 

 

Participants variously informed of their involvement in other social activities and community 

support: church groups; friends, family and neighbours; the Admiral nurses in Rutland; a local 

chemist in Leicestershire who was prepared to do blood tests; and group therapy for children 

with ADHD2.   

 
2 Attention deficit hyperactive disorder 

“Most young people wanted a lot more communication about services available to 

them, but they want it in a way they could understand.  They also wanted more 

people to tell them about activities they could take part in.  These people, they 

think, should be people they know.” (Rutland learning disabilities focus group) 

147



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

44 

Despite the lower ratings given in the survey for the importance of community support, this 

seems much valued by the participants, with carers, particularly, saying there is ‘a need to 

speak to somebody who is not a professional’. 

4.4  Speaking to professionals and professionals’ communication 

Speaking to health and care professionals is often necessary and can be very stressful.   

Getting through on the telephone to GP surgeries is difficult and securing a GP appointment can 

be a ‘very major stress’. Whereas Melton Mowbray carers thought their GP practice should 

employ more specialist nurses, one Loughborough carer said she ‘did not like seeing nurse 

practitioners as she felt they were not adequately qualified to deal with issues that should be 

addressed by the GP’  An example of difficulties with surgery appointments was provided by a 

carer who was given appointments for blood tests for himself and his wife, who has dementia, 

on the same day but some time apart.  They had to decide whether to make two journeys or sit 

and wait in the surgery! 

Many participants also complained about waiting to see a specialist.  For example, one carer 

waited for 6 months for his wife to be seen by an incontinence nurse and another was still 

waiting some 6 months after being referred to an allergy clinic.  The young people with learning 

disabilities also expressed the distress and anxiety they experience as they are ‘passed around’ 

different specialists with, for them, little or no tangible outcome. 

Communications between different hospitals, between GP’s and hospitals and between 

hospitals, GPs and patients/carers are often fraught with difficulty.  This was more so when, as 

often happens in Rutland, patients go outside of the LLR footprint (system) for primary or 

secondary care. There is a sense that organisational systems ‘do not talk to each other’ across 

the boundaries.  

One of the patients’ stories tells about the difficulties for the University Hospitals of Leicester in 

securing a full medical history from an out-of-county-hospital where treatment had been 

commenced.  Another patient talks of his frustration as he has to travel from one of the Rutland 

villages to Haematology outpatients at Leicester Royal Infirmary just to be told that his blood 

results are within normal limits.  He asks why Haematology cannot just make the results 

available to him and his GP on his electronic record.  A third patient was told she must travel 

some 20 miles to Leicester Royal Infirmary to have her dressing changed when it could easily 

have been done locally in Oakham.  

 

 

 

148



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

45 

4.5  The use of technology 

The dementia interviews and learning disabilities focus groups draw attention to the issue of 

digital exclusion.  Although simple gadgets like panic alarms or monitoring equipment provide 

considerable reassurance, computers and other technology are often too difficult to operate for 

those with cognitive impairment: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.6  Summary of the findings from the focus groups, interviews and patients’ stories 

• Carers often feel they are undervalued, are experiencing many losses, work long hours and 

have many responsibilities. They value hospital, GP, social and community support but 

would welcome more and better signposting to it.  The management of medications is 

problematic. 

• There are illness-specific social groups available in Rutland for young people with learning 

disabilities and additional needs and for people with dementia which seem highly valued. 

• Transport to access health and care services can be problematic, especially for those in 

rural areas.  One worthwhile suggestion is that of the introduction of a ‘park and ride’ 

scheme from Leicester city outskirts to the Leicester hospitals. 

• All groups would value more information from NHS professionals about benefits, social 

groups and support services etc. 

• Communications with the NHS and between NHS services are poor, cause extra anxieties 

and need to be improved. 

  

“From the Out of Hours Club – most can use a phone and make and receive calls.  

Fewer can use their phones for texts.  Even fewer use their phones, tablets or 

computers to browse the Internet.  However, ¾ of the group have email 

addresses.” (Rutland – learning disabilities volunteer) 

“We did think about using Alexa (Amazon Echo) to remind Mum but somebody 

told us it would muddle her up even more.  We are interested in Hive but have 

not really looked into it.  That might be for the future.” (Rutland – dementia 

patient carer) 

 

 

149



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

46 

5. Conclusion 

This engagement has provided a snapshot of the public’s opinions and experiences of, and 

expectations and aspirations for, our NHS.  The results of each survey and major themes arising 

from focus groups, interviews and patients’ stories have been summarised at the end of their 

respective sections.  It is therefore not our intention to summarise them again here – but, 

rather, to reflect on how these results might be used, how they can help shape Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland health and care services and what questions might arise from the 

results. 

5.1 How can the results be used? 

Firstly, this report will be published and distributed across the Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland footprint for health and care commissioners and providers, local authorities, policy 

makers and the general public.  We hope that, in turn, readers will use the public’s voice to 

guide them in preserving the best of our local NHS, to make improvements for all of us where 

needed and to transform where safe, advantageous and manageable. 

Secondly, the results of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Better Care Together footprint 

will combine with the results from all other Healthwatch areas and provide the Government with 

a national snapshot of what the public want from the NHS. 

5.2  How can these results shape local health and care services? 

In Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland we are in the midst of big changes.  Plans for both a 

community services redesign and new buildings for the University Hospitals of Leicester are 

developing.  Changes in senior managers in commissioning and provider teams are being made.  

The movements towards an Integrated Care System are underway. Our GP practices have been 

organised into Primary Care Networks and we will soon be experiencing new ways of care 

delivery in primary care with new professional groups in our surgeries.  These include social 

prescribers, clinical pharmacists, physician associates and paramedics. Within this significant 

time of change, this report provides evidence of what the public want.  Healthwatch can 

therefore use these results to represent the public voice and work with, and, yet, when 

necessary, critically challenge, commissioners and providers of health and care services in order 

to seek continued improvement for the local population. 

 

 

 

 

150



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

47 

5.3  What questions arise from the results? 

So many questions have been asked in this project that it is essential to consider whether the 

results, in turn, have raised questions.  The answer is undoubtedly, ‘yes’ as we now list some 

that we have and which will, hopefully, provoke further debate: 

• How does this latest Healthwatch project fit in with the broader engagement the Better 

Care Together team have been doing and intend to continue? 

• Which of Healthwatch results have the greatest significance? 

• Does the Better Care Together team have plans to investigate any elements of this work 

further?  

• Could the Better Care Together team now set out their timeline for producing their local 

plan? 

And 

• If so, what role does the Better Care Together team members see public engagement 

playing in the future in terms of tracking the progress of this plan? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

151



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

48 

Response from Better Care Together the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership for 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

 

The NHS Long Term Plan was published in January 2019.  It sets out a vision for developing a new 

service model fit for the 21st Century.  There is an emphasis for the need to break down artificial 

barriers that exist between the NHS organisations over many years and increasingly focus on 

networks of NHS and other care providers working together to manage the health of the 

population we serve.   

 

Following the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan, existing Sustainability and Transformation 

Partnerships (STPs), such as Better Care Together in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, have 

been asked to develop and implement their own response, outlining in a five-year strategic plan 

what they will do at a local level to deliver the commitments set out in the NHS Long Term Plan. 

Each local health system has been asked to ensure that they understand their local population 

and ensure that the five-year strategic plan align to their needs and tackle five major service 

changes: 

 

• Boosting out-of-hospital care 

• Redesigning and reducing pressure on hospital services 

• Giving people more control over their own health and more personalised care when they 

need it 

• Better using digital technology to provide some care 

• Focusing on better partnerships between health and local authority funded services 

 

‘What matters to you?: Patient and Public Engagement by Healthwatch Leicester, Healthwatch 

Leicestershire and Healthwatch Rutland Report produced as part of the Healthwatch England 

project has been used to influence the creation of the five-year strategic plan for Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 

The Better Care Together partners recognise that by undertaking this work that Healthwatch 

organisations have provided a valuable opportunity for people to inform the local health system 

about what is important to them and share their hopes for the future of health and care services 

locally.  This research comprises of the experiences and views of a range of different 

communities including our most vulnerable groups which will help us to ensure equality of care.   

 

The findings of the report are being examined against insights and business intelligence 

undertaken by Better Care Together partners.  This is providing a rich seam of learning and 

business intelligence to inform our plans to improve the health and well-being of people.    

 

The report will also contribute to the ongoing design of services and care coordinated through 

the Better Care Together clinical work streams and also the enabling work streams.  This will 

provide a lasting legacy helping us to shift us towards providing personalised and integrated 

health and social care. 

 

 

 

 

 

152



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

49 

Acknowledgements 

Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire 

• Gillian Jillett 

• Gemma Barrow 

• Nazmin Pirbhai 

• Bryonie Mellor 

• Micheal Smith 

• Harsha Kotecha 

• Shireen Bharuchi 

Healthwatch Rutland 

• Leila Mars 

• Tracey Allan-Jones 

• Janet Underwood 

• Jacqui Darlington 

• Margaret Demaine 

Engaging Communities Staffordshire 

• Victoria Stapleton 

Healthwatch England 

• Jo Spenceley 

  

153



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

50 

Appendix 1 – Demographic breakdown of General 

survey responses  

Row 
Labels 

Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

18-24 6 8 2 

25-34 30 11 5 

35-44 17 16 6 

45-54 17 21 15 

55-64 25 36 22 

65-74 25 47 18 

75+ 13 35 30 

Under 18 7 1 3 

Row Labels Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

African 8   

Any other mixed 

background 
2 1 1 

Any other white 

background 
6 3 4 

Asian British 14 6 1 

Bangladeshi 2   

Black British   1 

Caribbean 9 3  

Indian 26 2  

Other 5 3 2 

White British 68 159 92 

    

Disability Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

I’d prefer not to say 81 77 56 

No 38 59 28 

Yes 21 38 18 

    

Are you a carer? Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

No 126 130 88 

Yes 15 47 13 

Grand Total 141 177 101 

154



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

51 

Carer Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

No 37% 38% 26% 

Yes 20% 63% 17% 
 

Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

No 81 77 56 

Yes I have a long term health condition 38 59 28 

Yes I have more than one long term health 

condition 
21 38 18 

 

Sexuality Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Asexual 1   

Bisexual 1 3  

Gay or lesbian 2 2 1 

Heterosexual 111 143 88 

I'd prefer not to say 13 24 7 

Other 11 6 3 

Pansexual  1  

 

Sex Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Female 87 120 66 

I'd prefer not to 

say 
6 8 2 

Male 48 50 33 

Other  1  

 

Religion Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Buddhist 1 2 1 

Christian 51 103 56 

Hindu 13 3  

I'd prefer not to 

say 
9 7 12 

Jewish  1  

Muslim 26 1 1 

No religion 29 57 27 

Other 10 5 4 

Sikh 3   

Grand Total 142 179 101 

155



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

52 

 

Appendix 2 - Demographic breakdown of  

Respondents of Conditions survey 

Your age 
   

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

18-24 4 3 2 

25-34 1 8 6 

35-44 1 19 4 

45-54 3 12 5 

55-64 5 16 10 

65-74 6 18 11 

75+  11 7 

Under 18   1 

Grand Total 20 87 46 

Your ethnicity 
   

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

African 2 1  

Any other white 

background 
2 3 2 

Asian British 1 2 1 

Black British   2 

Gypsy or Irish Traveller  1  

Indian 1   

Other  1  

White British 14 78 40 

Grand Total 20 86 45 

Do you consider yourself to 

have a disability? 

   

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

I'd prefer not to say 1 7 2 

No 10 42 20 

Yes 9 38 23 

Grand Total 20 87 45 

Are you a carer? 
   

156



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

53 

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

No 16 61 35 

Yes 3 21 9 

Grand Total 19 82 44 

Which of the following best 

describes you? 

   

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Bisexual  2 1 

Gay or lesbian  3  

Heterosexual 18 69 36 

I'd prefer not to say 2 11 3 

Other   1 

Grand Total 20 85 41 

What gender do you 

identify as? 

   

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Female 15 54 27 

I'd prefer not to say 1 2  

Male 4 31 17 

Grand Total 20 87 44 

Which, if any best describes 

your religious beliefs? 

   

 
Leicester Leicestershire Rutland 

Buddhist  3 1 

Christian 11 46 31 

Hindu  1  

I'd prefer not to say 1 10 3 

Jewish 1   

Muslim 1   

No religion 5 24 9 

Other 1 1  

Sikh  1  

Grand Total 20 86 44 

 

 

  

157



NHS Long Term Plan Engagement Programme  

 

What would you do?  

 

54 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

www.healthwatchll.com 

0116 2510601 

@HealthwatchLeic 

enqiries@healthwatchll.com   

       

       

       

             

             

             

             

             

     

http://healthwatchrutland.co.uk 

01572 720381 

      info@healthwatchrutland.co.uk 

      @hwrutland 

            www.facebook.com/healthwatchrutland 

             

          

158

http://www.healthwatchll.com/
mailto:enqiries@healthwatchll.com
http://healthwatchrutland.co.uk/
mailto:info@healthwatchrutland.co.uk


 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 

11 NOVEMBER 2019 

REPORT OF WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP  

HINCKLEY COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES REVIEW 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

regarding the Hinckley Community Health Services Review and to consult with the 

committee regarding the reinstatement and relocation of the x-ray, necessary to meet 

operational needs, ahead of formal public consultation regarding the remaining services 

at Hinckley and District Hospital. 

 

Background 

 

2. Since 2014 West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has been working 

with stakeholders and the local community to develop a proposal for the future of 

planned care services delivered from Hinckley and District Hospital.  

 

Proposals/options 

 

3. The proposal is to make better use of all available existing space in Hinckley Health 

Centre (Hill Street) and at Hinckley and Bosworth Community Hospital (Sunnyside) and 

increase services offered by: 

 

• refurbishing Hinckley Health Centre, to accommodate X-Ray/Ultrasound, 

physiotherapy and increase the number of consulting rooms; 

• creating a combined day case surgery and endoscopy unit with day-case beds at 

Sunnyside, which will provide an increased range of day case procedures and 

cancer screening services for local patients; and 

• Relocation of the out-of-hours primary care service from Hinckley and Bosworth 

Community Hospital (Sunnyside) into Hinckley Health Centre providing out-of-

hours urgent care for local patients; 

• Removing services from buildings like Hinckley and District Hospital that are 

unfortunately not fit for purpose and relocate physiotherapy services into Hinckley 

Health Centre; 

• Relocating some inpatient beds from Sunnyside to provide space for day-case 

beds. 

 

159 Agenda Item 10



 
 

4. A key driving force for change was the need to replace outdated equipment including the 

x-ray machine and a major overhaul of the x-ray department.  The CCG has extensively 

engaged with patients, staff, carers and the public to develop the improvement plans 

and continues to keep them involved. 

 

5. The CCG worked vigorously to attract the capital funding to deliver positive change and 

at every opportunity submitted a bid for the national funding required to implement the 

proposal. In December 2018, £7 million capital funding was approved in principle based 

on a Strategic Outline Case.  The prioritisation that has been given to capital 

expenditure requires a comprehensive process to be followed to ensure that the project 

is robust, affordable, deliverable, and clinically appropriate and meets the needs of the 

local population.  We are currently progressing through step two of a four stage process.  

This is developing the Pre-Consultation Business Case.  Once approved by NHS 

England, we will then consult with the public on the proposal.  After which we complete 

an Outline Business Case and a Full Business Case.  This process is expected to take 

approximately twelve to eighteen months (from now) to complete.  Work will then 

commence work on the buildings and improvements. 

 

6. The CCG remains fully committed to these proposals, that it believes will not only   

deliver the essential improvements needed, but will also expand the services provided to 

people, closer to home.  This includes increasing the number of day case operations, 

range of outpatient clinics and endoscopy services encompassing cancer screening.   

   

Urgent closure of x-ray machine for safety reasons 

  

7. Regrettably on the 9 September 2019, The Alliance (the provider), were forced to take 

the decision for safety reasons, to close the x-ray plain film service provided at Hinckley 

and District Hospital. It was a difficult decision to make at such short notice and a 

situation we had tried to avoid by pursuing solutions and developing a proposal for long-

term improvement.  We were fully aware of the immediate implications for local patients, 

GP’s and medical staff. The reason this decision was forced on the provider is due to the 

aging x-ray equipment becoming a serious health risk to staff working in the department. 

Plans were implemented immediately to ensure that GPs were communicated with and 

were able to make outpatient referrals for their patients in the usual way.  If referred to a 

community hospital, patients are called by the imaging team and offered a suitable 

choice of an appointment at another community site.  As Coalville Community Hospital is 

the nearest site, staff resources were relocated there. As a result there has been an 

increase in the numbers of patients seen in x-ray at Coalville Community Hospital, an 

indication that patients are travelling to the nearest facility. In addition, patients seen in 

the outpatients department at Hinckley and District Hospital who require x-ray are 

currently being directed to alternative sites in line with our contingency plan.  Two clinics 

that are known to be heavily dependent on x-ray have temporarily been relocated to 

160



 
 

other Alliance sites. This has been done to ensure patient convenience and safety.  

Operationally these plans have been successful.   

 

8. The provision of Ultrasound is still available at Hinckley and District Hospital, as is the 

provision of imaging intensified services to support theatre activity.  

 

Work to reinstate the X-ray service in Hinckley 

 

9. West Leicestershire CCG and the Alliance have been working at pace to assess the 

feasibility of reinstating the x-ray service within Hinckley in a shorter timescale than the 

twelve to eighteen months required to implement the long-term proposals for 

improvements.  A number of options have been pursued. 

 

10. We have been successful in identifying funding from within University Hospitals of 

Leicester’s Capital Expenditure Programme for 2019/20.  The funding is only available 

until the 31 March 2020. This funding would enable the purchase of new x-ray 

equipment and the necessary interior building work at Hinckley Health Centre (adjacent 

to Hinckley and District Hospital) needed to safely install the machine. 

 

11. Continuing to deliver services from Hinckley and District Hospital (Mount Road) including 

x-ray is not sustainable in the long term. Clinical risks of cross-infections, caused by the 

design of the building, is being managed by staff operating rigidly to additional working 

policies and procedures that are not required in modern healthcare buildings. 

 

12. Given that our long term plan, which is subject to consultation, is to refurbish Hinckley 

Health Centre, to accommodate x-ray/ultrasound and increase the number of consulting 

rooms, it would seem logical to install the new equipment directly into Hinckley Health 

Centre,  which would be its permanent home.   

 

13. Within the local area a petition has already been launched calling for x-ray services to be 

returned to Hinckley.  We also know that local people will be pleased that we have found 

a resolution to reinstating x-ray more quickly than we had expected.  However, in 

proceeding we would be doing so ahead of making a decision after a formal consultation 

on this issue and on other elements of the proposal.  However, we believe that there are 

clear benefits in proceeding including:  

 

 Allows the service to be provided closer to the homes of the residents of Hinckley; 

 Reinstates the service within next six months, a much quicker timeframe than the 

twelve to eighteen month period expected;  

 Reduces the inconvenience of bringing patients into the city of Leicester, Nuneaton 

or other locations; 

 Improves the experience for patients; 

161



 
 

 Allows staff to work in a safe environment with new equipment;  

 Delivers services from locations which are fit for providing modern healthcare 

 Gives patient choice over the location of their care and treatment 

  

14. There are significant implications of not installing x-ray at this time.  The funding is time 

limited and would not be available beyond 31 March 2020.  Therefore the current interim 

arrangements would remain in place until the public consultation is complete, which we 

would hope to start in December 2019 for a three month period.  The CCG Governing 

Board would then consider the feedback from the public consultation and make the final 

decision on the proposal.  At this point the reconfiguration work could start.  This 

process would be expected to take up to eighteen months and patients requiring the 

service would be inconvenienced in this time.    

 

 Conclusion 

   

15. West Leicestershire CCG believes that the preferred course of action for patients within 

Hinckley is to reinstate the x-ray machine into the new location at Hinckley Health 

Centre,  which is adjacent to the Hinckley and District Hospital, as quickly as possible, 

without public  consultation.  This will meet both the operational needs of The Alliance 

provider in delivering  safe, high quality care in a suitably designed facility and the needs 

of patients, providing them with care closer to home. However, the CCG is mindful that it 

was the intention to undertake a consultation on the relocation of x-ray alongside the 

wider planned improvement programme within Hinckley. Reinstating x-ray in the Health 

Centre without consultation, for the reasons outlined in this report, require consultation 

with the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to seek views. The feedback from this 

consultation will inform the decision of the West Leicestershire CCG Governing Body to 

proceed with reinstating x-ray and will also support the consultation of the other 

proposed improvements. 

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 

Mr. D.C. Bill CC 

Mrs. A. Wright CC 

Mr. M. Mullaney CC 

Mrs. J. Richards CC 

Mr. I. D. Ould CC 

Mr. B. Crooks CC 

Mr. P. Bedford CC 

Mr. O. O’Shea CC 

Mr. S. Bray CC 

 

 

162



 
 

Officer to Contact 

Spencer Gay 

Chief Finance Officer and Interim Deputy Accountable Officer 

West Leicestershire CCG 

Tel: 01509 567754  

E-mail: spencer.gay@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk 

163



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 13 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH: 
LEICESTERSHIRE’S HEALTH – PHYSICAL ACTIVITY – MOVING TO A 

WHOLE SYSTEMS APPROACH 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 

for 2019. 
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. Last year's report gave an overview of the challenge posed to health of the increase in 
multi-morbidity and frailty and this report includes an update on progress against the 
recommendations made in that report. 

 
Background 

 
3. The Director of Public Health's (DPH) Annual Report is a statutory independent 

report on the health of the population of Leicestershire. 
 

4. The purpose of a Director of Public Health’s annual report is to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the people of Leicestershire. This is done by reporting publicly and 
independently on trends and gaps in the health and wellbeing of the population and 
by making recommendations for improvement to a wide range of organisations. 
 

5. One of the roles of the Director of Public Health is to be an independent advocate for 
the health of their population. The Annual Reports are the main way by which 
Directors of Public Health make their conclusions known to the public. 

 
 
Consultation 
 
6. The report is the independent report of the Director of Public Health. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
7. Full implementation of the recommendations of the report will need to be addressed 

through the commissioning and budget setting cycle. 
 

 

165 Agenda Item 11



 
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 
8. The Annual Report will be considered by the Cabinet on the 22nd November 2019 and 

the Council at its meeting on the 4th December 2019. 

 
Conclusions 
 
9. This year’s report presents data on physical activity across Leicestershire.  Physical 

inactivity directly contributes to one in six deaths in the UK.  Around a quarter of the 
population are classified as inactive, failing to achieve a minimum of 30 minutes of 
activity a week.  Across Leicestershire, the percentage of physically active adults is 
significantly worse than the national average.  Similarly, the percentage of adults 
walking for travel at least three days a week is significantly worse than the national 
average.  Despite this, excess weight in adults is similar to the national average and 
excess weight in children is significantly better than the national average. 

 
10. A complex set of circumstances have contributed, nationally and internationally, to this 

decline in physical activity.  Changes in social, cultural, and economic trends have 
contributed to people participating in less physical activity such as, manual jobs, 
technology at home and work which encourages sedentary behaviours and over 
reliance on cars and motorised transport. 

 
11. The approach outlined in the report accepts that there is no one solution to tackle such 

an ingrained problem and that local action to promote healthy weight across the life 
course requires a coordinated collaborative approach across many different 
organisations.  The report identifies seven key components to a successful physical 
activity system: 

 

 Active Environment 

 Active Travel 

 Active early years and schools 

 Active people and families 

 Active workplace and workforces 

 Active communities 

 Physical activity as medicine 
 
 
12. Organisations across Leicestershire need to work towards a future where active design 

principles are embedded in planning policy and are central to planning decisions 
across Leicestershire.  This would be facilitated by the development of healthy planning 
design guidance adopted by all district councils.  Further work is also needed to 
promote the use of our green assets for physical activity purposes. 

 
13. Public Health will continue to seek opportunities to work more closely with local 

planning authorities to increase provision of active travel and high quality walking 
infrastructure in new developments.  Newly built areas should ideally prioritise cycling 
and walking as the preferred means of transport and the adoption of 20mph 
limits/zones where appropriate.  The ‘extended workforce’ pilot role of Sport England, 
working in Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport, gives valuable additional capacity this 
area. 

 

166



 
 

14. In the school setting public health will advocate additional work in pre-school settings 
and with parents generally, to promote ‘active play’ and by encouraging the uptake of 
the Whole School Approach to Physical Activity (WSAPA) programme across all 
Leicestershire schools. 

 
15. Public Health, again working jointly with LRS, will work with employers to encourage a 

health needs assessment of their workforce and to introduce interventions to reduce 
sedentary time at work and support people as they transition into  retirement to 
continue to be active. 

 
16. In addition there are potentially many opportunities to make social prescribing of 

physical activities such as guided walking, gardening or light conservation work, viable 
alternatives to attending a gym or prescribing unnecessary medicines. 

 
17. By pursuing coordinated action across these seven components, it is envisaged activity 

levels in Leicestershire will increase to above that of the national average.  Learning 
from areas of best practice, such as Greater Manchester, will also help inform the 
whole systems approach. 

 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0116 305 4239 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2019. 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
18. Implementation of the report’s recommendations would have a positive impact on 

health inequalities. 
 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
19. The recommendations within this report focus on actions across agencies that will 

improve the population’s health. The basis of the report is improving population health 
in partnership with other key agencies. 

 
 

167



This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire’s health –  
Physical Activity - Moving to a whole system approach

Annual Report of the  
Director of Public Health 2019

169



1. Foreword
Welcome to my annual report for 2019. In my last annual report we presented an 
infographic picture of the challenge of frailty and multi-morbidity on the health of 
the population of Leicestershire.

That initial look at the challenge of multi-morbidity has led to a more detailed piece of work in the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).  From raising awareness of an issue, we are now moving 
to a phase where there is a real interest in understanding which groups of people with multiple 
health conditions use hospital care, and which groups within those are more amenable to preventing 
deterioration. That detailed work will be of critical importance in understanding our approach to what 
is known as ‘population health management’.  As can be seen in the ‘update on recommendations’, 
the report has led to action and progress on a number of areas such as tackling loneliness, ‘social 
prescribing’ and supporting the NHS in their redesign work. 

In this year’s report I have focussed on physical activity and, in particular, moving towards a whole 
system approach to improving levels of physical activity.

I would like to thank Liz Orton from the Public Health Department for her help in compiling the report 
and Kajal Lad from the Strategic Business Intelligence Team for her tremendous work in constructing 
the infographics and narrative that underpin it.

2  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

Contents
1. Foreword 2

2. Introduction  3

3. Recommendations and summary  4

4. Why is physical inactivity a problem? 5

5. Leicestershire’s Physical Activity Profile 6

6. What are the benefits of leading an  
active lifestyle? 7

7. Current physical activity recommendations  8

8. How do we create a system that enables  
people to be more physically active? 9

9. Active communities, cultural  
and social norms 10

10. Active environment 12

11. Active travel 14

12. Active early years and schools 17

13. Active people and families 21

14. Active workplaces and workforces 24

15. Physical activity as medicine 26

16. Feedback on recommendations for 2018 28

17. References 31

170



2. Introduction 
Directors of Public Health have a statutory duty to write an Annual Public Health 
Report that describes the state of health within their communities.

It is a major opportunity for advocacy on behalf of the population and, as such, can be used to help talk 
to the community and support fellow professionals, providing added value over and above intelligence and 
information routinely available such as that contained within health profi les or the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA).

It is intended to inform local strategies, policy and practice across a range of organisations and interests and 
to highlight opportunities to improve the health and wellbeing of people in Leicestershire. The annual report 
is an important vehicle by which Directors of Public Health can identify key issues, fl ag up problems, report 
progress and thereby serve their local populations. It is also a key resource to inform stakeholders about 
priorities and recommend actions to improve and protect the health of the communities they serve.

Within this report, data is presented around a whole system approach to physical activity in Leicestershire. 
The content should be used by commissioners and providers of services to respond to changes in the health 
of Leicestershire residents.

3  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

171



Active environment

Active travel

Active early years and schools

Active people and families

Active workplaces and workforces

Active communities

Physical activity as medicine

Although all seven need to be considered together by policy makers and stakeholders, 
the Public Health Department will prioritise three in particular.   It is vitally important 
that we build physical activity back into the environment, re-engineer physical activity 
back into our lives, to make physical activity an easier choice for travel and leisure and 
to ensure physical activity is something that all families can achieve.  The three we will 
prioritise are:

• We need to work towards a future where active design principles are embedded in 
planning policy and are central to planning decisions across Leicestershire.  This would 
be facilitated by the development of healthy planning design guidance being adopted 
by all district local authorities.  Further work is also needed to promote the use of our 
green assets for physical activity purposes.

• In future, we want to work more closely with local planning authorities to increase 
provision of active travel and high-quality walking and cycling infrastructure in new 
developments. Newly built areas should ideally prioritise cycling and walking as 
the preferred means of transport and the adoption of 20 mph limits/zones where 
appropriate.

• We need to prioritise those programmes aimed at families.  For example, Leicestershire 
County Council, working in partnership with the Home Start Charities, District 
Councils and Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport (LRS) have been successful in 
securing funding from Sport England to help low income families become more active 
together.  The programme works directly with families to assess their physical activity 
needs, and co-produce bespoke activity plans with achievable, time related goals.  
Families receive weekly visits from volunteers who review their physical activity plans 
and help with difficulties they’ve faced, if necessary, attending activity sessions with 
families to boost their confidence and help them develop manageable routines.  The 
programme ensures that there are free and low-cost family friendly physical activities 
in the community using outdoor gyms, parks and other green spaces.  We need to 
learn from this programme to help identify and better target opportunities to promote 
affordable and flexible physical activity through culture and leisure services.

3. Recommendations and summary 

Policy makers and public sector organisations should adopt the seven components set out here as the 
basis of thinking about their approach to improving physical activity levels. In doing so the ‘magnificent 
seven’ should be underpinned by strong systems leadership, active policy and partnerships and 
research. The seven components are:

4  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

172



4. Why is physical inactivity a 
problem?
Around half of women and a third of men in England are damaging 
their health through a lack of physical activity and are not gaining 
the social, physical and mental health benefits of being active1. This 
is unsustainable and costing the UK an estimated £7.4bn a year2,3. 
If current trends continue, the increasing costs of health and social 
care will destabilise public services and take a toll on quality of life for 
individuals and communities.

Physical inactivity directly contributes to one in six deaths in the UK4, the same number 
as smoking5.  Around a quarter of us are still classified as inactive, failing to achieve a 
minimum of 30 minutes of activity a week.  Changes in social, cultural and economic 
trends have contributed to people participating in less physical activity, such as, fewer 
manual jobs, technology at home and work which encourages sedentary behaviours 
and over-reliance on cars and other motorised transport6.

The extent of the problem

Source: Public Health England, Everybody active, every day (2014)

Everybody active, every day

5

64% of trips are made by car 22% are made on foot
2% are made by bike

19% of men and 
26% of women are 

'physically 
inactive'

33% of men are not 
active enough for 

good health

21% of boys and 16%  
of girls aged 5-15 achieve 

recommended levels  
of physical activity

47% of boys and 49%  
of girls in the lowest 
economic group are 

'inactive' compared to  
26% and 35% in the highest

Walking trips 
decreased by 30% 

between 1995  
and 2013

45% of women are 
not active enough for 

good health

23% of girls  
aged 5-7 meet the 

recommended levels 
of daily physical 
activity, by ages 
13-15 only 8% do

 18% of disabled 
adults regularly take 

part in sport 
compared to 39% 
of non-disabled 

adults

The extent of the problem

Data sources: Health Survey for England 2012 (HSE); Active People Survey 8, April 2013-April 2014 (APS); National Travel Survey 2013 (NTS) 

We want to engage with professionals, providers and commissioners 
in health, social care, transportation, planning, education, sport and 
leisure, the voluntary, community and cultural sectors as well as public 
and private employers to make the case for more – much more – physical 
activity, every day.

5  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

173



5. Leicestershire’s Physical Activity Profile
Group Indicator Name Time Period Value

Key 
Indicators

Percentage of physically active adults 2017/18 64.3%

Percentage of physically inactive adults 2017/18 23.3%

Percentage of adults walking for travel at least three days per week 2016/17 16.9%

Percentage of adults cycling for travel at least three days per week 2016/17 2.6%

Percentage physically active for at least one hour per day seven days a week at age 15 2014/15 14.9%

Percentage with a mean daily active sedentary time in the last week over 7 hours per day at age 15 2014/15 68.8%

Percentage of adults who do any walking, at least 5 times per week 2014/15 51.2%

Percentage of adults who do any walking, at least once per week 2014/15 82.1%

Percentage of adults who do any cycling, at least three times per week 2014/15 4.4%

Percentage of adults who do any cycling, at least once per month 2014/15 15.6%

Access to woodland 2015 6.9%

Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons Mar 2015-Feb 2016 20.8%

Related 
conditions

Percentage of adults (aged 18+) classified as overweight or obese 2017/18 60.6%

Reception: Prevalence of overweight (including obesity) 2016/17 20.3%

Year 6: Prevalence of overweight (including obesity) 2016/17 29.6%

Estimated diabetes diagnosis rate 2018 79.4%

Under 75 Mortality rate from colorectal cancer 2015-17 11.6 per 100,000

Under 75 Mortality rate from breast cancer 2015-17 18.9 per 100,000

Hypertension: QOF (Quality Outcomes Framework) prevalence (all ages) 2017/18 15.0%

Coronary Heart Disease (CHD): QOF (Quality Outcomes Framework) prevalence (all ages) 2017/18 3.0%

Stroke: QOF (Quality Outcomes Framework) prevalence (all ages) 2017/18 1.8%

Depression: Recorded prevalence (aged 18+) 2017/18 11.5%

The percentage of physically active adults 
is SIGNIFICANTLY WORSE than the 
national average.

The percentage of physically inactive: 
adults is SIMILAR to the national average.

The percentage of adults walking 
for travel at least 3 days per week is 
SIGNIFICANTLY WORSE than the 
national average.

The percentage of adults cycling for travel 
at least 3 days per week is SIMILAR to 
the national average.

The percentage of people utilising outdoor 
space for exercise/health reasons is 
SIMILAR to the national average 

Excess weight in adults is SIMILAR to the 
national average

Excess weight in children aged 4-5 and 
10-11 is SIGNIFICANTLY BETTER than 
the national average.

Under 75 mortality rate from colorectal 
cancer is SIMILAR to the national 
average.

Under 75 mortality rate from breast 
cancer is SIMILAR to the national 
average.

Source: Public Health Physical Activity Profile, Public Health England 
Produced by Srategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2019.

 Significantly better than England   Similar to England   Significantly worse than England   Not compared   Higher than England   Lower than England

6  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

174



6. What are the benefi ts of leading an active lifestyle?
There are many benefi ts to leading an active lifestyle across the life course. From birth right through to later years there 
are physical and mental health benefi ts from regularly incorporating physical activity into daily life. 

Ta ble 1: Overview of the benefi ts physical activity can bring at different life stages

Babies and children 
(birth – 5 years)

Children and young people 
(5 – 18 years)

Physical activity benefi ts for adults 
and older adults (18 years +)

■ Builds relationships & social skills.
■ Maintains healthy weight.
■ Contributes to brain development & 

learning.
■ Improves sleep.
■ Develops muscles & bones.
■ Encourages movement & co-ordination.

■ Builds confi dence & social skills.
■ Develops co-ordination.
■ Improves concentration & learning.
■ Strengthens muscles & bones.
■ Improves health & fi tness.
■ Maintains healthy weight.
■ Improves sleep.
■ Makes you feel good.

■ Benefi ts health by reducing your chance of:
- Type II diabetes by 40%.
- Cardiovascular disease by 35%.
- Falls, depression and dementia by 30%.
- Joint and back pain by 25%.
- Cancers (colon and breast) by 20%.

■ Improves sleep.
■ Maintains healthy weight.
■ Manages stress.
■ Improves quality of life.

Source: Department of Health and Social Care (2016)7  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

175



7. Current physical activity recommendations 
The Chief Medical Officers (CMO) have set out the amount and type of physical activity we should all aim to do at each stage of our 
lives. These guidelines draw on global evidence for the health benefits that can be achieved by taking part in regular physical activity. 

Age group CMOs physical activity guidelines

Early years 
(0-5 years)

Infants (less than 1 year): Infants should be physically active several times every day in a variety of ways, including interactive 
floor-based activity, e.g. crawling.
 
For infants not yet mobile, this includes at least 30 minutes of tummy time spread throughout the day while awake (and other 
movements such as reaching and grasping, pushing and pulling themselves independently, or rolling over); more is better.

NB: Tummy time may be unfamiliar to babies at first, but can be increased gradually, starting from a minute or two at a time, as 
the baby becomes used to it. Babies should not sleep on their tummies.

Toddlers (1-2 years): Toddlers should spend at least 180 minutes (3 hours) per day in a variety of physical activities at any 
intensity, including active and outdoor play, spread throughout the day, more is better.

Pre-schoolers (3-4 years): Pre-schoolers should spend at least 180 minutes (3 hours) per day in a variety of physical activities 
spread throughout the day, including active and outdoor play. More is better; the 180 minutes should include at least 60 minutes 
of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity.

Children 
and young 
people (5-
18 years) 

Children and young people should engage in moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity for an average of at least 60 minutes 
per day across the week. This can include all forms of activity such as physical education, active travel, after-school activities, play 
and sports.

Children and young people should engage in a variety of types and intensities of physical activity across the week to develop 
movement skills, muscular fitness, and bone strength.

Children and young people should aim to minimise the amount of time spent being sedentary, and when physically possible 
should break up long periods of not moving with at least light physical activity.

Adults  
(19-64 
years)

For good physical and mental health, adults should aim to be physically active every day. Any activity is better than none, and 
more is better still.

Adults should do activities to develop or maintain strength in the major muscle groups. These could include heavy gardening, 
carrying heavy shopping, or resistance exercise. Muscle strengthening activities should be done on at least two days a week, but 
any strengthening activity is better than none.

Each week, adults should accumulate at least 150 minutes (2 1/2 hours) of moderate intensity activity (such as brisk walking or 
cycling); or 75 minutes of vigorous intensity activity (such as running); or even shorter durations of very vigorous intensity activity 
(such as sprinting or stair climbing); or a combination of moderate, vigorous and very vigorous intensity activity.

Adults should aim to minimise the amount of time spent being sedentary, and when physically possible should break up long 
periods of inactivity with at least light physical activity.

Source: Department of Health and Social Care, UK Chief Medical Officers Physical Activity Guidelines (2019)  
*Moderate intensity physical activity leads to faster breathing, increased heart rate and feeling warmer, whereas vigorous intensity 
physical activity leads to very hard breathing, shortness of breath and a rapid heart rate.

8  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

Physical activity for adults 
and older adults

BUILD STRENGTH

IMPROVE BALANCE

MINIMISE
SEDENTARY TIME

to keep muscles, bones and joints strong!

to reduce the chance of fraility and falls!

GYM

DANCE

TAI CHI

BOWLS

CARRY 
BAGS

YOGA

A WEEK
2 DAYS

176



8. How do we create a system that enables 
people to be more physically active?

Physical inactivity and excess weight are driven by complex environmental, societal and individual 
factors. A growing body of evidence suggests that a ‘whole system approach’ is the most effective 
way to address these multiple factors and is the subject of current research by Public Health 
England (PHE) and Leeds Beckett University. From this research, PHE have recently produced a 
guide for Local Authorities to develop their own whole system strategy.

This approach accepts that there is no one solution to tackle such an ingrained problem 
and that local action to promote healthy weight across the life course requires a 
coordinated collaborative approach across many different organisations to align priorities 
and work more closely together. 

The figure below shows seven components forming Leicestershire’s whole system 
approach to increase physical activity, where the central focus is the community.  These 
are underpinned by strong systems leadership, active policy and partnerships and 
research.

For physical activity levels to rise, I am calling for organisations and policy makers to adopt 
these seven principles as the cornerstone of their approach.  Addressing the environment, 
active travel, getting people and families active, focusing on early years and physical 
activity within schools, communities and the workplace we can help make being active a 
reality.  The role of physical activity as medicine within healthcare is also vitally important.  
In this report we look at data for each of the seven principles, current work and where 
things need to go next.

Many issues cut across all domains and may be the responsibility of multiple agencies. 
Leicestershire has been an early adopter of the whole system approach. This report looks 
at each domain and provides an overview of the range of local issues and programmes 
which reflect the ‘whole system’ actions being used to achieve meaningful changes in the 
population’s physical activity levels.   

Active
communities,
culture and
social norms

Active
environment

Active
travel

Active early
years and
schools

Active 
people and 

families

Active 
workplaces and

workforces

Physical
activity as
medicineSy

st
em

s l
ea

de
rsh

ip, activity policy, partnerships and research

9  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

177



White
British

Physical Inactivity in adults aged 16+ by ethnicity, 2017/18

Leicestershire

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

White
Other

South
Asian

Black Chinese Mixed Other
Ethnic
Origin

England

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

Limiting illness
or disability

No limiting
illness or
disability

1 impairment 2 impairments 3+ impairments

Physical Inactivity in adults aged 16+ by disability, 2017/18

Leicestershire

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

England

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

9. Active communities, cultural  
and social norms

Current situation

Active communities sit at the heart of a systems approach to physical activity and our 
approaches need to be sensitive to cultural and social norms within those communities.  
There are many cultural and social barriers which inhibit some BAME (Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic) communities from participating in physical activity, it is therefore 
important we recognise these and plan services which address these barriers wherever 
possible.

Key facts on inequalities 

• Ethnicity - In Leicestershire, variation exists in the levels of inactivity across different 
ethnic groups.  Those from a White Other ethnic group reported having the highest 
prevalence of inactivity (41.5%), followed by the South Asian group (32.3%). There is a 
large difference between the Leicestershire average for the White Other group and the 
national average (23.2%).

• Disability – Both, locally and nationally, a higher proportion of those with a limiting 
illness or disability reported inactivity compared to those with no limiting illness or 
disability.

Note: The data presented has not been tested for statistical significance; therefore, caution needs to be applied when 
interpreting the results. 

Source: Sport England – Active Lives Adult Survey, 2018

• Occupation – Nationally, those in in managerial and professional occupations are more 
likely to meet physical activity guidelines (72%) than those in routine/semi-routine 
occupations and never worked and long-term unemployed (54%)7.

• Sexual Orientation - a lower proportion of those identifying as gay or lesbian (18.6%) 
or bisexual (17.8%) classified as being inactive compared to those identifying as 
heterosexual or straight (22.2%), or other (29.5%)8.

10  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

178



Key barriers:

• BAME (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic) individuals are influenced by four main barriers, perceptions, cultural 
expectations, personal barriers, and factors limiting access to facilities. 

• There is evidence that individuals from the LGBT+ community can be deterred by the use of homophobic and transphobic 
language within sport settings and the acceptance of this language as ‘banter’9. 

What are we doing?

A conscious effort is being made to make local services as inclusive as possible and where funding and capacity 
allows, provide tailored sessions for groups with particular needs. An example is DHAL, a weight loss and 
exercise programme designed for South Asian men and women in Loughborough, which provides tailored and 
culturally appropriate dietary advice and physical activities sessions.

Where do we need to get to?

We need to reduce inequalities in physical activity levels, particularly in the groups described.  To do this we 
need to undertake more comprehensive monitoring and evaluation of physical activity programmes and improve 
the engagement and participation of under-represented groups.  More research and community engagement is 
needed to understand how to break down social and cultural barriers to participation and local programmes need 
to be able to operationalise this intelligence in order to achieve more equitable reach.

11  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

179



10. Active environment
Current situation

Access to open and green space – parks, gardens, tree-lined streets, communal squares and allotments is important for 
quality of life and for the sustainability of towns and cities. People who have close access to green space live longer than 
those without it. Having the open space to exercise also alleviates stress and depression and has been shown to aid mental 
health10,11. 
  
Access to green space such as woodland, supports wellbeing and allows people to engage in physical activity. Both 
the presence of a woodland and the number of people who can readily access the space represents a significant asset 
to that community. Woodlands provide spaces for community activities, social connectedness, volunteering as well as 
employment12. 

Standards of Green Space Index Score in Leicestershire

 

12  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

in Leicestershire

Access Nationally

Green Space Index (GSI)
The green space index map shows publicly 
accessible local park and green space provision 
in areas of Leicestershire.  A GSI score above 
one indicates sufficiency in quantity of provision 
across different typologies of park and green 
space. Across Leicestershire, there is variation 
in the provision of park and green space. The 
map also shows a cluster of areas in the east of 
Leicestershire which show a greater than minimum 
level of provision of parks and green spaces. 

Access to Woodland

Utilisation of outdoor space 
for exercise/health
In Leicestershire, there has been an increase from 
2012/13 to 2014/15 in the proportion of residents 
utilising outdoor space for exercise/health reasons. 
In 2015/16 the percentage is similar to the national 
rate of 17.7%.   

Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons in Leicestershire

0%
2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

● Significantly better than England ● Similar to England

6.9% of the population in Leicestershire has access to 
woodland of at least 2 hectares within 500 meters of 
where they live compared to 16.8% nationally.

16.8%

6.9%

180



What are we doing?

There is now more joined up planning and delivery of programmes to increase the availability and use of green 
space which span many different organisations including local authorities, Sport England, Town and Country 
Planning Association and Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport (LRS).  This is leading to practical ‘on the ground’ 
improvements which increase and encourage physical activity. Examples include work by senior officers 
to embed the principles of building ‘Active environments’ into the many new housing developments across 
Leicestershire. This is helping to increase newly built areas with additional pathways and cycle paths, which 
encourage walking and cycling to be the preferred method of transport; speed restrictions to make it safer for 
pedestrians, better public transport links to reduce dependence on the car and more green areas, including 
allotments, sport and recreational areas.

Where do we need to get to?

We need to work towards a future where active design principles are embedded in planning policy and are 
central to planning decisions across Leicestershire.  This would be facilitated by the development of healthy 
planning design guidance being adopted by all district local authorities.  Further work is also needed to promote 
the use of our green assets for physical activity purposes.

13  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

181



11. Active travel

Current situation

Choosing to walk or cycle instead of using a car or public transport is a way of incorporating physical activity 
routinely into daily lives. Modern dependence on the car, even for short journeys, has significantly reduced the 
population’s activity levels – and is something we see dramatically in the reduction of school children walking or 
cycling to school every day.

Parents report that a shortage of time, or confidence that the environment is safe for children to travel 
independently, are reasons for opting to use the car to take children to school. 

Similar difficulties apply to adults getting to work, often in locations that are hard to reach by public transport or 
far enough away that they feel they need to commute by car. 

Percentage of adults (aged 16+) walking for  
travel at least three days per week

 

AREA 2015/16 2016/17

Blaby 15.3% 15.9%

Charnwood 18.9% 17.1%

Harborough 16.6% 19.2%

Hinckley and Bosworth 13.2% 13.6%

Melton 14.1% 19.2%

North West Leicestershire 12.8% 14.8%

Oadby and Wigston 20.8% 22.6%

Leicestershire 16.1% 16.9%

England 22.7% 22.9%

Source: Public Health England (2019), Physical Activity Profile

Percentage of adults (aged 16+) cycling for  
travel at least three days per week

 

AREA 2015/16 2016/17

Blaby 1.2% 2.7%

Charnwood 4.2% 3.6%

Harborough 1.8% 3.2%

Hinckley and Bosworth 2.8% 2.0%

Melton 1.2% 0.8%

North West Leicestershire 1.9% 2.0%

Oadby and Wigston 2.4% 2.3%

Leicestershire 2.5% 2.6%

England 3.3% 3.3%

Source: Public Health England (2019), Physical Activity Profile

14  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

Walking
Leicestershire has a significantly lower proportion 
of adults walking for travel at least three days per 
week in comparison to England.  This varied by 
district with four of Leicestershire’s districts (Blaby, 
Charnwood, Hinckley and Bosworth and North 
West Leicestershire) performing significantly worse 
than the national average.  Oadby and Wigston has 
the highest proportion of adults walking for travel at 
least three days per week in 2016/17.

Cycling
Leicestershire has a similar proportion of adults 
cycling for travel at least three days per week 
in comparison to England.  In 2016/17, Melton 
was the only district that has a significantly lower 
proportion of adults cycling for travel at least three 
days per week in comparison to England, all other 
districts have a similar proportion to England. 
Charnwood has the highest proportion of adults 
cycling for travel at least three days per week in 
2016/17.

Statistical significance compared to England  Lower (worse)  Similar

182



15  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

More WALKING and CYCLING also has the 
potential to achieve related policy objectives:

carbon dioxide emissions
AND CONGESTION

and promotes VIBRANT

SUPPORTS LOCAL

CAR TRAVEL

ROAD DANGER & NOISE

AIR POLLUTION

PROVIDES
APPEALING PUBLIC REALM

BUSINESSES

REDUCES

REDUCES

INCREASES

& PROVIDES
an opportunity for everyone, including 
people with impairments, to experience 
and enjoy the outdoor environment.

A HIGH-QUALITY
TOWN CENTRES

the number of people of all ages out on the 
streets, making public spaces seem more 
welcoming and providing opportunities for 
social interaction and children’s play

183



What are we doing?

With a key focus on school children, schools are encouraged through Leicestershire County Council’s ‘Choose 
How you Move’ team to adopt a ‘Whole School Approach’ to promoting Active Travel, including developing 
a School Travel Plan and through participating in ‘Mode-Shift Star’.  A new Active Travel Schools Officer has 
increased the number of children walking or cycling to school by establishing Park and Stride sites and a no-
waiting clear zone at two schools experiencing problems with school-gate congestion and safety problems. 
Educational campaigns, competitions and incentives have been introduced to increase levels of active travel by 
pupils. 

There is also lots of workplace activity to reduce car-based commuting. Support and grants up to £5,000 are 
available to small businesses to overcome barriers to active travel. Examples of grant funding last year included a 
bike repair station, showers and bike parking, EV charging points, and walking clothing.

Leicestershire County Council has a pool of four electric bikes for staff use on duty, which are popular for 
meetings and site visits.  They also have a fleet of ten electric bikes that are given to businesses for a six-week 
period for their staff to use for commuting and leisure.  Bikes, locks, coats, panniers and training, along with 
personalised route support are provided and so far, over 35% of users have continued to commute by bike or 
electric bike once the pilot scheme ended. 

Where do we need to get to?

In future, we want to work more closely with local planning authorities to increase provision of 
active travel and high-quality walking infrastructure in new developments. Newly built areas 
should ideally prioritise cycling and walking as the preferred means of transport and the adoption 
of 20 mph limits/zones created where appropriate. 

20

16  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

184



12. Active early years and schools
Current situation

Children and young people’s participation in physical activity is important for their healthy growth and development. It can reduce the risk of chronic conditions (for example, obesity) 
and improve their general health and wellbeing. The best way to encourage children and young people to be physically active may differ according to their age, developmental stage, 
culture and gender. For example, improving their physical skills and general ability to participate may make physical activity more enjoyable. It may also help increase their activity levels 
throughout childhood and into adulthood13.

Physical Activity Levels in children and young people aged 5-16 in Leicestershire – 2017/18

Nationally, 17.5% of children aged 5 to 16 were active. In Leicestershire, 18.1% of children were 
active, this is similar to the national average. Oadby and Wigston had the highest percentage of 
children who met the recommendation (26.2%) and was the only district with a signifi cantly higher 
proportion of children meeting the recommendation compared to the national average. All other 
districts had similar proportions to the national average, with North West Leicestershire (15.1%) having 
the lowest proportion.

Nationally, just under one third (32.9%) of children aged 5 to 16 were ‘less active’ (did less than 30 
minutes of physical activity a day). In Leicestershire, 30.8% of children were ‘less active’, this is similar 
to the national average.  Melton (38.5%) had the highest proportion of ‘less active’ children and Blaby 
(27.0%) had the lowest proportion. All districts have a similar prevalence of less active children aged 5 to 
16 compared the national average. 

Source: Sport England – Active Lives Children and Young People Survey (2018) Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2019

Physical Activity - Active (60+ minutes of activity, every day of the week) Physical Activity – Less Active (less than an average of 30 minutes a day)

17  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

Area

Oadby and Wigston

Hinckley and Bosworth

Charnwood

Blaby

Leicestershire

Harborough

England

Melton

North West Leicestershire 15.1%

15.4%

18.0%

18.1%

18.2%

18.8%

20.4%

26.2%

17.5%

1

Active for 150 minutes or more, a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Higher/Better
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

Area

Blaby

Harborough

Oadby and Wigston

Hinckley and Bosworth

Leicestershire

North West Leicestershire

Charnwood

England

Melton 38.5%

32.0%

31.0%

30.8%

29.7%

29.1%

27.3%

27.0%

32.9%

.

Active for less than 30 minutes a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

185



Nationally, 27.7% of children in school years 1 to 11 were active in school. In Leicestershire, 29.4% of 
children in school years 1 to 11 were active in school, this is similar to the national average. Charnwood 
(41.1%) and Hinckley and Bosworth (40.7%) had a signifi cantly higher proportion of children who were 
active in school compared to the national average, whilst North West Leicestershire (22.5%) had a 
signifi cantly lower proportion of children that were active in school.  

Source: Sport England – Active Lives Children and Young People Survey (2018)

Nationally, 60.5% of children in school years 1 to 11 were less active in school. In Leicestershire, 
58% of children in school years 1 to 11 were less active in school, this is similar to the national 
average. Charnwood (50.2%), Oadby and Wigston (50.4%) and Hinckley and Bosworth (50.9%) had a 
signifi cantly lower (better) proportion of children who were less active in school compared to the national 
average.

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2019

Physical Activity Levels at school* for children in school years 1 to 11 in Leicestershire – 2017/18

Physical Activity - Active (30+ minutes of activity, every day) Physical Activity – Less Active (less than an average of 30 minutes of activity a day)

Area

Charnwood

Hinckley and Bosworth

Oadby and Wigston

Leicestershire

Harborough

England

Melton

Blaby

North West Leicestershire

23.9%

24.2%

28.1%

29.4%

31.7%

22.5%

40.7%

41.1%

27.7%

4

%

Active for 150 minutes or more, a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Higher/Better
Lower/Worse
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

Area

Charnwood

Oadby and Wigston

Hinckley and Bosworth

Leicestershire

Harborough

England

North West Leicestershire

Blaby

Melton 65.2%

62.6%

62.1%

58.3%

58.0%

50.9%

50.4%

50.2%

60.5%

0

%

Active for less than 30 minutes a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Lower/Better
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

* ‘At school’ refers to activity done while at school, during normal school hours. It includes activities in PE lessons and break times but excludes activities at before and after school clubs, even if these take place at school.

18  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

186



** ‘outside school’ refers to activity done outside of school hours. It includes anything done before getting to school and after leaving school (including travel to/from), as well as activity done at the 
weekend, on holiday days and before and after school clubs, even if these took place at school.

Nationally, 21.5% of children in school years 1 to 11 were active outside of school. In Leicestershire, 
22% of children in school years 1 to 11 were active outside of school, this is similar to the national 
average . Oadby and Wigston (29.6%) was the only district to have a signifi cantly higher percentage of 
children being active outside of school compared to the national average.

Source: Sport England – Active Lives Children and Young People Survey (2017/18)

Nationally, 47.4% of children in school years 1 to 11 were less active outside of school. In Leicestershire, 
45.5% of children in school years 1 to 11 were less active outside of school, this is similar to the national 
average. Harborough (36.1%) was the only district to have a signifi cantly lower (better) percentage of 
children being less active outside of school compared to the national average.

Source: Sport England - Active Lives Children and Young People Survey (2017/18)
Produced by Srategic Business Intelligence Team, Leicestershire County Council, 2019.

Physical Activity Levels outside** school for children in school years 1 to 11 in Leicestershire – 2017/18

Physical Activity - Active (30+ minutes of activity, every day) Physical Activity – Less Active (less than an average of 30 minutes of activity a day)

Area

Oadby and Wigston

Hinckley and Bosworth

Harborough

Charnwood

Blaby

Leicestershire

England

Melton

North West Leicestershire 18.7%

21.2%

22.0%

22.1%

22.1%

23.1%

23.4%

29.6%

21.5%%

Active for 150 minutes or more, a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Higher/Better
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

Area

Harborough

Oadby and Wigston

Blaby

Leicestershire

Hinckley and Bosworth

North West Leicestershire

England

Charnwood

Melton 54.4%

47.8%

47.1%

46.1%

45.5%

42.5%

37.7%

36.1%

47.4%

5

4

Active for less than 30 minutes a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Lower/Better
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

19  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

187



What are we doing?

In September 2020 all schools will have to deliver statutory Health Education (including teaching about healthy eating and physical 
activity) following the DfE statutory Guidance issued in June 2019. 

In Leicestershire, a broad range of programmes are already offered to keep pre-school and primary school children as active as possible. 
Public Health’s Healthy Tots (www.leicestershirehealthytots.org.uk) and Healthy Schools  
(www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk) programmes provide comprehensive resources and training for schools and early years 
settings to help deliver ‘purposeful play’ and high quality PE lessons.

Public Health have also developed, in collaboration with LRS and the Seven School Sports and Physical Activity Network (SSPAN), a 
‘Whole School Approach to Physical Activity’ (WSAPA), which is available for all schools through SSPAN, it includes a focus on:

• Increasing schools’ engagement in active travel initiatives

• Delivering Fundamental movement skills programmes

• Developing new inactivity programmes

• Introducing the “Daily boost” (daily mile) programme into Primary schools

Where do we need to get to?

There remain gaps in the provision of comprehensive physical activity programmes across the 0-16 age group. In 
particular, evidence shows the number of pre-school children that are physically under-developed and overweight is 
increasing year on year, and more pupils are reaching reception year, not physically and emotionally ‘school ready’.

This can be best addressed through additional work in pre-school settings and with parents generally, to promote 
‘active play’ and by encouraging the uptake of the Whole School Approach to Physical Activity’ (WSAPA) programme 
across all Leicestershire Schools.

The WSAPA approach encourages schools to plan and deliver physical 
activity interventions in each of the following seven themes (or principles):

• develop and deliver multi-component interventions

• ensure skilled workforce

• engage student voice

• create active environments

• offer choice and variety 

• embed in curriculum, teaching and learning

• embed monitoring and evaluation 

20  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

188



13. Active people and families

Current situation
Physical inactivity is the 4th leading risk factor for global mortality accounting for 6% of deaths globally. People who have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% 
lower risk of cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke compared to those who have a sedentary lifestyle.  Regular physical activity is also associated with 
a reduced risk of diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis and colon/breast cancer and with improved mental health.  In older adults physical activity is associated with increased 
functional capacities. The estimated direct cost of physical inactivity to the NHS across the UK is over £0.9 billion per year15.

Nationally, 63.2% of adults aged 16 and over were active. In Leicestershire, 63% of adults aged 16 and 
over were active, this is similar to the national average. All districts had a statistically similar prevalence 
of active adults aged 16 and over in comparison to England. Out of all the districts, Melton (66.4%) had 
the highest proportion of active adults aged 16 and over and Oadby and Wigston (59.2%) had the lowest 
proportion of active adults.

Nationally, 24.8% of adults aged 16 and over were less active. In Leicestershire, 23.9% of adults aged 
16 and over were less active, this is similar to the national average. All districts have a similar prevalence 
of less active adults aged 16 and over in comparison to England. Oadby and Wigston (29.7%) had 
the highest proportion of les active adults aged 16 and over, whilst Melton (20.8%) had the lowest 
proportion.

Physical Activity - Active (150+ minutes of activity a week) Physical Activity – less active (less than 30 minutes of activity a week)

Physical Activity Levels in adults aged 16+ in Leicestershire – November 2018/19

Area

Melton

Harborough

Blaby

England

Charnwood

Leicestershire

North West Leicestershire

Hinckley and Bosworth

Oadby and Wigston 59.2%

61.5%

61.6%

63.0%

63.1%

64.5%

64.7%

66.4%

63.2%

6

6

6

0

6

1

Active for 150 minutes or more, a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

21  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

Area

Melton

Blaby

Harborough

Charnwood

Leicestershire

England

Hinckley and Bosworth

North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston 29.7%

25.1%

25.0%

23.9%

22.9%

22.7%

22.4%

20.8%

24.8%

3

Active for less than 30 minutes a week

Statistical Significance compared to England
Benchmark
Similar

Grey indicates 95% confidence intervals

189



Less Active Levels in adults aged 16+ in Leicestershire by age group – May 2018/19

Source: Sport England – Active Lives Adult Survey (2019)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

19.
9%

17.9
%

22
.8%

21.
3%

26
.5%

27.
5%

53
.9%

51.
7%

Age 16-34

Leicestershire

Age 35-54 Age 55-74 Age 75+

Age 16-34 Age 35-54 Age 55-74 Age 75+

England

Leicestershire England

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%
18.
6%

18.
2%

16.
4%

21.
1%

26
.7%

26
.9%

46
.0%

49
.5%

Less active Adults by age

22  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

A607

A47

A50

A6

A6

21.7% MALES LESS ACTIVE 
IN LEICESTERSHIRE

23.9%
ADULTS

25.6% FEMALES LESS ACTIVE 
IN LEICESTERSHIRE

ACROSS LEICESTERSHIRE A
HIGHER PROPORTION

WERE LESS ACTIVE
COMPARED WITH

OF FEMALES

MALES 

Nationally the percentage of less active adults increases 
as age increases, in Leicestershire, the percentage of less 
active adults increases from age 35 and over.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY – LESS ACTIVE 
(less than 30 minutes of activity a week) by age

AGED 16+

ARE LESS
ACTIVE

IN LEICESTERSHIRE 190



What are we doing?
Leicestershire’s district and borough councils all provide a comprehensive programme of events and 
campaigns throughout the year to increase physical activity, aimed at all ages and abilities and at 
addressing barriers to participation.  This is partly funded by the Public Health Department.   

Programmes include those aimed at families.  For example, Leicestershire County Council, working in 
partnership with the Home Start Charities, district / borough councils and LRS have been successful 
in securing funding from Sport England to help low income families become more active together.  The 
programme works directly with families to assess their physical activity needs, and co-produce bespoke 
activity plans with achievable, time related goals.  Families receive weekly visits from volunteers who 
review their physical activity plans and help with difficulties they’ve faced, if necessary, attending 
activity sessions with families to boost their confidence and help them develop manageable routines.  
The programme ensures that there are free and low-cost family physical activities in the community 
using outdoor gyms, parks and other green spaces.

Where do we need to get to?
Lessons learnt from the above programme will help Identify and better target 
opportunities to promote affordable and flexible physical activity through culture  
and leisure services.

23  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

191



14. Active workplaces and workforces
Current situation
Life has become increasingly sedentary, with many people being employed in sedentary occupations. Being physically inactive at work has increased in recent decades. 
Long periods of sitting may increase the risk of obesity, heart disease, and premature death16. Estimates show a 5% increase in the risk of obesity and 7% increase in the 
risk of diabetes associated with every two-hour per day increase in sitting time at work17. It has also been estimated that those who sit for eight to 11 hours per day are at a 
15% increased risk of death in the next three years than those who sit for less than four hours per day, whilst the risk increases to 40% for those who sit for more than 11 
hours per day18.  

24  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

30.8 MILLION
Due to MUSCULOSKELETAL 
CONDITIONS in England in 2016

WORKING DAYS LOST WORKING DAYS LOST
15.8 MILLION
Due to MENTAL HEALTH 
ISSUES in England in 2016

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY
PROGRAMMES AT WORK

20%
27%
FEWER
SICK DAYS

REDUCE
ABSENTEEISM

by up to

taken by physically 
active workers

192



What are we doing?
Leicestershire County Council’s Public Health Department and six local authorities have funded 
LRS to develop a ‘Wellbeing @ Work’ package which organisations across LLR can access free of 
charge, to support the implementation of workplace health initiatives. One of the major programmes 
is the Workplace Health Needs Assessment which provides practical advice on Workplace Health 
and standardised survey questions to identify the key priority areas for businesses to support their 
staff, including healthy eating, physical activity, smoking and alcohol awareness and sleep and stress 
management.

 
Where do we need to get to?
We will work with employers to encourage a health needs assessment of their workforce and to 
introduce interventions to reduce sedentary time at work and support people as they transition into 
retirement to continue to be active.

25  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

193



A607

A47

A50

A6

A6

15. Physical activity as medicine

admitted to hospital for a FALL in 2017/18
PHE, Public Health Outcomes Framework

60.6%
LEICESTERSHIRE RESIDENTS 7,470

4,439 EMERGENCY

4,226 DEATHS

2,455 AGED 65+

6.8% DIAGNOSED

17.2% 20.2%

ARE CLASSIFIED AS
OVERWEIGHT or
OBESE (2017/18)

AGED 18+ 

Source: PHE, Public Health 
Outcomes Framework

of those also reported 

or ANXIETY
in 2016 - 2017 
DEPRESSION

with DIABETES on 
GP registers in 2017/18

from 2013/14- 17/18 were for CORONARY 
HEART DISEASE (average of 1,500 per year)

2013/14- 17/18 were for 

from 2015-17 were from
CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

OF ADULTS

Source: Quality Outcomes Framework, 2017/18

reported a long-term
MUSCULOSKELETAL

PROBLEM

EMERGENCY

ADMISSIONS FROM

ADMISSIONS

DURING 2017-18

Source: PHE, Productive Healthy Ageing Profile

Source: PHE, Local 
Health Profile

Source: PHE, Productive Healthy Ageing Profile

HEART ATTACKS
(average of nearly 900 per year)

(average of 2,100 per year)

26  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

Source: PHE, Local Health Profile

194



What are we doing?
Physical activity is often an essential part of recovery from long-term illness or surgery and can be used to slow-down 
physical deterioration from chronic conditions. However, it is essential that a health professional or trained advisor 
ensures that the chosen activity is both safe and suitable for that individual.

The Leicestershire Exercise Referral (ER) programme is a well-established programme for patients that are sedentary 
or inactive and have a medical condition or chronic illness which would be improved by increased physical activity. 
Patients are offered a 12 week, tailored physical activity programme, following an assessment by a BACPR (British 
Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation) qualified Level 3 / 4 Instructor. Level 4 Instructors 
can support patients in higher risk categories, such as cardiac and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
rehabilitation, morbid obesity, etc. In 2018-19, the programme received 4,127 referrals.

For people over 65, Leicestershire’s ‘Steady Steps’ is a community-based 24 week exercise programme that aims 
to improve strength and balance. The programme has been shown to reduce the number, cost and long-term 
complications of falls in older people (aged 65 and above).  In clinical trials, it has been shown to reduce injurious falls 
by 40% in targeted populations and pilot data from Leicestershire and Rutland shows an 18% reduction in falls. 

Where do we need to get to?
Clinical Commission Groups (CCGS) and the local authority should review opportunities to jointly commission weight 
management services, establishing a route for oversight and accountability of this. These services include tier 3 (multi-
disciplinary specialist services targeting patients at high or immediate risk as a result of obesity and obesity-related 
ill-health) specialist services and physical activity pathways for disease prevention and management (including cancer, 
cardiorespiratory, falls, obesity, back pain / musculoskeletal problems).

In addition, there are potentially many opportunities to make social prescribing of physical activities such as guided 
walking, gardening or light conservation work, viable alternatives to attending a gym or prescribing unnecessary 
medicines.

 

27  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

195



16. Feedback on recommendations for 2018

Social isolation/Loneliness
The council’s ‘tackling loneliness and social isolation’ project, alongside the government strategy for tackling loneliness, will 
provide further opportunities for the whole council to do more on loneliness.

Response
Following the successful County Council led, multi agency loneliness conference held in late 2018, the County 
Council made tackling loneliness one of its priorities.  A three year loneliness action plan has been developed 
that prioritises work with children and young people, young adults (aged 16-34), adults with a learning disability, 
dementia or who are unemployed and older people from BME groups and from the LGBT community.  Community 
Grants have invested in infrastructure such as ‘friendly benches’ to help provide a focal point for communities to 
come together and the work of public health services such as local area coordination are key in working with a wide 
variety of individuals and groups to tackle social isolation.  

Promote social prescribing in Leicestershire
I will ensure that the model for social prescribing in Leicestershire, with public health services at its heart, continues to be 
integral to the emerging integrated locality teams (ILTs).

Response
Public Health has provided support to the development of integrated locality teams, notably through the input of 
Simon Dalby, head of service for local area coordination, to the Hinkley ILT.  Through 2019, Public Health has 
worked with CCGs to ensure that social prescribing link workers in the emerging primary care networks are part of 
the Leicestershire social prescribing ‘family’. Public Health will provide a support package to those workers.  Through 
the work of the Unified Prevention Board, a sub-group of the Leicestershire Health and Well Being Board, social 
prescribing support has been provided to other initiatives such as People’s Zones, a police-led initiative.

28  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

196



Falls
We will continue to support the implementation of the falls programme, with an emphasis on evaluating the effectiveness of 
postural stability programmes.

Response
Leicestershire now has a CCG-funded postural stability instruction programme running in each of the 
district council leisure services and Public Health-funded maintenance programmes.  The programmes 
in Leicestershire have contributed performance data to a newly developed Implementation Toolkit for 
the Falls Management Exercise (FaME – PSI) programme. The toolkit was developed by researchers at 
the University of Nottingham in collaboration with Leicestershire County Council.  Further information is 
available at www.nottingham.ac.uk/research/groups/injuryresearch/projects/physical/index.aspx 

Physical activity
Working with partners in Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport (LRS) and district councils, the public health department will 
ensure that muscle strengthening activity and physical activities of older people are reflected in sport and physical activity 
plans.

Response
All district physical activity plans in 2018/19 prioritised physical activity in older adults including the 
provision of evidence-based programmes to improve muscle strength and balance.

29  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

197



Carers
Within public health, I will ensure we play our part in the implementation of the Carer’s strategy, ensuring that public health 
information services provide good advice to carers.

Response
Detailed action plans have been developed for the priorities in the carers strategy. Priority 3 concerns 
the provision of information to carers so that they can seek the best support form health and social care 
colleagues, as well as broader isusses such as welfare advice.  The First Contact Plus service, provided by 
public health, is a core part of that information and advice support.

Support the health system to treat the person, not the individual conditions
Through the specialist support provided by public health consultants to CCGs and the broader health system, public health 
can play its part in redesigning pathways to take account of frailty and multi-morbidity.

Response
A detailed chapter on multi-morbidity and frailty has been published as part of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA).  This chapter, and ongoing work through the prevention workstream of the NHS 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) and the population health management working group, are 
considering which cohorts of people  with multiple conditions would be more amenable to preventative action.  
Public Health continues to support the work of a number of groups, such as the Integrated Community Board 
(ICB) and the Primary Care Board (PCB) in providing a public health and population perspectives to redesign 
work within health.

30  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

198



17. References

1Health and Social Care Information Centre (2013) Health Survey for England 2012. Volume 1: Chapter 2 – Physical activity in adults. Leeds: Health and Social Care Information Centre.

2Scarborough P, Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe KK, Allender S, Foster C, Rayner M (2011) The economic burden of ill health due to diet, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol and obesity 
in the UK: an update to 2006–07 NHS costs. Journal of Public Health 33 (4): 527-535.

3Ossa D and Hutton J (2002) The economic burden of physical inactivity in England. London: MEDTAP International

4Lee I-M, et al. (2012) Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. The Lancet 380: 219–29

5Health & Social Care Information centre (2014) Statistics on Smoking, England - 2014. Leeds: Health and Social Care Information Centre.

6Public Health England (2014).  Everybody active, every day. Available at:  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374914/Framework_13.pdf

7Sport England (2019). Active Lives Adults Survey, November 17/18 report. Available at: www.sportengland.org/media/13898/active-lives-adult-november-17-18-report.pdf

8Sport England (2018) Active Lives Online Tool. May 2017/18. Available at: https://activelives.sportengland.org/

9Pride Sports and Sport England (2016) Sport, Physical Activity & LGBT. Available at:  
www.sportengland.org/media/11116/pride-sport-sport-physical-activity-and-lgbt-report-2016.pdf

10Van den Berg, A.E., Hartig, T. and Staats, H. (2007) ‘Preference for nature in urbanised societies: Stress, restoration and the pursuit of sustainability’, Journal of Social Issues, (63), 
79–96. Cited by: Public Health England (2014) Everybody active, every day: What works – the evidence. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366113/Evidence_layout_23_Oct.pdf

11Chiesura, A. (2004) ‘The role of urban parks for the sustainable city’, Landscape and Urban Planning, (68), 129–138.

12Ward –Thompson C., Aspinall, P., Bell, S., Findlay, C., Wherrett,J. and Travlou, P., 2004. Open Space and Social Inclusion. UK:Forestry Commission

www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/publications/2013/10/healthy-woods-healthy-lives.

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/natural-england

13National Institute for Healthcare and Excellence (2009). Physical activity for children and young people. Available at:  
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph17/chapter/2-Public-health-need-and-practice

14British Heart Foundation (2017) Physical Inactivity and Sedentary Behaviour Report. Available at:  
www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/publications/statistics/physical-inactivity-report-2017 

31  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

199



15 Department of Health, 2011. Start Active, Stay Active: A report on physical activity for health from the four home countries Available at:  
www.sportengland.org/media/2928/dh_128210.pdf

16 Shrestha  N, Kukkonen-Harjula  KT, Verbeek  JH, Ijaz  S, Hermans  V, Pedisic  Z. Workplace interventions for reducing sitting at work. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 
2018, Issue 12. Art. No.: CD010912. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010912.pub5.

17 Hu FB, Li TY, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Manson JE, (2003) Television watching and other sedentary behaviours in relation to risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in women. 
JAMA 2003;289(14):1785-91.

18 Ploeg HP, Chey T, Korda RJ, Banks E, Bauman A, (2012) Sitting time and all-cause mortality risk in 222 497 Australian adults. Archives of Internal Medicine 2012;172(6):494-500.

32  Annual Report of the Leicestershire Director of Public Health 2019

200



Air Quality and Health

Mike Sandys

Director of Public Health

201
A

genda Item
 12



202



203



• Particulate matter (10/2.5), 55% from UK sources, 38% of UK 

emissions from household solid fuel but proportions vary 

strongly depending on location.

• Nitrogen Dioxide/Nitric Oxide (NOx) – largest source 

nationally is transport, particularly diesel light duty vehicles 

(cars and vans).

• Sulphur Dioxide – 46% from power generation (coal)

• Ammonia - 80% of ammonia emissions from anaerobic 

digestion and fertilisers.

• Ozone

• Non-methane Volatile Organic Compounds (NMVOC’s)

What are the main air pollutants?

204



• Largest environmental risk to health, contributing to 

cardiovascular disease, lung cancer and respiratory diseases.

• PM2.5 has highest link to health outcomes

• Increased chance of hospital admissions, A&E, and respiratory 

and cardiovascular symptoms which interfere with everyday life.

• Long term impacts on all and immediate impacts on vulnerable 

people, with a disproportionate impact on the young and old.

Effects on health

205



206



• Every Breath We Take: the Lifelong Impact of Air 

Pollution by the Royal College of Physicians states:

– “Each year, inhaling particulates causes around 29,000 deaths in 

the UK, which, on recent evidence, may rise to around 40,000 

deaths when also considering nitrogen dioxide exposure”

• Although their main estimate is of around 29,000 

attributable deaths, the figure could actually be between 

5,000 to 60,000. 

Scale

207



Smoking 80,000

Alcohol 8,758

Obesity 30,000

Drug misuse 3000

Excess Winter Deaths 30,000

Air Quality 40,000

UK Deaths per year attributable to:

208



• Road transport (particulate matter (PM) and NO2)

• Industrial processes (PM and NO2)

• Construction/non-road mobile machinery (localised

PM and NO2)

• Aircraft (NO2 – particularly at take off)

• Farming (PM)

• Solid fuel heating (PM and NO2)

• Bonfires/Fireworks (PM)

• Small changes in distance from source can make a big 

difference to exposure

Sources of air pollution

209



210



211



• Existing powers:

• Clean Air Act 1993 gives LA’s powers to tackle local air 

pollution via Air Quality Management Areas AQMA’s)

• Environment Act 1995 puts an obligation on upper and 

lower tier authorities to work together in relation to air 

quality/AQMA’s through upper tier role as local highway 

authority (LHA).

• Council’s Environment Strategy aims to reduce pollution.

• DPH has a statutory duty to ensure plans are in place to 

protect the health of the population.

Clean Air Strategy

212



• Clean Air Strategy structured into key sections:

• Understanding the problem

• Protecting the Nation’s health

• Protecting the environment

• Securing clean growth and driving innovation

• Action to reduce emissions from transport

• Action to reduce emissions at home

• Action to reduce emissions from farming

• Action to reduce emissions from industry

• Leadership at all levels

Clean Air Strategy

213



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2019.
	8 Primary Care Strategy 2019-2034 and the development of Primary Care Networks in Leicestershire.
	LLR 2019-20  202324 Primary Care Strategy FINAL minus watermark
	PCN maps August 19 standard format
	Primary Care Networks (PCN)
	Primary Care Networks Video
	Primary care networks
	Characteristics
	Characteristics
	Characteristics
	For patients
	For practices
	Wider health and care partners
	Clinical Director
	PCN Funding
	Five new roles
	Seven priority areas
	Investment and impact fund
	PCNs in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
	Local primary care networks
	Slide Number 17
	East Leicestershire and Rutland PCNs
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Leicester City PCNs
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35
	Slide Number 36
	Slide Number 37
	Slide Number 38
	West Leicestershire PCNs
	Slide Number 40
	Slide Number 41
	Slide Number 42
	Slide Number 43
	Slide Number 44
	Slide Number 45
	Slide Number 46
	Slide Number 47
	Slide Number 48
	Slide Number 49
	Slide Number 50


	9 Healthwatch Long Term Plan Engagement Report.
	Healthwatch LLR  Long Term Plan Engagement report  FInal

	10 Hinckley Community Health Services Review.
	11 Director of Public Health Annual Report.
	T0605 DPH Annual Report 2019 Colour 11

	12 Air Quality and Health.



